THE TELESCOPE CONJECTURE AT HEIGHT 2 AND THE TMF RESOLUTION

A. BEAUDRY, M. BEHRENS, P. BHATTACHARYA, D. CULVER, AND Z. XU

ABSTRACT. Mahowald proved the height 1 telescope conjecture at the prime 2 as an application of his seminal work on bo-resolutions. In this paper we study the height 2 telescope conjecture at the prime 2 through the lens of tmf-resolutions. To this end we compute the structure of the tmf-resolution for a specific type 2 complex Z. We find that, analogous to the height 1 case, the E_1 -page of the tmf-resolution possesses a decomposition into a v_2 periodic summand, and an Eilenberg-MacLane summand which consists of bounded v_2 -torsion. However, unlike the height 1 case, the E_2 -page of the tmf-resolution exhibits unbounded v_2 -torsion. We compare this to the work of Mahowald-Ravenel-Shick, and discuss how the validity of the telescope conjecture is connected to the fate of this unbounded v_2 -torsion: either the unbounded v_2 -torsion kills itself off in the spectral sequence, and the telescope conjecture is true, or it persists to form v_2 -parabolas and the telescope conjecture is false. We also study how to use the tmf-resolution to effectively give low dimensional computations of the homotopy groups of Z. These computations allow us to prove a conjecture of the second author and Egger: the E(2)-local Adams-Novikov spectral sequence for Z collapses.

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Background	11
3.	The good/evil decomposition of the E_1 -term	15
4.	Morava stabilizer groups and algebras	20
5.	Computation of the differentials in the good complex	29
6.	The cohomology of the good complex	38
7.	The agathokakological method	49
8.	Stem by stem computations	57
9.	Discussion of the telescope conjecture for Z .	70
Appendix A. $A(2)$ as a module over the Steenrod algebra		77

This material is based upon work supported by the National Science Foundation under Grants No. DMS-1050466/1611786/2005476, DMS-1725563/1906227, and DMS-1810638.

References

ar

81

1. INTRODUCTION

The telescope conjecture. Fix a prime p and let X be a finite spectrum. The perspective of chromatic homotopy theory is to understand $X_{(p)}$ through the study of its *chromatic tower* [Rav92a, Sec. 7.5] [BB20]

$$\cdots \to X_{E(n)} \to X_{E(n-1)} \to \cdots \to X_{E(0)} = X_{\mathbb{Q}}.$$

Here, $X_{E(n)}$ denotes the Bousfield localization of X with respect to the Johnson-Wilson spectrum E(n) with

$$\pi_* E(n) = \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[v_1, \dots, v_n, v_n^{-1}]$$

where $|v_n| = 2(p^n - 1)$. The chromatic convergence theorem of Hopkins and Ravenel [HR92] states that $X_{(p)}$ is recovered as the inverse limit of the tower. Thus the E(n)-localizations interpolate between the rationalization and the *p*-localization of X. The monochromatic layers of the chromatic tower are defined to be the fibers

$$M_n X \to X_{E(n)} \to X_{E(n-1)}.$$

Applying π_* to the chromatic tower yields the *chromatic spectral sequence*

$${}^{ss}E_1^{n,*}(X) = \pi_* M_n X \Rightarrow \pi_* X.$$

The efficacy of the chromatic approach is established by Morava's change of rings theorem [Mor85], which states that the Adams-Novikov spectral sequence for $M_n X$ takes the form

$$^{iss}E_2^{s,t}(M_nX) = H_c^s(\mathbb{G}_n, (E_n)_t M_nX) \Rightarrow \pi_{t-s}M_nX,$$

where E_n is the height *n* Morava E-theory spectrum and \mathbb{G}_n is the height *n* Morava stabilizer group. For a given height *n*, ${}^{anss}E_2^{*,*}(M_nX)$ (and in fact the entire Adams-Novikov spectral sequence) is in principle completely computable.

In reality, the complexity of these computations increases significantly as a function of n, and therefore these computations have only been carried out successfully for small values of n. It is thus desirable to have a means of directly relating the homotopy groups of each of the monochromatic layers $M_n X$ to the homotopy groups of X itself, without having to resort to needing to compute the entire chromatic spectral sequence.

There is a variant of the chromatic tower which does have this property. Let $X_{E(n)}^{f}$ denote the finite E(n)-localization, obtained by killing only finite E(n)-acyclic spectra (instead of all E(n) acyclic spectra). The finite localizations also form a tower, with finite monochromatic layers defined to be the fibers

$$M_n^f X \to X_{E(n)}^f \to X_{E(n-1)}^f.$$

The advantage of this variant of the chromatic tower is that the elements of the homotopy groups of these finite monochromatic layers have a concrete relationship to the homotopy groups of X itself: elements of $\pi_* M_n X$ correspond to v_n -periodic families in $\pi_* X$ [Rav92a, Sec. 2.5].

In [Rav84], Ravenel proposed the following Panglossian conjecture.

Telescope Conjecture. For any spectrum X, prime p, and height n, the natural map

$$X_{E(n)}^f \to X_{E(n)}$$

is an equivalence.

The Hopkins-Smith thick subcategory theorem [HS98] implies that the telescope conjecture is true if and only if it is true for a single type n spectrum (a p-local finite spectrum which is E(n-1)-acyclic, but not E(n)-acyclic). In this case where X is type $n \ge 1$, the Hopkins-Smith periodicity theorem [HS98] implies there is an asymptotically unique v_n -self map, that is, an E(n)-self equivalence

$$v: \Sigma^N X \to X$$

where N > 0. The telescope of X is defined as the homotopy colimit

$$\widehat{X} := X \xrightarrow{v} \Sigma^{-N} X \xrightarrow{v} \Sigma^{-2N} X \to \dots$$

and we have

$$X_{E(n)}^{f} \simeq X$$

Thus, for any p-local spectrum X of type n, the natural map

is an equivalence if and only if the p-primary height n telescope conjecture is true.

The height 1 case. The telescope conjecture was in large part motivated by the case of height n = 1, where the conjecture was already proven by Mahowald for p = 2 [Mah81], [Mah82, Thm. 1.2], and Miller for p > 2 [Mil81]. In both of these cases, the proof is computational, in the sense that the authors compute the homotopy groups of the source and target of (1.0.1) and show that the map is an isomorphism on these homotopy groups. The methods used in each of these cases, though, are somewhat different.

In the p > 2 case of [Mil81], Miller considered the mod p Moore spectrum M(p), which is type 1, with v_1 -self map

(1.0.2)
$$v: \Sigma^{2(p-1)} M(p) \to M(p)$$

having the property that it is given by multiplication by v_1 in E(1)-homology. We will call such a self-map a v_1^1 -self map. Miller computes the localized Adams spectral sequence

$$v_1^{-1 ass} E_2^{s,t} = v_1^{-1} \operatorname{Ext}_{A_*}^{s,t}(\mathbb{F}_p, H_*M(p)) \Rightarrow \pi_{t-s} \widehat{M(p)}$$

where A_* denotes the *p*-primary dual Steenrod algebra, and H_* denotes mod *p* homology. To do this, he completely computes the E_2 -page, and then gives a delicate lifting argument which computes the d_2 Adams differentials from the d_1 Adams-Novikov differentials. He then shows the localized Adams spectral sequence collapses at E_3 to the known values of $\pi_* M(p)_{E(1)}$.

In the case of p = 2, the situation is more complicated as the mod 2 Moore spectrum only has a v_1^4 -self map

$$v_1^4: \Sigma^8 M(2) \to M(2),$$

having the property that it is given by multiplication by v_1^4 on E(1)-homology. For this reason, in [Mah82], Mahowald considers the 2-local type 1-spectrum

$$Y := M(2) \wedge C(\eta)$$

where $C(\eta)$ denotes the cofiber of the Hopf map $\eta: S^1 \to S^0$. In contrast with the case of the mod 2 Moore spectrum, the spectrum Y possesses a v_1^1 -self map:

$$v_1^1: \Sigma^2 Y \to Y.$$

Mahowald analyzed the bo-based Adams spectral sequence (aka the "bo-resolution") for Y:

$$^{\mathrm{po}}E_1^{s,t}(Y) = \pi_t \mathrm{bo}^{\wedge s+1} \wedge Y \Rightarrow \pi_{t-s}Y.$$

Here bo denotes the connective real K-theory spectrum. This spectral sequence is significantly simplified by the fact that we have an equivalence

bo
$$\wedge Y \simeq k(1)$$
.

where k(1) denotes the height 1 connective Morava K-theory spectrum. Unfortunately, the v_1 -localized bo-resolution converges to the E(1)-local homotopy groups of Y (rather than those of \hat{Y}):

$$\nu_1^{-1 \ bo} E_1^{s,t}(Y) \Rightarrow \pi_{t-s} Y_{E(1)}.$$

Nevertheless, Mahowald was able to deduce the height 1 telescope conjecture at the prime 2 by establishing the following key results:

Collapse theorem: The v_1 -localized bo-resolution for Y collapses at its E_2 -page.

Bounded torsion theorem: If $x \in {}^{\text{bo}}E_2^{*,*}$ is v_1 -torsion, then $v_1^2 x = 0$. **Vanishing line theorem:** There is a c so that ${}^{\text{bo}}E_2^{s,t}(Y) = 0$ for $s > \frac{t-s}{5} + c$.

The idea is to use these key results to prove the map

(1.0.3)
$$\pi_* Y \to \pi_* Y_{E(1)}$$

ł

is surjective and injective. The map (1.0.3) is surjective because if $y \in \pi_* Y_{E(1)}$ is detected by an element $y' \in v_1^{-1} {}^{\text{bo}} E_2^{*,*}(Y)$ in the v_1 -localized bo-resolution, then the bounded torsion theorem implies that the targets of the differentials supported by the family $v_1^{2i}y'$ in the unlocalized bo-resolution lie above a line of slope 1/4, and thus will eventually surpass the 1/5 vanishing line. Hence for $i \gg 0$, the element $v_1^{2i}y'$ detects a v_1 -periodic family mapping to that of y under (1.0.3). The map (1.0.3) is injective because the collapse theorem implies that any element $x \in \pi_* Y$ which maps to zero in $\pi_* Y_{E(1)}$ must be detected by a v_1 -torsion element of ${}^{\text{bo}} E_2^{*,*}(Y)$, and the bounded torsion theorem then implies that the family of elements $v_1^{2i}x$ are detected in the bo resolution above a line of slope 1/4, and thus will eventually surpass the 1/5 vanishing line. Hence x must be v_1 -torsion.

Attempts to disprove the telescope conjecture. Less than a decade after his 1984 paper, Ravenel's optimistic beliefs concerning the telescope conjecture took a decidedly Orwellian turn. In [Rav92b], Ravenel studied the height 2 telescope conjecture at primes $p \ge 5$ by considering the analog of Miller's argument for the

Smith-Toda complex V(1) (the cofiber of (1.0.2)). The Adams-Novikov spectral sequence

$$^{nss}E_2^{*,*}(V(1)_{E(2)}) = H_c^*(\mathbb{G}_2, (E_2)_*V(1)) \Rightarrow \pi_*V(1)_{E(2)}$$

collapses for dimensional reasons. Ravenel computed the E_2 -term of the localized Adams spectral sequence

$$v_2^{-1} {}^{ass}E_2^{*,*}(V(1)) = v_2^{-1}\operatorname{Ext}_{A_*}(\mathbb{F}_p, H_*V(1)) \Rightarrow \pi_*\widehat{V(1)},$$

and found that the Adams-Novikov differentials lifted to differentials of unbounded length in the localized Adams spectral sequence. He then observed that a power operation argument gave rise to Toda-type differentials which preceeded the lifted Adams-Novikov differentials, potentially causing $\pi_* V(1)$ to differ from $\pi_* V(1)_{E(2)}$. Although he initially thought he had a counterexample to the telescope conjecture, it eventually became clear that it was impossible to rule out the possibility that a bizarre pattern of other differentials might subsequently "fix" the havoc caused by these Toda-type differentials, allowing the telescope conjecture to hold. Mahowald, Ravenel, and Shick summarized the uncertain state of affairs in [MRS01].

Main results. The purpose of this paper is to carry out the height 2 analog of Mahowald's analysis of the height 1 telescope conjecture at the prime 2.

To this end we replace the bo-resolution of Mahowald with the tmf-based Adams spectral sequence (aka the tmf-resolution),

$${}^{\mathrm{mf}}E_1^{s,t}(X) = \pi_t(\mathrm{tmf}^{\wedge s+1} \wedge X) \Rightarrow \pi_{t-s}X$$

where tmf denotes the spectrum of connective topological modular forms [DFHH14]. The role that was played by Mahowald's spectrum Y will now be reprised by Z, a 2-local finite spectrum of type 2 constructed by the third author and Egger [BE20a], with the distinguished property that it possesses a v_2^1 -self map

$$v_2^1: \Sigma^6 Z \to Z,$$

and that there is an equivalence

(1.0.4)
$$\operatorname{tmf} \wedge Z \simeq k(2).$$

Here k(2) is the height 2 connective Morava K-theory spectrum.

We find that, similar to the height 1 case, the E_1 term of the tmf-resolution for Z fits into a short exact sequence

(1.0.5)
$$0 \to V^{*,*}(Z) \to {}^{\operatorname{tmf}}E_1^{*,*}(Z) \to \mathcal{C}^{*,*}(Z) \to 0$$

where the groups $\mathcal{C}^{*,*}(Z)$ are v_2 -torsion free and completely computable and the groups $V^{*,*}(Z)$ are v_2^1 -torsion and essentially incomputable. We will refer to $\mathcal{C}^{*,*}(Z)$ as the good complex and $V^{*,*}(Z)$ as the evil complex.

We will show that the good complex $\mathcal{C}^{*,*}(Z)$ is an explicit connective subcomplex of the cobar complex for computing the E_2 -term of the Adams-Novikov spectral sequence

(1.0.6)
$$^{anss}E_2^{*,*}(Z_{E(2)}) = H_c^*(\mathbb{G}_2; (E_2)_*Z) \Rightarrow \pi_*Z_{E(2)}$$

and the localized tmf resolution

$$v_2^{-1 \operatorname{tmf}} E_2^{*,*} = v_2^{-1} H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C}(Z)) \Rightarrow \pi_* Z_{E(2)}$$

is isomorphic to the spectral sequence (1.0.6).¹ The groups

$$^{nss}E_2^{*,*}(Z_{E(2)})$$

were computed by the third author and Egger [BE20b]. It turned out that, unlike the situation for large primes, the spectral sequence (1.0.6) cannot be shown to collapse at its E_2 -page simply for dimensional reasons, but the third author and Egger conjectured that it does collapse. One major result of this paper is a proof of this conjecture.

Collapse Theorem (Theorem 8.5.1). The v_2 -localized tmf-resolution for Z collapses at its E_2 -page.

The height 2 story begins to diverge in the context of the bounded torsion theorem. We construct an analog of the May filtration on the good complex $\mathcal{C}^{*,*}(Z)$, and we will refer to the associated spectral sequence

$${}^{MR}E_{1}^{*,*,*} = H^{*,*}(E_{*}^{0}\mathcal{C}(Z)) \Rightarrow H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C}(Z))$$

as the May-Ravenel spectral sequence. We will completely compute the E_1 -term of the May-Ravenel spectral sequence, and will observe the following:

Unbounded torsion theorem (Theorem 6.4.3). The May-Ravenel E_1 -page has unbounded v_2 -torsion: there are elements which are v_2^i -torsion for *i* arbitrarily large.

Unfortunately, we are unable to deduce the same unbounded torsion statement for $H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C}(Z))$ (which is equivalent to unbounded torsion in ${}^{\mathrm{tmf}}E_2^{*,*}(Z)$) because we do not know if the May-Ravenel spectral sequence collapses at E_1 , and we do not know if there are hidden v_2 extensions in this spectral sequence. Nevertheless, the computation of the unbounded torsion allows us to understand exactly how the telescope conjecture could fail at height 2.

We now turn our attention to the final component of Mahowald's work on boresolutions: the vanishing line. Clearly, a vanishing line for the cohomology of the good complex $H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C}(Z))$ can be read off of our computation of the May-Ravenel E_1 -term. In order to lift this vanishing line to one for ${}^{\operatorname{tmf}}E_2^{*,*}(Z)$, we need a vanishing line for the cohomology of the evil complex $H^{*,*}(V(Z))$.

In [BBB⁺20] we developed a technique (the agathakakological² spectral sequence) for computing the cohomology of the evil complex associated to the bo-resolution by relating it to Ext_{A_*} and the good complex. We will construct an agathokakological spectral sequence in our present setting of the tmf-resolution. This will allow us to use a vanishing line in Ext_{A_*} to establish a vanishing line for the cohomology of the evil complex $H^{*,*}(V(Z))$, thus establishing a vanishing line for $\operatorname{tmf}_{2}^{*,*}(Z)$.

Vanishing line theorem (Theorem 9.4.1). In the tmf-resolution for Z, we have ${}^{tmf}E_2^{s,t}(Z) = 0$ for

$$s > \frac{t-s+12}{11}.$$

¹In general, for a bigraded cochain complex $C^{*,*}$, we shall denote its cohomology by $H^{*,*}(C)$.

 $^{^2{\}bf agathokakological}$ (ag-uh-thuh-kak-uh-LAHJ-uh-kuhl) adjective: Made up of both good and evil.

The slope of this line cannot be improved at E_2 ; 1/11 is the slope of the nonnilpotent element

$$g_2 \in \operatorname{Ext}_{A_*}^{4,48}(\mathbb{F}_2,\mathbb{F}_2),$$

and it turns out g_2 lifts to ${}^{\text{tmf}}E_2^{4,48}(Z)$. We conjecture that for some r > 2, the E_r -page has a slope 1/13 vanishing line (Conj. 9.4.2).

The agathokakological spectral sequence allows us to combine our computations of the cohomology of the good complex $H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C}(Z))$ with low dimensional computer computations of Ext_{A_*} to obtain low dimensional computations of the tmfresolution E_2 -page $\operatorname{tmf} E_2^{*,*}(Z)$. Using this technique, we compute the tmf-resolution of Z through the 40-stem. This is not just an academic exercise — rather it is the means by which we prove the collapse theorem. In this range we are able to locate unlocalized elements which map to the generators of the E_2 -term of the Adams-Novikov spectral sequence for $Z_{E(2)}$. By observing that the corresponding unlocalized elements are permanent cycles in the tmf-resolution, we deduce that their images in the Adams-Novikov spectral sequence for $Z_{E(2)}$ are permanent cycles.

The unbounded torsion theorem allows us to identify the possible ways the map

$$\pi_* Z \to \pi_* Z_{E(2)}$$

can fail to be an isomorphism. The last section of this paper is a detailed discussion giving a precise conjecture for what $\pi_* \hat{Z}$ is (the *parabola conjecture*), and how this conjectural answer differs from $\pi_* Z_{E(2)}$. The parabola conjecture is essentially an adaptation of the conjectures of Mahowald, Ravenel, and Shick [Rav95], [MRS01] to our context.

Future directions. It is probably clear to the reader that the authors hoped that adapting Mahowald's approach to the 2-primary height 1 telescope conjecture to the height 2 context would yield new information that would lead to a computational proof or disproof of the telescope conjecture at chromatic height 2. The results of this paper are as such inconclusive, and the telescope conjecture remains one of the great unlocked mysteries of the subject.

The seasoned expert will recognize, however, that if this was the authors' only goal, then we would have been better off studying the $BP\langle 2 \rangle$ -resolution of the Smith-Toda complex V(1) for primes $p \geq 5$. Indeed, that would have simplified many parts of this paper.

However, the authors had other motivations for undertaking this particular endeavor at the prime 2. We wanted to complete the computation of $\pi_*Z_{E(2)}$ initiated by the third author and Egger in [BE20b]. Not only does our analysis show that the structure of the homotopy groups of $Z_{E(2)}$ mirrors the structure of the homotopy groups of $V(1)_{E(2)}$ at primes $p \geq 5$, despite the fact that the E(2)-local Adams-Novikov spectral sequence is no longer sparse, it also represents the first non-trivial complete computation of the homotopy groups of any E(2)-local finite complex at the prime 2.

The prime 2 represents the last computational frontier for chromatic height 2, where computations are elaborate but straightforward for primes $p \ge 5$ (see, for

example, [Beh12]), and downright difficult, but possible, the prime p = 3 (see, for example, [GHMR05]). In fact, the duality resolution of [GHMR05] is a minimal tmf-resolution of the sphere in the K(2)-local stable homotopy category.

Besides the fact that the 2-torsion in tmf is an order of magnitude more complicated than the 3-torsion, there is a fundamental unsolved difficulty at p = 2: Bobkova and Goerss have successfully constructed a duality resolution for the maximal cyclotomic extension of the K(2)-local sphere [BG18], but constructing resolutions of the K(2)-local sphere itself is much more subtle. Our analysis links the tmfresolution explicitly to the Morava stabilizer group through the good complex. We are hopeful that this will allow us to one day use the tmf-resolution to help us understand finite resolutions for the K(2)-local sphere itself.

We also plan to develop the tmf-resolution as a valuable tool for low dimensional 2primary computations of stable homotopy groups. Our use of the tmf-resolution to compute the first 40 stems of Z required very little effort — the computation could probably be pushed to much higher degrees if we had a good reason to do so. In the case of the sphere, there is such a motivation: the Kervaire invariant one problem in dimension 126 [HHR16]. The work of Isaksen, Wang, and the fifth author [IWX20] shows that complex motivic homotopy theory can be used to effectively compute the 2-primary Adams spectral sequence for the sphere, and they have used their machinery to carry out this computation up to the 90 stem. It is unclear whether their techniques alone will suffice to get up to dimension 126. The tmf-resolution could provide a valuable tool for analyzing Adams differentials between v_2 -periodic elements in Ext_{A_*} . The computations of this paper provide the starting point for the analysis of the tmf-resolution of the sphere.

Conventions. We will use the following notation throughout this paper.

- ASS = classical Adams spectral sequence.
- tmf-ASS = the tmf-based ASS (aka the tmf-resolution).
- ANSS = Adams-Novikov spectral sequence (aka the *BP*-based ASS).
- AKSS = agathokakological spectral sequence.
- $H_*(-)/H^*(-)$ denotes homology/cohomology with \mathbb{F}_2 -coefficients.
- *H* denotes the mod 2 Eilenberg-MacLane spectrum.
- A denotes the mod 2 Steenrod algebra, and A_* is its dual.

For X any 2-complete spectrum, we shall let

$$^{ass}E_2^{s,t}(X) = \operatorname{Ext}_{A_*}^{s,t}(\mathbb{F}_2, H_*X) \Rightarrow \pi_{t-s}X$$

denote its ASS. Assuming this spectral sequence converges, we shall say an element of π_*X has Adams filtration s if it is detected in the ASS by a class in ${}^{ass}E_2^{s,*}(X)$.

Finally, in [BE20a], the third author and Egger show that there is a class of spectra $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}$, each of whose cohomology is isomorphic as A(2)-modules, and each of which admits a v_2^1 -self map. For concreteness, the spectrum we call Z in this paper is always taken to be a particular fixed member of this class for which the cofiber of its v_2 -self map has cohomology as described in Appendix A.

Organization of the paper. In Section 2, we recall some basic facts about the spectrum tmf, its cohomology, and its relationship to Morava E-theory. We will also review some facts about the spectrum Z.

In Section 3 we begin our analysis of the tmf-ASS $\{{}^{\mathrm{tmf}}E_r^{n,t}(Z)\}$. The E_1 -term is given by

$${}^{\mathrm{tmf}}E_1^{n,t}(Z) = \pi_t(\mathrm{tmf}^{\wedge n+1} \wedge Z).$$

We will compute this E_1 -term using the Adams spectral sequences

$$^{ass}E_2^{s,t}(\operatorname{tmf}^{\wedge n+1} \wedge Z) \Rightarrow \pi_{t-s}(\operatorname{tmf}^{\wedge n+1} \wedge Z).$$

We will explain how to use Margolis homology to compute the E_2 -terms of these Adams spectral sequences, and we show these Adams spectral sequences collapse to give a short exact sequence of chain complexes (1.0.5) (the good/evil decomposition). The goal is to use the short exact sequence (1.0.5) to compute ${}^{\text{tmf}}E_2^{*,*}$ from $H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C}(Z))$ and $H^{*,*}(V(Z))$. It will turn out that $H^{*,*}(V(Z))$ is computable despite the incomputability of $V^{*,*}(Z)$ itself.

In Section 4, we both recall the structure of the Morava stabilizer group and Morava stabilizer algebra associated to the Honda height 2 formal group, and relate these to the corresponding groups and algebras for the formal group coming from the unique supersingular elliptic curve C in characteristic 2. We compute the action of the group of automorphisms $\operatorname{Aut}(C)$ on the Morava *E*-homology of the complex *Z*.

In Section 5, we compute the differentials in the good complex $C^{*,*}(Z)$. This is accomplished by showing that the good complex is actually isomorphic to the cobar complex of an explicit sub-Hopf algebra $\tilde{\sigma}(2)$ of a quotient of the Morava stabilizer algebra.

At this point, the number of different Hopf algebras important for our purposes has become significant, so we give a list in Table 1 to help the reader keep track.

In Section 6 we embark on the computation of

$$H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C}(Z)) \cong \operatorname{Ext}_{\widetilde{\sigma}(2)}^{*,*}(k(2)_*, k(2)_*).$$

The cohomology of the Morava stabilizer algebra was computed by Ravenel [Rav77] using a modification of the May spectral sequence which we will call the *May-Ravenel spectral sequence*. We adapt the May-Ravenel spectral sequence to compute the cohomology of $\tilde{\sigma}(2)$. We completely compute the E_1 -term of this spectral sequence (Theorem 6.4.3), thus proving the unbounded torsion theorem.

Having dealt with the good complex, in Section 7 we turn to the problem of computing the cohomology of the evil complex. Following the techniques introduced in $[BBB^+20]$, we introduce a refinement of the tmf-ASS called the *topological agathokakological spectral sequence* (topological AKSS)

$$H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C}(Z)) \oplus H^{*,*}(V(Z)) \Rightarrow \pi_*Z.$$

We also introduce an algebraic version, the *algebraic agathokakological spectral se*quence (algebraic AKSS)

$$H^{*,*,*}(\mathcal{C}_{alg}(Z)) \oplus H^{*,*}(V(Z)) \Rightarrow {}^{ass}E_2^{*,*}(Z).$$

10

We then prove the *dichotomy principle* (Theorem 7.3.8), which relates evil terms in the algebraic AKSS to v_2 -torsion in ${}^{ass}E_2^{*,*}(Z)$. We therefore are able to recover $H^{*,*}(V(Z))$ from $H^{*,*,*}(\mathcal{C}_{alg}(Z))$ (which we completely compute) and ${}^{ass}E_2^{*,*}(Z)$ (which we compute using Bruner's Ext software [Bru93]).

In Section 8, we perform low dimensional computations of the tmf-ASS (or equivalently, the topological AKSS) for Z in the range t - n < 40. This proceeds by first analyzing v_2 -periodicity in ${}^{ass}E_2^{*,*}(Z)$ by analyzing ${}^{ass}E_2^{*,*}(A_2)$, where A_2 is the cofiber

$$\Sigma^6 Z \xrightarrow{v_2} Z \to A_2$$

whose cohomology is isomorphic to the subalgebra $A(2) \subset A$ as an A(2)-module. Appendix A contains the Bruner module definition data used to compute the relevant Ext charts. We then compute the algebraic AKSS in our range. From this we extract $H^{*,*}(V(Z))$, which we input into the topological AKSS, and compute through this same range. We end this section with a comparison to the computations of Bhattacharya-Egger of the Adams-Novikov spectral sequence (ANSS) for $Z_{E(2)}$, and prove the collapse theorem by mapping the tmf-ASS to the K(2)-local ANSS (Theorem 8.5.1).

In Section 9 we discuss how the analog of Mahowald's approach to the 2-primary height 1 telescope conjecture using the bo-resolution for Y fails in the context of the tmf-resolution for Z. Namely, assuming there are no additional differentials or extensions in the May-Ravenel spectral sequence, and assuming a certain pattern of d_3 -differentials, we show that ${}^{\text{tmf}}E_4$ decomposes into a direct sum of three pieces:

- (1) a summand which is v_2 -torsion free, and is isomorphic to $\pi_* Z_{E(2)}$ after v_2 inversion,
- (2) a summand which consists entirely of bounded v_2^2 -torsion, and
- (3) a summand which consists of unbounded v_2 -torsion, and assembles via a conjectural sequence of hidden extensions, into an uncountable collection of v_2 -parabolas.³

We explain how our work in previous sections proves the vanishing line theorem (the slope 1/11 vanishing line for ${}^{\text{tmf}}E_2^{*,*}(Z)$). We explain why one might expect to be able to improve this to a slope 1/13 vanishing line, which would preclude infinite families of hidden extensions among the terms in summand (2) from assembling to give v_2 -families in $\pi_*\hat{Z}$. We then describe the analogs of conjectures of Mahowald-Ravenel-Shick [MRS01] which describe a hypothetical picture (*the parabola conjecture*) of $\pi_*\hat{Z}$ which is assembled from a portion of the classes in summands (1) and (3) above, and in particular is unequal to $\pi_*Z_{E(2)}$. However, just as in [MRS01], it is totally possible for a bizarre pattern of differentials between v_2 -parabolas to occur to make the telescope conjecture true.

Acknowledgments. The authors benefited greatly from conversations with Phil Egger, Paul Goerss, Mike Hopkins, Doug Ravenel, and Tomer Schlank. The authors also owe much gratitude to the referee, for their incredibly thoughtful insights into

³We call them v_2 -parabolas because they lie on (sideways) parabolas in the (t - n, n)-plane.

how to improve what is a very technical paper, and for providing the statement and proof of Proposition 3.1.7.

2. Background

2.1. Morava *K*-theory and *E*-theory. Recall [Ada95, Part II] that a homotopy commutative ring spectrum is said to be *complex orientable* if the map on reduced *E*-cohomology

$$\widetilde{E}^*(\mathbb{C}P^\infty) \to \widetilde{E}^*(\mathbb{C}P^1)$$

is surjective. The cohomology $\widetilde{E}^*(\mathbb{C}P^1)$ is free of rank 1 as an E_* -module, and a lift

$$x \in \widetilde{E}^*(\mathbb{C}P^\infty)$$

of a generator of $\widetilde{E}^*(\mathbb{C}P^1)$ is called a complex orientation. We then have

$$E^*(\mathbb{C}P^\infty) = E^*[[x]]$$

The *H*-space structure on $\mathbb{C}P^{\infty}$ gives rise to a formal group law over E^* . In the case where the spectrum *E* is even periodic, $(\pi_{odd}E = 0 \text{ and } \pi_2 E \text{ contains a unit})$ we can take our complex orientation to lie in $\widetilde{E}^0(\mathbb{C}P^{\infty})$, and the resulting formal group law \mathcal{F}_E can actually be defined over the ring E_0 .

A complex orientation of a ring spectrum E is equivalent to the structure of a map of ring spectra

$$MU \to E$$
,

where MU is the complex cobordism spectrum. For a prime p, the p-localization of MU splits as a wedge of suspensions of the Brown-Peterson specrum BP, with

$$BP_* \cong \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[v_1, v_2, v_3, \cdots]$$

with $|v_i| = 2(p^i - 1)$. The Wilson spectrum $BP\langle n \rangle$ can be constructed as the regular quotient of BP given by [Str99]

$$BP\langle n \rangle = BP/(v_{n+1}, v_{n+2}, \ldots).$$

However, these ring spectra depend on the choices of the generators v_i , and as such there are many different *forms* of $BP\langle n \rangle$. Associated to any such choice is the associated Johnson-Wilson spectrum

$$E(n) := BP\langle n \rangle [v_n^{-1}]$$

and the associated Morava K-theory spectrum is the regular quotient

$$K(n) = E(n)/(p, v_1, \dots v_{n-1})$$

with

$$\pi_* K(n) = \mathbb{F}_p[v_n^{\pm 1}].$$

The connective Morava K-theory k(n) is the connective cover of K(n).

The localization functors $(-)_{E(n)}$ and $(-)_{K(n)}$ are independent of the form of E(n)and K(n), and we have [Rav84]

$$(-)_{E(n)} = (-)_{K(0) \vee \cdots \vee K(n)}.$$

In particular, if X is a type n spectrum, then we have

$$X_{E(n)} \simeq X_{K(n)}$$

The height *n* Morava *E*-theory spectrum E_n [BB20] is a K(n)-local even periodic variant of the Johnson-Wilson spectrum E(n). Like E(n), there are many forms of E_n , one for each height *n* formal group law \mathcal{F} over a perfect field \mathbb{F} of characteristic *p*. The formal group law associated to E_n is the Lubin-Tate universal deformation of \mathcal{F} , and we have

$$\pi_* E_n = \mathbb{W}(\mathbb{F})[[u_1, \dots, u_{n-1}]][u^{\pm 1}]$$

where $\mathbb{W}(\mathbb{F})$ denotes the Witt ring of \mathbb{F} , $|u_i| = 0$, and |u| = -2. Goerss, Hopkins, and Miller showed that E_n admits a homotopically unique E_{∞} -structure, and admits a natural action of the *Morava stabilizer group* Aut(\mathcal{F}). If \mathcal{F} is obtained from a formal group law over \mathbb{F}_p via base change, then there is a natural action of $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{F}/\mathbb{F}_p)$ on Aut(\mathcal{F}), and the natural action of Aut(\mathcal{F}) on E_n extends to an action of the associated extended Morava stabilizer group

$$\mathbb{G}_n := \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{F}) \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{F}/\mathbb{F}_p).$$

Note that \mathbb{G}_n implicitly depends both on the formal group \mathcal{F} , and the field \mathbb{F} .

Morava *E*-theory gives rise to an associated variant of Morava K-theory, which is defined to be the spectrum given by the regular quotient.

$$K_n := E_n/(p, u_1, \ldots, u_{n-1})$$

so we have

$$\pi_* K_n = \mathbb{F}[u^{\pm 1}].$$

Again, different formal group laws \mathcal{F} and different fields of definition \mathbb{F} can give rise to different forms of K_n .

2.2. **Topological modular forms.** We give a brief overview of some facts about the spectrum of connective topological modular forms tmf. A more complete introduction may be found in [Beh20], [DFHH14].

An *elliptic cohomology theory* consists of a triple

$$(E, C, \alpha)$$

where E is a complex orientable even periodic ring spectrum, C is an elliptic curve over E_0 , and α is an isomorphism

$$\alpha:\widehat{C}\xrightarrow{\cong} F_E$$

between the formal group law \widehat{C} associated of C and the formal group law of E.

Goerss, Hopkins, and Miller constructed a sheaf of E_{∞} -ring spectra \mathcal{O}^{top} on the étale site of the moduli stack of elliptic curves \mathcal{M}_{ell} , with the property that the spectrum of sections

$$E_C := \mathcal{O}^{top}(\operatorname{spec}(R) \xrightarrow{C} \mathcal{M}_{ell})$$

associated to an affine etale open classifying an elliptic curve C/R is an elliptic cohomology theory for the elliptic curve C.

The Goerss-Hopkins-Miller sheaf is actually defined over the Deligne-Mumford compactification $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{ell}$ of the moduli stack \mathcal{M}_{ell} of elliptic curves. The spectrum of *non-connective topological modular forms* is defined to be the spectrum of global sections of this sheaf

$$\mathrm{Tmf} := \mathcal{O}^{top}(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{ell}).$$

There is a natural map from the homotopy groups of Tmf to the ring of integral modular forms for $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$

(2.2.1)
$$\pi_{2*} \operatorname{Tmf} \to \operatorname{MF}_*(SL_2(\mathbb{Z})) = \mathbb{Z}[c_4, c_6, \Delta]/(c_4^3 - c_6^2 = 1728\Delta).$$

Here c_4 and c_6 denote normalizations of the Eisenstein series of weight 4 and 6, respectively, and Δ denotes the discriminant of weight 12. The map (2.2.1) is a rational isomorphism, but is not an isomorphism integrally. Nevertheless the modular forms c_4 and Δ^{24} are in the image, we shall let $c_4 \in \pi_8 \text{Tmf}$ and $\Delta^{24} \in \pi_{576} \text{Tmf}$ denote lifts of these modular forms to $\pi_* \text{Tmf}$.

The spectrum of *connective* topological modular forms is defined to be the connective cover of this spectrum

$$\operatorname{tmf} := \tau_{>0} \operatorname{Tmf}.$$

The spectrum of *periodic topological modular forms* is defined to be the global sections of the sheaf \mathcal{O}^{top} over the non-singular locus

$$TMF := \mathcal{O}^{top}(\mathcal{M}_{ell})$$

We have

 $\mathrm{TMF} = \mathrm{tmf}[\Delta^{-24}]$

where $\Delta^{24} \in \pi_{576}$ tmf.

Inverting Δ^{24} has the effect of inverting some power of v_2 for every prime p, and as such, there is a close relationship between TMF and $\operatorname{tmf}_{K(2)}$. There is an equivalence [Beh20, Prop. 6.6.14]

$$\operatorname{tmf}_{K(2)} \simeq \operatorname{TMF}_{(p,c_4)}^{\wedge}$$
.

Up to isomorphism, there is a unique supersingular elliptic curve C over \mathbb{F}_4 . The elliptic curve C admits a Weierstrass presentation [Sil09, III.1]

(2.2.2)
$$y^2 + y = x^3$$
.

Let \widehat{C} denote the associated height 2-formal group over \mathbb{F}_4 . The automorphisms of C induce automorphisms of \widehat{C} , giving rise to an inclusion

$$\operatorname{Aut}(C) \hookrightarrow \mathbb{G}_2.$$

The 2-primary K(2)-localization of tmf is then given by [Beh07, Sec. 5]

(2.2.3)
$$\operatorname{tmf}_{K(2)} \simeq E_2^{h\operatorname{Aut}(C)\rtimes\operatorname{Gal}}$$

where $\text{Gal} = \text{Gal}(\mathbb{F}_4/\mathbb{F}_2)$. The form of connective Morava K-theory in the equivalence

$$\operatorname{tmf} \wedge Z \simeq k(2)$$

of (1.0.4) is the form associated to the formal group \widehat{C} , regarded as a formal group over \mathbb{F}_2 .

Associated to the congruence subgroups $\Gamma_1(n) \leq SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$, Hill and Lawson constructed variants $\operatorname{Tmf}_1(n)$ of Tmf associated to the compactified moduli stacks $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_1(n)$ of elliptic curves with $\Gamma_1(n)$ structure [HL16]. Lawson and Naumann [LN12] proved that the connective cover $\operatorname{tmf}_1(3)$ of $\operatorname{Tmf}_1(3)$ gives a form of $BP\langle 2 \rangle$ at the prime 2:

(2.2.4)
$$\operatorname{tmf}_1(3)_{(2)} \simeq \mathrm{BP}\langle 2 \rangle$$

We have

$$\operatorname{tmf}_1(3)_{K(2)} \simeq E_2^{hC_3 \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}}.$$

Associated to the log-étale map

$$\overline{\mathcal{M}}_1(3) \to \mathcal{M}_{ell}$$

given by forgetting $\Gamma_1(3)$ -structures, there is a map

$$\operatorname{tmf} \to \operatorname{tmf}_1(3)$$

and hence a map

(2.2.5) $\operatorname{tmf} \to BP\langle 2 \rangle.$

The K(2)-localization of this map is given by the canonical inclusion

$$E_2^{h\operatorname{Aut}(C)\rtimes\operatorname{Gal}} \to E_2^{hC_3\rtimes\operatorname{Gal}}.$$

2.3. Subalgebras and subquotients of the Steenrod algebra. Let A denote the mod 2 Steenrod algebra and let A_* be its dual. The algebra A_* is a polynomial algebra on the Milnor generators ξ_i of degree $2^i - 1$. Letting $\zeta_i = \overline{\xi}_i$ denote the conjugates, A_* can also be expressed as

$$A_* = \mathbb{F}_2[\zeta_1, \zeta_2, \zeta_3, \ldots].$$

The coproduct on A_* is given by

$$\psi(\zeta_k) = \sum_{i+j=k} \zeta_i \otimes \zeta_j^{2^i}.$$

The elements ζ_i are dual to the elements $Q_{i-1} \in A$. The elements Q_n are primitive, satisfy $Q_n^2 = 0$, and generate an exterior subalgebra

$$E[Q_0, Q_1, Q_2, \cdots] \subseteq A.$$

Let A(n) be the subalgebra generated by $\operatorname{Sq}^1, \ldots, \operatorname{Sq}^{2^n}$.

For a B subalgebra of A, we will be interested in A-modules of the form

$$A/\!\!/B := A \otimes_B \mathbb{F}_2,$$

since we have [Rav86, 2.1, 4.1, 4.2], [Mat16]

(2.3.1)

$$H^* \mathrm{bo} \cong A /\!\!/ A(1),$$

$$H^* \mathrm{tmf} \cong A /\!\!/ A(2),$$

$$H^* B P \langle n \rangle \cong A /\!\!/ E[Q_0, \dots, Q_n],$$

$$H^* k(n) \cong A /\!\!/ E[Q_n].$$

We also have

$$H^*Y \cong_{A(1)} A(1) /\!\!/ E[Q_1],$$

$$H^*Z \cong_{A(2)} A(2) /\!\!/ E[Q_2],$$

where $\cong_{A(n)}$ denotes an isomorphism of A(n)-modules (the case of Y is elementary, for the case of Z see [BE20a]).

We note that the dual of A(n) and $E[Q_0, \ldots, Q_n]$ are given by

$$A(n)_* \cong A_* / (\zeta_1^{2^{n+1}}, \zeta_2^{2^n}, \dots, \zeta_{n+1}^2, \zeta_{n+2}, \dots),$$

$$E[Q_0, \dots, Q_n]_* \cong E[\zeta_1, \dots, \zeta_{n+1}].$$

We will denote the dual of $A/\!\!/B$ as $A/\!\!/B_*$. The duals of $A/\!\!/A(n)$ and $A/\!\!/E[Q_0, \ldots, Q_n]$ are given by

$$A/\!\!/ A(n)_* \cong \mathbb{F}_2[\zeta_1^{2^{n+1}}, \zeta_2^{2^n}, \dots, \zeta_{n+1}^2, \zeta_{n+2}, \dots],$$
$$A/\!\!/ E[Q_0, \dots, Q_n]_* \cong \mathbb{F}_2[\zeta_1^2, \dots, \zeta_{n+1}^2, \zeta_{n+2}, \zeta_{n+3}, \dots].$$

In general, for A_* -comodules M and N, the change of rings isomorphism gives (2.3.2) $\operatorname{Ext}_{A_*}^{*,*}(M, A /\!\!/ B_* \otimes N) \cong \operatorname{Ext}_{B_*}^{*,*}(M, N).$

3. The good/evil decomposition of the E_1 -term

The goal of this section is to analyze the E_1 -term of the tmf-resolution for Z. Using (1.0.4) we have

(3.0.1)
$${}^{\operatorname{tmf}}E_1^{n,t}(Z) = \pi_t(\operatorname{tmf}^{n+1} \wedge Z) \cong k(2)_t(\operatorname{tmf}^{\wedge n}).$$

For this reason, we will need a tool to compute connective Morava K-theory.

3.1. Margolis homology. For a spectrum X, consider the Adams spectral sequence for $k(n)_*X$

$$^{ass}E_2^{s,t} = \operatorname{Ext}_{A_*}^{s,t}(\mathbb{F}_2, H_*k(n) \wedge X) \Rightarrow k(n)_{t-s}(X).$$

Using (2.3.1) and the change of rings isomorphism (2.3.2), the E_2 -term of this Adams spectral sequence takes the form

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{A_*}(\mathbb{F}_2, H_*k(n) \wedge X) \cong \operatorname{Ext}_{E[Q_n]_*}^{*,*}(\mathbb{F}_2, H_*X).$$

Note that Ext of comodules over $E[Q_n]_*$ is isomorphic to Ext of modules over $E[Q_n]$, using the dual action of Q_n on homology.

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{E[Q_n]_*}^{*,*}(\mathbb{F}_2, H_*X) \cong \operatorname{Ext}_{E[Q_n]}^{*,*}(\mathbb{F}_2, H_*X).$$

Because the dual action of Q_n on homology lowers degree, we will regard Q_n as having degree $-2^{n+1} + 1$.

Margolis (see [Mar83, Part III]) introduced some general tools for computing such Ext groups over exterior algebras.

Definition 3.1.1. Let M be a module over E[x]. Let $\ker_x(M)$ be the kernel of multiplication by x and $\operatorname{im}_x(M)$ be its image. Define

$$H(M;x) := \ker_x(M) / \operatorname{im}_x(M).$$

Lemma 3.1.2. Let M be an E[x]-module, where x has degree k. Then there is a short exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{im}_{x}(M) \to \operatorname{Ext}_{E[x]}^{*,*}(\mathbb{F}_{2}, M) \to \mathbb{F}_{2}[y] \otimes H(M; x) \to 0$$

for y in $\operatorname{Ext}^{1,k}$ and $\operatorname{im}_x(M)$ is regarded as a graded \mathbb{F}_2 -vector space in cohomological degree zero.

Proof. Consider the standard free resolution of \mathbb{F}_2 as a E[x]-module, given by the differential graded \mathbb{F}_2 algebra

$$E[x] \otimes \Gamma[z]$$

where Γ denotes the divided power algebra, d(z) = x, and |z| = (-1, k) (here the first index is the cohomological degree, which is negative because it is in positive homological degree). Applying $\operatorname{Hom}_{E[x]}(-, M)$, gives a cochain complex

$$C^{*,*}(M) := \mathbb{F}_2[y] \otimes M$$

whose cohomology is $\operatorname{Ext}_{E[x]}(\mathbb{F}_2, M)$ where M has cohomological degree 0, $y = z^*$, |y| = (1, -k), and

$$d(y^n \otimes m) = y^{n+1} \otimes x \cdot m.$$

We calculate

16

$$H^{n,*}(C^{*,*}(M)) = \begin{cases} H(M;x)\{y^n\}, & n > 0, \\ \ker_x(M), & n = 0. \end{cases}$$

The result then follows from the short exact sequence:

$$0 \to \operatorname{im}_x(M) \to \ker_x(M) \to H(M; x) \to 0.$$

We will apply these results to the exterior algebra $E[Q_n]$.

Definition 3.1.3. Let M be an A(n)-module. The *n*th Margolis homology of M is $H(M;Q_n)$. If $M = H_*(X)$, then we abbreviate $H(H_*(X);Q_n)$ as $H(X;Q_n)$.

Since Q_n is primitive, the action of Q_n on the tensor product $M \otimes N$ of A(n)modules is given by

$$Q_n(a \otimes b) = Q_n(a) \otimes b + a \otimes Q_n(b).$$

From this, one can deduce the following lemma.

Lemma 3.1.4. Let M and N be A(n)-modules of finite type. Then

 $H(M \otimes N; Q_n) \cong H(M; Q_n) \otimes H(N; Q_n).$

Corollary 3.1.5. If M is an A(n)-module of finite type, then there is a short exact sequence

$$0 \to V^{k,*}(M) \to \operatorname{Ext}_{E[Q_n]}^{*,*}(\mathbb{F}_2, M^{\otimes k}) \to \mathbb{F}_2[v_n] \otimes H(M; Q_n)^{\otimes k} \to 0$$

where

$$V^{k,*}(M) := \operatorname{im}_{Q_n}(M^{\otimes k}).$$

The following result is a straightforward consequence the fact that the action of Q_n is a derivation and

$$Q_n(\zeta_k) = \begin{cases} \zeta_{k-n-1}^{2^{n+1}} & k \ge n+1, \\ 0 & k < n+1. \end{cases}$$

Lemma 3.1.6. There are isomorphisms

$$H(A/\!\!/ A(n)_*; Q_n) \cong \mathbb{F}_2[\zeta_2^{2^n}, \zeta_3^{2^{n-1}}, \dots, \zeta_{n+1}^2, \zeta_{n+2}^2, \zeta_{n+3}^2, \dots]/(\zeta_2^{2^{n+1}}, \zeta_3^{2^{n+1}}, \dots)$$

and
$$H(A/\!\!/ E[Q_0, \dots, Q_n]_*; Q_n) \cong \mathbb{F}_2[\zeta_1^2, \zeta_2^2, \dots]/(\zeta_1^{2^{n+1}}, \zeta_2^{2^{n+1}}, \dots).$$

We end this section with a topological realization result (compare with [Lel82, Thm. 2]). The authors are very grateful to the referee for suggesting this streamlined formulation of the result, and the proof is due to the referee.

Proposition 3.1.7. Let X be a connective spectrum with the property that the Margolis homology $H(X;Q_n)$ is concentrated in even degrees. Then the Adams spectral sequence

$$^{ass}E_2^{s,t}(k(n) \wedge X) = \operatorname{Ext}_{E[Q_n]}^{s,t}(\mathbb{F}_2, H_*X) \Rightarrow k(n)_{t-s}(X)$$

collapses, and there are no exotic v_n -extensions. There is a fiber sequence of k(n) modules

$$HV_X \to k(n) \land X \to K_X$$

where

$$V_X := \operatorname{im}_{Q_n}(H_*X),$$

 HV_X is the generalized Eilenberg-MacLane spectrum associated to the graded \mathbb{F}_2 -vector space V_X , and K_X is a free k(n)-module with

$$\pi_* K_X \cong \mathbb{F}_2[v_n] \otimes H(X; Q_n).$$

This fiber sequence is natural in X with $H_*(X;Q_n)$ in even degrees. The fiber sequence is split, but not naturally.

Proof. By hypothesis, for s > 0, ${}^{ass}E_2^{s,t} = 0$ unless t - s is even. Thus nonzero differentials must originate from ${}^{ass}E_2^{0,t}$ with t odd. Since v_n annihilates that vector space and ${}^{ass}E_2^{*,*}$ is v_n -torsion free in positive cohomological degree, the ASS collapses.

There is an isomorphism

$$\mathbb{F}_2 \otimes_{k(n)_*} k(n)_* X \cong {}^{ass} E_2^{0,*}$$

and a surjection

$$v_n: k(n)_* X/v_n$$
-torsion $\twoheadrightarrow {}^{ass} E_2^{1,*}$.

There is then a commutative diagram

The map $V_0 \to V_X$ is an isomorphism by a diagram chase.

This defines a natural inclusion of $k(n)_*$ -modules

$$V_X \cong V_0 \subseteq k(n)_* X.$$

A choice of basis for V_X defines a map

$$HV_X \to k(n) \wedge X$$

which, in the homotopy category of k(n)-modules, is independent of the choice. Any choice of splitting of

$$V_X \to k(n)_* X \to k(n)_* X/v_n$$
-torsion

can be realized in the category of k(n)-modules.

3.2. The computation of the E_1 -term of the tmf-ASS for Z. Returning now to the computation of the E_1 -term ${}^{\text{tmf}}E_1^{n,*}(Z)$ (3.0.1), we will compute the classical ASS

$$(3.2.1) \qquad \operatorname{Ext}_{A_*}^{s,t}(\mathbb{F}_2, H_*(k(2) \wedge \operatorname{tmf}^{\wedge n})) \Longrightarrow k(2)_{t-s}(\operatorname{tmf}^{\wedge n}) = {}^{\operatorname{tmf}}E_1^{n,t-s}(Z).$$

Defining

$$\mathcal{C}_{ala}^{n,*,*}(Z) := \mathbb{F}_2[v_2] \otimes H(A/\!\!/ A(2)_*, Q_2)^{\otimes n}$$

Lemma 3.1.2, Corollary 3.1.5, and Lemma 3.1.6 imply the following.

Proposition 3.2.2. There is a short exact sequence of $\mathbb{F}_2[v_2]$ -modules

$$(3.2.3) 0 \to V_{alg}^{n,*,*}(Z) \to \operatorname{Ext}_{A_*}^{*,*}(\mathbb{F}_2, H_*k(2) \wedge \operatorname{tmf}^{\wedge n}) \to \mathcal{C}_{alg}^{n,*,*}(Z) \to 0$$

where

$$\mathcal{C}_{alg}^{n,*,*} \cong \mathbb{F}_2[v_2] \otimes \left[\mathbb{F}_2[\zeta_2^4, \zeta_3^2, \zeta_4^2, \cdots] / (\zeta_2^8, \zeta_3^8, \cdots) \right]^{\otimes n}$$

and $V_{alg}^{n,*,*}(Z)$ is a direct sum of shifted copies of \mathbb{F}_2 's which are simple v_2 -torsion (i.e., $v_2 \cdot x = 0$ for all elements x) which are concentrated in Adams filtration zero:

$$V^{n,*}(Z) := V^{n,0,*}_{alg}(Z) = V^{n,*,*}_{alg}(Z).$$

There is one subtle issue which we now must discuss: both sides of the equivalence

$$(3.2.4) \qquad \qquad \alpha: \operatorname{tmf} \wedge Z \xrightarrow{\simeq} k(2)$$

have potentially different notions of v_2 -multiplication. The spectrum Z has a v_2 -self map

$$v_2: \Sigma^6 Z \to Z$$

and k(2) has the multiplication-by- v_2 map

$$v_2: \Sigma^6 k(2) \to k(2).$$

Since the self-map of Z is a K(2)-equivalence, and since $\pi_6(k(2))$ only consists of 2 elements, it is easy to see that the following diagram commutes.



I.e., the two notions of " v_2 " are the same when regarded as elements of π_6 . However, this does not imply that the self map

$$1 \wedge v_2 : \Sigma^6 \operatorname{tmf} \wedge Z \to \operatorname{tmf} \wedge Z$$

is homotopic to the multiplication-by- v_2 map on k(2), because the map $1 \wedge v_2$ does not necessarily give a map of k(2)-modules under the equivalence (3.2.4).

However, all of our computations of ${}^{\text{tmf}}E_1^{*,*}(Z)$ will arise from the Adams spectral sequence, and the following lemma makes it clear that on the level of the Adams spectral sequence the two notions of v_2 -multiplication are the same. In particular, the " v_2 " in Proposition 3.2.2 may be taken to be the one coming from the v_2 -self map on Z.

Lemma 3.2.5. The diagram



commutes up to elements of higher Adams filtration.

Proof. The cofiber of the v_2 -self map on Z

$$\Sigma^6 Z \xrightarrow{v_2} Z \to A_2$$

is a spectrum whose cohomology is free of rank 1 over A(2). We therefore deduce that there is a cofiber sequence

 $\Sigma^6 \operatorname{tmf} \wedge Z \xrightarrow{1 \wedge v_2} \operatorname{tmf} \wedge Z \to H.$

Consider the following diagram of cofiber sequences.

The right square in this diagram commutes, since $H^0(\operatorname{tmf} \wedge Z) = \mathbb{F}_2$ has no nontrivial automorphisms. Therefore the dotted map β exists, making the diagram commute. Since the top and bottom rows are cofiber sequences, β must be an equivalence. Since $H^*k(2)$ is generated by the non-trivial element of $H^0k(2)$ as an A-module, α and β must induce the same map on cohomology. Therefore the difference $\alpha - \beta$ is in positive Adams filtration, and the result follows. \Box

Henceforth, by " v_2 " we shall *always* be referring to the v_2 -multiplication arising from the self-map on Z.

The following is an immediate corollary of Proposition 3.2.2 and Proposition 3.1.7.

Corollary 3.2.6. There is a short exact sequence of $\mathbb{F}_2[v_2]$ -modules

(3.2.7) $0 \to V^{n,*}(Z) \to {}^{\operatorname{tmf}}E_1^{n,*}(Z) \to \mathcal{C}^{n,*}(Z) \to 0,$

where $V^{*,*}(Z)$ is the module defined in Proposition 3.2.2, and,

$$\mathcal{C}^{n,*}(Z) \cong \mathbb{F}_2[v_2] \otimes \left[\mathbb{F}_2[\zeta_2^4, \zeta_3^2, \zeta_4^2, \cdots] / (\zeta_2^8, \zeta_3^8, \cdots) \right]^{\otimes n}.$$

3.3. The good and evil complexes. We now upgrade the decomposition of Corollary 3.2.6 to a short exact sequence of chain complexes. The first observation is the following.

Proposition 3.3.1. The subspace $V^{*,*}(Z)$ forms a subcomplex of ${}^{\mathrm{tmf}}E_1^{*,*}(Z)$.

Proof. This follows from the fact that the subspace $V^{*,*}(Z)$ is the subspace of of v_2 -torsion, and the differentials commute with v_2 -multiplication.

We will call $(V^{*,*}(Z), d_1)$ the *evil complex*. Since $(V^{*,*}(Z), d_1)$ forms a sub-complex of ${}^{\text{tmf}}E_1^{*,*}(Z)$, we can define $\mathcal{C}^{*,*}(Z)$ to be the quotient complex

$$0 \to V^{*,*}(Z) \to {}^{\operatorname{tmf}}E_1^{*,*}(Z) \to \mathcal{C}^{*,*}(Z) \to 0.$$

We will call $(\mathcal{C}^{*,*}(Z), d_1)$ the good complex.

Abbreviate $H^{*,*}(V) = H(V^{*,*}(Z), d_1)$ and $H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C}) = H(\mathcal{C}^{*,*}(Z), d_1)$. There is a long exact sequence

(3.3.2)
$$\cdots \to H^{*,*}(V) \to {}^{\operatorname{tmf}}E_2^{*,*}(Z) \to H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C}) \xrightarrow{\partial} H^{*+1,*}(V) \to \cdots$$

We will see that $H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C})$ can be almost completely computed, while $H^{*,*}(V)$ is mysterious. We call the elements of $H^{*,*}(V)$ evil and those of $H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C})$ good.

In [BBB⁺20], we establish a method for computing $H^{*,*}(V)$ in a range. The idea is to use the tmf-Mahowald spectral sequence (MSS),

(3.3.3)
$$\underset{alg}{\operatorname{tmf}} E_1^{n,s,t} = \operatorname{Ext}_A^{s,t}(H^*(\operatorname{tmf}^{\wedge n+1} \wedge Z), \mathbb{F}_2) \Rightarrow \operatorname{Ext}_A^{s+n,t}(H^*(Z), \mathbb{F}_2).$$

with

20

$$d_r: \underset{alg}{^{\mathrm{tmf}}} E_r^{n,s,t} \to \underset{alg}{^{\mathrm{tmf}}} E_r^{n+r,s-r+1,t}$$

The construction of this spectral sequence is identical to that of [BBB+20]. The E_1 -term fits into an exact sequence of chain complexes

$$0 \to V_{alg}^{*,*,*}(Z) \to {}^{\mathrm{tmf}}_{alg} E_1^{*,*,*} \to \mathcal{C}_{alg}^{*,*,*}(Z) \to 0$$

(see (3.2.3)) from which we obtain a long exact sequence (3.3.4)

$$\cdots \to H^{*,*,*}(V_{alg}) \to \underset{alg}{^{\operatorname{tmf}}} E_2^{*,*,*}(Z) \to H^{*,*,*}(\mathcal{C}_{alg}) \xrightarrow{\partial_{alg}} H^{*+1,*,*}(V_{alg}) \to \cdots$$

We will compute the cohomology $H^{*,*,*}(\mathcal{C}_{alg})$ explicitly, and the abutment of the tmf-MSS (3.3.3) can be computed through a range, for example using Bruner's program. From this, we can inductively deduce information about $H^{*,*,*}(V_{alg})$, at least through a range. Further, $H^{n,s,t}(V_{alg})$ is concentrated in degree s = 0 and the identification of cochain complexes

$$V^{n,t}(Z) \cong V^{n,0,t}_{ala}(Z)$$

implies that

$$H^{*,*}(V) \cong H^{*,0,*}(V_{alg}).$$

This isomorphism allows us to transfer information from the tmf-MSS to the tmf-ASS.

In order to understand ${}^{\mathrm{tmf}}E_2^{*,*}(Z)$ and ${}^{\mathrm{tmf}}a_{lg}E_2^{*,*,*}(Z)$, the first step is to compute $H^{*,*,*}(\mathcal{C})$ and $H^{*,*,*}(\mathcal{C}_{alg})$ (see Theorems 6.4.3 and 6.4.1 and Remark 6.4.4).

4. MORAVA STABILIZER GROUPS AND ALGEBRAS

Our goal will be to relate the good complex to the cobar complex for a certain subquotient $\tilde{\sigma}(2)$ of a form of the Morava stabilizer algebra — this will be done in Section 5. The purpose of this section is to prepare some computations which

we will use in the next section. Of particular importance will be Proposition 4.3.1, which gives a computation of the action of the group

$$G_{48} := \operatorname{Aut}(C) \rtimes \operatorname{Gal} < \mathbb{G}_2$$

on the E_2 -homology of the finite complex Z.

4.1. The Morava stabilizer algebra. Historically, the forms of Morava K-theory K(n) and Morava E-theory E_n were typically taken to be those associated to the Honda height n formal group \mathcal{H}_n . In the case of K(n), it is regarded as a formal group over \mathbb{F}_p , and in the case of E_n is regarded as a formal group over \mathbb{F}_{p^n} . The Honda height n formal group law is characterized as the unique p-typical formal group law with p-series given by [Rav86, A2.1]

$$[p]_{\mathcal{H}_n}(x) = x^{p^n}.$$

Its endomorphism ring is given by

$$\operatorname{End}(\mathcal{H}_n) \cong \mathbb{W}(\mathbb{F}_{p^n})\langle S \rangle / (Sa = a^{\sigma}S, S^n = p)$$

where $\mathbb{W}(\mathbb{F}_{p^n})$ is the Witt ring of \mathbb{F}_{p^n} , and σ is the lift of Frobenius. Every endomorphism $\phi \in \text{End}(\mathcal{H}_n)$ can be written uniquely as

$$a_0 + a_1 S + a_2 S^2 + \cdots$$

with $a_i \in \mathbb{W}(\mathbb{F}_{p^n})$ satisfying $a_i^{p^n} = a_i$. The associated Morava stabilizer group is given by

$$\mathbb{S}_n := \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{H}_n) = \{ \sum_i a_i S^i \in \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{H}_n) : a_0 \neq 0 \}.$$

Because we are using K(2), K_2 , and E_2 to denote the forms of Morava K- and E-theory associated to the formal group \widehat{C} , we will let K(2)', K'_2 , E'_2 denote the forms of Morava K- and E-theory associated to the Honda height 2 formal group \mathcal{H}_2 . The associated *Morava stabilizer algebra* $\Sigma(2)$ is the Hopf algebra over $K(2)'_*$ given by [Rav86, Sec. 6.1]

(4.1.1)
$$\Sigma(2) := K(2)'_* \otimes_{BP_*} BP_* BP \otimes_{BP_*} K(2)'_*$$
$$\cong \mathbb{F}_2[v_2^{\pm 1}][t_1, t_2, \ldots]/(t_k^4 - v_2^{2^k - 1}t_k).$$

The 2-periodic extension K'_2 of K(2)' has homotopy groups

$$(K_2')_* \cong \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]$$

with |u| = -2 and

$$v_2 = u^{-3}$$

We let

$$\Sigma_2 := (K_2')_* \otimes_{K(2)_+'} \Sigma(2)$$

denote the associated Hopf algebra over $(K'_2)_*$.

Let

$$S_2 = \left\{ \sum_{i \ge 0} a_i S^i \in \mathbb{S}_2 : a_0 = 1 \right\}$$

denote the 2-Sylow subgroup of \mathbb{S}_2 . The Morava stabilizer algebra $(\mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}], \Sigma_2)$ can be regarded as an algebra of functions on S_2 :

(4.1.2)
$$\Sigma_2 \cong \operatorname{Map}^c(S_2, (K_2)_*)$$
$$\cong \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}][t_1, t_2, \ldots]/(t_k^4 - v_2^{2^k - 1}t_k).$$

Here, Map^c denotes the continuous functions where S_2 is given its profinite topology and $(K_2)_*$ is given the discrete topology, and the functions t_k are defined as

(4.1.3)
$$t_k(1+a_1S+a_2S^2+\ldots) = a_ku^{1-2^k}$$

The coproduct ψ is determined by $\psi(t_k) = \sum t'_k \otimes t''_k$ where

$$t_k(g'g'') = \sum t'_k(g')t''_k(g''), \quad g', g'' \in S_2$$

The cohomology of Σ_2 was essentially studied by Ravenel in [Rav86, Thm. 6.3.27], and Ravenel's approach to this computation will be used in Section 6 to give an essential foothold in the computation of the cohomology of the good complex.

4.2. The elliptic Morava stabilizer group. We will begin this subsection with a discussion of the extended Morava stabilizer group associated to the unique isomorphism class of supersingular elliptic curve C defined over \mathbb{F}_2 , and its relationship with both TMF and the more traditionally studied Morava stabilizer group associated to the Honda height 2 formal group \mathcal{H}_2 . We will then introduce a certain quotient $\overline{\Sigma}_2$ of Σ_2 associated to an open subgroup of this extended Morava stabilizer group.

We first recall some facts about the automorphism group of the supersingular elliptic curve C, and its associated formal group. We refer to [Bea17] and [Hen18] for more details in this context.

Over \mathbb{F}_4 , the endomorphism ring of the elliptic curve $C: y^2 + y = x^3$ is the maximal order (the Hurwitz integers)

$$\operatorname{End}(C) = \mathbb{Z}\left\{1, i, j, \frac{1+i+j+k}{2}\right\}$$

in the quaternion algebra

$$D = \mathbb{Q}\langle i, j \rangle / (i^2 = -1, j^2 = -1, ij = -ji)$$

with k := ij [Deu41, pp. 237-9]. Define

$$\omega = -\frac{1}{2}(1+i+j+k).$$

Then we have

$$\omega^3 = 1, \quad \omega^2 + \omega + 1 = 0,$$

and

$$\omega i \omega^2 = j, \ \omega j \omega^2 = k, \ \omega k \omega^2 = i,$$

The automorphism group of C is the subgroup of D^{\times} generated by

$$Q_8 = \{\pm 1, \pm i, \pm j, \pm k\}$$

and ω , so we have

$$G_{24} := \operatorname{Aut}(C) = Q_8 \rtimes C_3.$$

We define

$$T := j - k \in \text{End}(C)$$

so we have

 $T^2 = -2.$

Then D has the alternative presentation as

(4.2.1)
$$\mathbb{Q}(\omega)\langle T \rangle / (Ta = a^{\sigma}T, T^2 = -2)$$

where $\omega^{\sigma} = \omega^2$ is the action of the Galois group

$$\operatorname{Gal} := \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\omega)/\mathbb{Q}) \cong \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{F}_4/\mathbb{F}_2) = \langle \sigma \rangle.$$

For example, $i \in D$ can be expressed as $\frac{1}{1+2\omega}(1-T)$ in (4.2.1).

Since the curve C is defined over \mathbb{F}_2 , the Galois group Gal also acts on End(C), and hence on Aut(C) and D. This action is encoded in the following lemma.

Lemma 4.2.2. The Galois action on an element $x \in D$ is given by

$$x^{\sigma} = -\frac{1}{2}TxT.$$

 $\mathit{Proof.}$ As discussed in Section 2, the elliptic curve C admits a Weierstrass presentation

(4.2.3)
$$y^2 + y = x^3.$$

This means that for an \mathbb{F}_2 -algebra R, the R-points of the elliptic curve C is given by

$$C(R) = \{(x, y) \in R^2 : y^2 + y = x^3\} \cup \{\infty\}.$$

The \mathbb{F}_4 points of *C* form a group isomorphic to $\mathbb{F}_3 \times \mathbb{F}_3$. A basis for this \mathbb{F}_3 -vector space is given in (x, y) coordinates by

$$P_1 := (0, 0),$$

 $P_2 := (1, \omega).$

The generators i and ω of the group $G_{24} = \operatorname{Aut}(C)$ correspond to the automorphisms

$$\begin{split} &i:(x,y)\mapsto (x+1,y+x+\omega^2),\\ &\omega:(x,y)\mapsto (\omega^2 x,y). \end{split}$$

The induced action of these automorphisms on the \mathbb{F}_4 -points of the curve C, with respect to the basis (P_1, P_2) , induces a representation

$$\rho: G_{24} \hookrightarrow GL_2(\mathbb{F}_3)$$

with

$$\rho(i) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1\\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$
$$\rho(\omega) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -1\\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

The Galois action on $C(\mathbb{F}_4)$ extends the representation ρ to an isomorphism

(4.2.4)
$$\widetilde{\rho}: G_{48} := G_{24} \rtimes \operatorname{Gal} \xrightarrow{\cong} GL_2(\mathbb{F}_3)$$

given by

$$\widetilde{\rho}(\sigma) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

One can therefore use this isomorphism to deduce that

$$i^{\sigma} = -i,$$

 $\omega^{\sigma} = \omega^{2}.$

One easily checks from this:

$$T^{\sigma} = (j - k)^{\sigma}$$

= $(\omega i \omega^2 - \omega^2 i \omega)^{\sigma}$
= $\omega^2 (-i) \omega - \omega (-i) \omega^2$
= T.

From the presentation (4.2.1), every element $x \in D$ takes the form

$$x_0 + x_1 T$$

with $x_i \in \mathbb{Q}(\omega)$. We then compute

$$-\frac{1}{2}TxT = -\frac{1}{2}T(x_0 + x_1T)T$$

= $-\frac{1}{2}Tx_0T - \frac{1}{2}Tx_1T^2$
= $-\frac{1}{2}T^2x_0^{\sigma} + Tx_1$
= $x_0^{\sigma} + x_1^{\sigma}T$
= $(x_0 + x_1T)^{\sigma}$
= x^{σ} .

The formal group of \widehat{C} has -2-series

$$[-2]_{\widehat{C}}(x) = x^4.$$

The endomorphism ring of the formal group \widehat{C} is the maximal order

$$\operatorname{End}(\widehat{C}) = \mathbb{W}(\mathbb{F}_4) \langle T \rangle / (Ta = a^{\sigma}T, T^2 = -2)$$

in the 2-adic division algebra

$$D_2 := D \otimes \mathbb{Q}_2$$

where $\mathbb{W}(\mathbb{F}_4) = \mathbb{Z}_2[\omega]/(\omega^2 + \omega + 1)$ is the Witt ring. The associated Morava stabilizer group

$$\mathbb{S}_2 := \operatorname{Aut}(\widehat{C})$$

is the group of units in the order $\operatorname{End}(\widehat{C})$. Since \widehat{C} is defined over \mathbb{F}_2 , its automorphism group \mathbb{S}_2 also gets an action of Gal, with Galois action given by

$$g^{\sigma} = -\frac{1}{2}TgT,$$

and we let

$$\mathbb{G}_2 := \mathbb{S}_2 \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}$$

denote the resulting extended Morava stabilizer group. The subgroup G_{48} is a maximal finite subgroup of \mathbb{G}_2 .

It is observed in [Bea17, Sec. 3.1] and [Hen18] that the formal group \widehat{C} and the Honda formal group \mathcal{H}_2 have isomorphic endomorphism rings. Explicitly, one gets an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{End}(\widehat{C}) \cong \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{H}_2)$$

by mapping

where

$$\alpha = \frac{1-2\omega}{\sqrt{-7}} \in \mathbb{W}(\mathbb{F}_4)$$

(for the choice of $\sqrt{-7} \in \mathbb{Z}_2$ with $\sqrt{-7} \equiv 1 \pmod{4}$). The essential property of α is that

 $\alpha \alpha^{\sigma} = -1.$

This induces an isomorphism

(4.2.6)
$$\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{H}_2) \cong \operatorname{Aut}(\widehat{C}) = \mathbb{S}_2.$$

However, this isomorphism is not Gal-equivariant!

Thus the group S_2 admits two different Galois actions, one coming from the natural Galois action on $\operatorname{Aut}(\widehat{C})$ and one coming from the natural Galois action on $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{H}_2)$ using the isomorphism (4.2.6). We shall let

$$\operatorname{Gal} < \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{S}_2)$$

denote the subgroup generated by the Galois automorphism σ coming from C, and let

$$\operatorname{Gal}' < \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{S}_2)$$

be the subgroup generated by the Galois automorphism σ' coming from \mathcal{H}_2 . The action of σ' is given by

$$g^{\sigma'} = \frac{1}{2}SgS.$$

We will denote the corresponding extended Morava stabilizer group by

$$\mathbb{G}_2' := \mathbb{S}_2 \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}'.$$

Lemma 4.2.7. For $g \in \mathbb{S}_2$ we have

$$g^{\sigma} = -\alpha g^{\sigma'} \alpha^{\sigma}.$$

Proof. We compute

$$g^{\sigma} = -\frac{1}{2}TgT$$

= $-\frac{1}{2}\alpha Sg\alpha S$
= $-\alpha \frac{1}{2}SgS\alpha^{\sigma}$
= $-\alpha g^{\sigma'}\alpha^{\sigma}$.

The inclusion of G_{24} in \mathbb{S}_2 gives a splitting of the short exact sequence

$$1 \to K \to \mathbb{S}_2 \to G_{24} \to 1$$

where K is the open normal subgroup of \mathbb{S}_2

(4.2.8)
$$K = \{1 + a_2 S^2 + a_3 S^3 + \dots \in \mathbb{S}_2 : a_2 \in \{0, \omega\}\}$$

discussed at length in Section 2.5 of [Bea15].

The inclusion of groups

$$K \hookrightarrow S_2$$

corresponds to a quotient of Hopf algebras

 $\Sigma_2 \to \overline{\Sigma}_2$

where

(4.2.9)
$$\Sigma_2 = \operatorname{Map}^c(K, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm}]) \\ \cong \Sigma_2/(t_1, \omega v_2 t_2 + t_2^2)$$

(compare with [Rav86, Proposition 6.3.30], but Ravenel's choice of K is Galois conjugate to ours).

4.3. The Morava *E*-homology of *Z*. In this subsection we will use the computations of [BE20b] to derive the following result (where G_{48} is the group (4.2.4)).

Proposition 4.3.1. There is an isomorphism of G_{48} -modules

$$(E_2)_*Z \cong \operatorname{CoInd}_{C_3 \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}}^{G_{48}} \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]$$

where $C_3 \rtimes \text{Gal} acts on \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]$ via

$$\omega_*(\lambda u^k) = \lambda \omega^k u^k, \quad \sigma_*(\lambda u^k) = \lambda^\sigma u^k.$$

Corollary 4.3.2. There is an isomorphism of Q_8 -modules

$$(E_2)_*Z \cong \operatorname{CoInd}_1^{Q_8} \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}].$$

The proof of Proposition 4.3.1 will require some preliminary recollections from [BE20b]. Recall we are using E'_2 to denote the Morava *E*-theory spectrum associated to the Honda height 2 formal group over \mathbb{F}_4 . The spectrum E'_2 has an action of the extended Morava stabilizer group $\mathbb{G}'_2 = \mathbb{S}_2 \rtimes \text{Gal}'$ of the previous subsection.

The third author and Egger computed $(E'_2)_*Z$ as

$$(4.3.3) (E'_2)_*Z \cong \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm}]\{\bar{x}_0, \bar{x}_2, \bar{x}_4, \bar{x}_6, \bar{y}_6, \bar{y}_8, \bar{y}_{10}, \bar{y}_{12}\}, \quad |\bar{x}_i| = |\bar{y}_i| = 0,$$

with an explicit action of S_2 [BE20b, Table 1]. Since the generators $u^{i/2}\bar{x}_i$ and $u^{i/2}y_i$ are in the image of the map

$$BP_*Z \to (E'_2)_*Z,$$

they have trivial action of the Galois group Gal', and therefore Gal' acts on (4.3.3) by acting on \mathbb{F}_4 . Following the proof of [BE20b, Thm. 4.12], we see that for any $x \in (E'_2)_0 Z$ with

(4.3.4)
$$x = \bar{y}_{12} + \alpha_0 \bar{x}_0 + \alpha_2 \bar{x}_2 + \alpha_4 \bar{x}_4 + \alpha_6 \bar{x}_6, \quad \alpha_i \in \mathbb{F}_4$$

we have⁴

(4.3.5)
$$(E'_2)_0 Z = \mathbb{F}_4[Q_8]\{x\}.$$

Proof of Proposition 4.3.1. Let \bar{E}_2 denote the Morava *E*-theory associated to the height 2 Honda formal group over the algebraic closure $\bar{\mathbb{F}}_2$, with action of

$$\bar{\mathbb{G}}_2' = \mathbb{S}_2 \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}(\bar{\mathbb{F}}_2/\mathbb{F}_2).$$

Let σ' denote the Frobenius, regarded as a generator of $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_2/\mathbb{F}_2)$, acting on \mathbb{S}_2 as in the previous subsection. Then we have

$$E_2' \simeq \bar{E}_2^{h\langle (\sigma')^2 \rangle}$$

Since the formal group of the elliptic curve C is isomorphic to the Honda formal group over $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_2$, we deduce that the associated Morava E-theory is the same, but the action of the Galois group is different. The calculations of the previous subsection imply that if we define

$$\sigma := \alpha \sigma' \in \bar{\mathbb{G}}_2'$$

then the Morava *E*-theory associated to the formal group of *C* over \mathbb{F}_4 is given by

$$E_2 \simeq \bar{E}_2^{h\langle(\sigma)^2\rangle}$$

Since $\sigma^4 = (\sigma')^4$, we deduce that E_2 and E'_2 have the common extension

$$E_2'' := \bar{E}_2^{h\langle \sigma^4 \rangle}.$$

We therefore have

$$(E_2'')_0 Z = \mathbb{F}_{16} \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_4} (E_2')_0 Z \cong \mathbb{F}_{16}[Q_8]\{x\}$$

for any x of the form (4.3.4) (with $\alpha_i \in \mathbb{F}_{16}$). Let $\widetilde{\omega} \in \mathbb{F}_{16}^{\times}$ be a generator, so that

$$\widetilde{\omega}^{\sigma^4} = \widetilde{\omega}^{16} = \widetilde{\omega}$$

Since $\widetilde{\omega} + \widetilde{\omega}^4 \in \mathbb{F}_4$ we can take $\widetilde{\omega}$ so that

$$\widetilde{\omega} + \widetilde{\omega}^4 = \omega \in \mathbb{F}_4.$$

Define

$$x := \bar{y}_{12} + (1 + \tilde{\omega}^4 + \tilde{\omega}^8)\bar{x}_6 + (a+b)(\tilde{\omega} + \tilde{\omega}^8)\bar{x}_6$$

(where $a, b \in \mathbb{F}_2$ are those associated to the choice of $Z \in \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}$ as in [BE20b, Lem. 3.5]). Then it follows from [BE20b, Table 1] and

$$\alpha = 1 + 2\omega \mod 4$$

that

(1)
$$\sigma = \alpha \sigma'$$
 acts trivially on x,

- (2) $\langle \omega \rangle = C_3 < \mathbb{S}_2$ acts trivially on x,
- (3) x generates $(E_2'')_0 Z$ as a free $\mathbb{F}_{16}[Q_8]$ -module.

⁴In the notation of [BE20b], we have $x = k \cdot c'_3$ + terms involving c_i , where $k \in Q_8$ is the unit quaternion.

It follows that x generates

$$(E_2)_0 Z \cong [(E_2'')_0 Z]^{\langle \sigma^2 \rangle}$$

as an $\mathbb{F}_4[Q_8]$ -module. This, together with (1) and (2) above, implies

$$(E_2)_*Z \cong \operatorname{CoInd}_{C_3 \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}}^{G_{48}} \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}] \cong \operatorname{Map}_{C_3 \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}}(G_{48}, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]).$$

While Proposition 4.3.1 describes $(E_2)_*Z$ as a G_{48} -module, it is natural to ask for a similar description of $(E_2)_*Z$ as a \mathbb{G}_2 -module. The following proposition does almost that: it computes $(E_2)_*Z$ as an \mathbb{S}_2 -module using the subgroup K (4.2.8).

Proposition 4.3.6. There is an isomorphism of S_2 -modules

$$(E_2)_*Z \cong \operatorname{CoInd}_{C_3 \ltimes K}^{\mathbb{S}_2} \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}].$$

Corollary 4.3.7. There is an isomorphism of S_2 -modules

$$(E_2)_*Z \cong \operatorname{CoInd}_K^{S_2}\mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}].$$

Remark 4.3.8. It is tempting to look for an analog of Proposition 4.3.6 which also incorporates the Galois action, but this is complicated by the fact that the subgroup K is not Galois invariant.

Proof. Using the notation of Proposition 4.3.1, consider the diagram



Since the generators

 $u^{i/2}\bar{x}_i, u^{i/2}\bar{y}_i \in (E'_2)_*Z$

of (4.3.3) come from BP_*Z , it follows that

(4.3.9)
$$(E_2)_* Z \cong \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]\{\bar{x}_0, \bar{x}_2, \bar{x}_4, \bar{x}_6, \bar{y}_6, \bar{y}_8, \bar{y}_{10}, \bar{y}_{12}\}$$

The action of S_2 on (4.3.9) is computed in Table 1 of [BE20b]. In particular, it is easy to check that the map

$$\pi: (E_2)_*Z \to \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]$$

given by

 $\pi(\alpha_0 \bar{x}_0 \cdots \alpha_6 \bar{x}_6 + \beta_0 \bar{y}_6 + \cdots + \beta_{12} \bar{y}_{12}) = \beta_{12}$

is $C_3 \ltimes K$ -equivariant. Thus it induces a \mathbb{S}_2 -equivariant map

$$\widetilde{\pi}: (E_2)_* Z \to \operatorname{CoInd}_{C_3 \ltimes K}^{\mathbb{S}_2} \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}].$$

This can be checked to be an isomorphism using (4.3.5) and the fact that the composite

$$Q_8 \to \mathbb{S}_2 \to \mathbb{S}_2/(C_3 \ltimes K)$$

is an isomorphism.

5. Computation of the differentials in the good complex

The main result of this section (Definition 5.2.6, Theorem 5.2.8) is that there is a sub-Hopf algebra

$$(k(2)_*, \widetilde{\sigma}(2)) \subset ((K_2)_*, \overline{\Sigma}_2)$$

such that the good complex is isomorphic to the associated cobar complex [Rav86, Definition A1.2.11]:

$$\mathcal{C}^{*,*}(Z) \cong C^*_{\widetilde{\sigma}(2)}(k(2)_*).$$

5.1. The good complex as a subcomplex of the cobar complex of $\overline{\Sigma}_2$. The map tmf \rightarrow TMF induces a map of spectral sequences

(5.1.1) ${}^{\operatorname{tmf}}E_r^{*,*}(Z) \to {}^{\operatorname{TMF}}E_r^{*,*}(Z).$

The kernel of ${}^{\operatorname{tmf}}E_1^{*,*}(Z) \to {}^{\operatorname{TMF}}E_1^{*,*}(Z)$ is $V^{*,*}(Z)$ and the image is

 $\mathcal{C}^{*,*}(Z) \subseteq {}^{\mathrm{TMF}}E_1^{*,*}(Z).$

We will now show the complex ${}^{\text{TMF}}E_1(Z)$ can be regarded as a subcomplex of the cobar complex for the Hopf algebra $\overline{\Sigma}_2$. The first step will be to express the E_1 -term in terms of the Morava stabilizer group (Corollary 5.1.4).

For a profinite set $T = \lim_{i \to i} T_i$ and an abelian group M, let

$$\operatorname{Map}^{c}(T, M) = \lim \operatorname{Map}(T_{i}, M)$$

denote the abelian group of continuous maps, where T is given the profinite topology, and M is given the discrete topology. If G is a group which acts on T and on M, then there is an induced *conjugation action* on Map^c(T, M), given by

$$(g \cdot f)(t) = gf(g^{-1}t)$$

for $g \in G$, $f \in \operatorname{Map}^{c}(T, M)$, and $t \in T$.

Lemma 5.1.2. There is a \mathbb{G}_2 -equivariant isomorphism

 $(E_2)_*(\mathrm{TMF} \wedge Z) \cong \mathrm{Map}^c(\mathbb{G}_2/G_{48}, (E_2)_*Z)$

(where \mathbb{G}_2 acts on Map^c by the conjugation action on functions), and this leads to an isomorphism

$$\pi_* \mathrm{TMF} \wedge \mathrm{TMF} \wedge Z \cong \mathrm{Map}_{C_2 \rtimes \mathrm{Gal}}^c (\mathbb{G}_2/G_{48}, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}])$$

where $\operatorname{Map}_{C_3 \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}}^c(\mathbb{G}_2/G_{48}, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}])$ denotes the $C_3 \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}$ equivariant continuous maps.

Proof. Since Z is a type 2 complex, $X \wedge Z$ is K(2)-local for any E(2)-local spectrum X (see proof of [HS99, Lem. 7.2]). In particular, (2.2.3) implies

(5.1.3)
$$\operatorname{TMF} \wedge Z \simeq E_2^{hG_{48}} \wedge Z.$$

Using the fact that for finite groups, homotopy fixed points and homotopy orbits of K(2)-local spectra are K(2)-locally equivalent [Kuh04], we get

$$\mathrm{TMF} \wedge \mathrm{TMF} \wedge Z \simeq E_2^{hG_{48}} \wedge E_2^{hG_{48}} \wedge Z \simeq (E_2 \wedge (E_2^{hG_{48}} \wedge Z))^{hG_{48}}.$$

We use the homotopy fixed point spectral sequence

$$H^{s}(G_{48}, (E_2)_t(E_2^{hG_{48}} \wedge Z)) \Longrightarrow \pi_{t-s} \mathrm{TMF} \wedge \mathrm{TMF} \wedge Z.$$

By [BBGS18, Corollary 2.1],

$$(E_2)_*(E_2^{hG_{48}} \wedge Z) \cong (E_2)_*(E_2 \wedge Z)^{hG_{48}} \cong \operatorname{Map}^c(\mathbb{G}_2/G_{48}, (E_2)_*Z)$$

with action of G_{48} given by the conjugation action on functions. Since we have an isomorphism of G_{48} -modules

$$(E_2)_*Z \cong \operatorname{CoInd}_{C_3 \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}}^{G_{48}} \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}] \cong \operatorname{Map}_{C_3 \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}}(G_{48}, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}])$$

it follows that

30

$$(E_2)_*(E_2 \wedge Z)^{hG_{48}} \cong \operatorname{Map}_{C_3 \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}}(G_{48}, \operatorname{Map}^c(\mathbb{G}_2/G_{48}, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}])).$$

In particular, the E_2 -term of the homotopy fixed point spectral sequence is

$$H^*(G_{48}, (E_2)_*(E_2 \wedge Z)^{hG_{48}}) \cong H^*(C_3 \rtimes \text{Gal}, \text{Map}^c(\mathbb{G}_2/G_{48}, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}])).$$

Since C_3 has order coprime to 2 and Gal acts freely on \mathbb{F}_4 , the E_2 -term is concentrated in degree s = 0, and is given by

$$\operatorname{Map}^{c}(\mathbb{G}_{2}/G_{48},\mathbb{F}_{4}[u^{\pm 1}])^{C_{3}\rtimes\operatorname{Gal}}$$

The spectral sequence collapses, giving the result.

Corollary 5.1.4. For $s \ge 1$, there is a \mathbb{G}_2 -equivariant isomorphism

$$(E_2)_*(\mathrm{TMF}^{\wedge s} \wedge Z) \cong \mathrm{Map}^c((\mathbb{G}_2/G_{48})^{\times s}, (E_2)_*Z)$$

with the diagonal action on $(\mathbb{G}_2/G_{48})^{\times s}$ and action on Map^c the conjugation action on functions. This leads to an isomorphism

$$^{\mathrm{TMF}}E_1^{s,*}(Z) \cong \pi_* \mathrm{TMF}^{\wedge s+1} \wedge Z \cong \mathrm{Map}_{C_3 \rtimes \mathrm{Gal}}^c(\underbrace{\mathbb{G}_2 \times_{G_{48}} \cdots \times_{G_{48}} \mathbb{G}_2}_{c} / G_{48}, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]).$$

The left action of $C_3 \rtimes \text{Gal}$ on

$$\mathbb{G}_2 \times_{G_{48}} \cdots \times_{G_{48}} \mathbb{G}_2/G_{48}$$

is via by left multiplication on the first factor of \mathbb{G}_2 .

Proof. We proceed by induction on s. The case of s = 1 is Lemma 5.1.2. Suppose that the claim holds for s - 1. Then

$$E_2 \wedge \mathrm{TMF}^{\wedge s} \wedge Z \simeq E_2 \wedge E_2^{hG_{48}} \wedge \mathrm{TMF}^{\wedge (s-1)} \wedge Z$$
$$\simeq (E_2 \wedge E_2 \wedge \mathrm{TMF}^{\wedge (s-1)} \wedge Z)^{hG_4}$$

where G_{48} acts on the second copy of E_2 . The E_2 -page of the homotopy fixed point spectral sequence is given by

$$H^*(G_{48}, (E_2)_*(E_2 \wedge \mathrm{TMF}^{\wedge (s-1)} \wedge Z)).$$

Furthermore,

$$(E_2)_*(E_2 \wedge \mathrm{TMF}^{\wedge (s-1)} \wedge Z) \cong \mathrm{Map}^c(\mathbb{G}_2, (E_2)_* \mathrm{TMF}^{\wedge (s-1)} \wedge Z)$$
$$\cong \mathrm{Map}^c(\mathbb{G}_2, \mathrm{Map}^c((\mathbb{G}_2/G_{48})^{\times (s-1)}, (E_2)_*Z)).$$

It follows that

$$H^{*}(G_{48}, (E_{2})_{*}(E_{2} \wedge \mathrm{TMF}^{\wedge (s-1)} \wedge Z)) \cong H^{0}(G_{48}, (E_{2})_{*}(E_{2} \wedge \mathrm{TMF}^{\wedge (s-1)} \wedge Z))$$
$$\cong \mathrm{Map}^{c}((\mathbb{G}_{2}/G_{48})^{\times s}, (E_{2})_{*}Z).$$

which proves the first claim.

Next,

$$\mathrm{TMF}^{\wedge (s+1)} \wedge Z \simeq (E_2 \wedge \mathrm{TMF}^{\wedge s} \wedge Z)^{hG_{48}}.$$

We use the homotopy fixed point spectral sequence again, together with the fact that

$$(E_2)_*(\mathrm{TMF}^{\wedge s} \wedge Z) \cong \mathrm{Map}^c((\mathbb{G}_2/G_{48})^{\times s}, (E_2)_*Z)$$
$$\cong \mathrm{Map}^c((\mathbb{G}_2/G_{48})^{\times s}, \mathrm{Map}_{C_3 \rtimes \mathrm{Gal}}(G_{48}, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]))$$
$$\cong \mathrm{Map}_{C_3 \rtimes \mathrm{Gal}}(G_{48}, \mathrm{Map}^c((\mathbb{G}_2/G_{48})^{\times s}, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}])).$$

The proof of the first isomorphism is finished in a way analogous to that of Lemma 5.1.2.

For a group G, a subgroup $H \leq G,$ an a $G\text{-set}\ X,$ the shearing isomorphism is the isomorphism

$$G \times_H X \xrightarrow{\cong} G/H \times X,$$
$$(g, x) \mapsto (g, gx).$$

Note that the shearing isomorphism is G-equivariant, where G acts on the source through its action on the left factor, and G acts on the target through the diagonal action.

Iterating the shearing isomorphism yields a \mathbb{G}_2 -equivariant isomorphism

$$\underbrace{\mathbb{G}_2 \times_{G_{48}} \cdots \times_{G_{48}} \mathbb{G}_2}_{s} / G_{48} \cong (\mathbb{G}_2 / G_{48})^{\times s},$$

and we therefore have an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Map}_{C_3 \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}}^c((\mathbb{G}_2/G_{48})^{\times s}, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]) \cong \operatorname{Map}_{C_3 \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}}^c(\underbrace{\mathbb{G}_2 \times_{G_{48}} \cdots \times_{G_{48}} \mathbb{G}_2}_s/G_{48}, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}])$$

It is not immediately clear how the groups

$$\operatorname{Map}_{C_3 \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}}^c(\mathbb{G}_2^{\times_{G_{48}}s}/G_{48}, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}])$$

in Corollary 5.1.4 form a cochain complex. We will now address this by showing that they are a subcomplex of the E_2 -based Adams spectral sequence for Z.

The map of spectra TMF $\rightarrow E_2$ induces a map of Adams spectral sequences. The induced map on E_1 -terms

$${}^{\mathrm{TMF}}E_1(Z) \to {}^{E_2}E_1(Z)$$

is given by the canonical inclusion

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Map}_{C_3 \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}}^c(\mathbb{G}_2^{\times_{G_{48}}s}/G_{48}, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]) &\cong \operatorname{Map}_{G_{48}}^c(\mathbb{G}_2^{\times_{G_{48}}s}/G_{48}, \operatorname{CoInd}_{C_3 \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}}^{G_{48}}\mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]) \\ &\subseteq \operatorname{Map}^c(\mathbb{G}_2^s, \operatorname{CoInd}_{C_3 \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}}^{G_{48}}\mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]) \end{aligned}$$

where, by Proposition 4.3.1, the latter is the cobar complex for \mathbb{G}_2 acting on $(E_2)_*Z$:

$$C^{s}_{\mathbb{G}_{2}}((E_{2})_{*}Z) \cong {}^{E_{2}}E^{s,*}_{1}(Z).$$

In particular, the differential in the cobar complex for \mathbb{G}_2 restricts to give the differential on the subcomplex

$$\operatorname{Map}_{C_3 \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}}^c(\mathbb{G}_2^{\times_{G_{48}}s}/G_{48}, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]) \subseteq \operatorname{Map}^c(\mathbb{G}_2^s, (E_2)_*Z).$$

We now have the following lemma.

32

Lemma 5.1.5. There is an embedding of cochain complexes

^{TMF}
$$E_1(Z) \subset C^*_{\overline{\Sigma}_2}((K_2)_*).$$

where $C^*_{\overline{\Sigma}_2}((K_2)_*)$ is the cobar complex of the Hopf algebra $((K_2)_*, \overline{\Sigma}_2)$ of (4.2.9).

Proof. The injection comes from the map (*) in the following diagram

$$\operatorname{Map}_{C_{3}\rtimes\operatorname{Gal}}^{c}(\mathbb{G}_{2}^{\times G_{48}s}/G_{48},\mathbb{F}_{4}[u^{\pm 1}]) \xrightarrow{(*)}{} \operatorname{Map}_{C_{3}\rtimes\operatorname{Gal}}^{c}(\mathbb{G}_{2}^{\times G_{48}s}/G_{48},\mathbb{F}_{4}[u^{\pm 1}]) \xrightarrow{(*)}{} \operatorname{Map}^{c}(\mathbb{G}_{2}^{\times G_{48}s}/G_{48},\mathbb{F}_{4}[u^{\pm 1}]) \xrightarrow{\beta} \operatorname{Map}^{c}(\mathbb{G}_{2}^{s},(E_{2})_{*}Z)$$

where α is the natural inclusion, β is the composite coming from the isomorphism of Corollary 4.3.2:

$$\begin{split} \beta : \operatorname{Map}^{c}(\mathbb{G}_{2}^{\times_{G_{48}}s}/G_{48}, \mathbb{F}_{4}[u^{\pm 1}]) &\cong \operatorname{Map}_{Q_{8}}^{c}(\mathbb{G}_{2}^{\times_{G_{48}}s}/G_{48}, \operatorname{CoInd}_{1}^{Q_{8}}\mathbb{F}_{4}[u^{\pm 1}]) \\ &\cong \operatorname{Map}_{Q_{8}}^{c}(\mathbb{G}_{2}^{\times_{G_{48}}s}/G_{48}, (E_{2})_{*}Z) \\ &\hookrightarrow \operatorname{Map}^{c}(\mathbb{G}_{2}^{\times_{G_{48}}s}/G_{48}, (E_{2})_{*}Z), \end{split}$$

and γ is the composite coming from the isomorphism of Corollary 4.3.7:

$$\begin{split} \gamma : \operatorname{Map}^{c}(\mathbb{G}_{2}^{s}, (E_{2})_{*}Z) &\to \operatorname{Map}^{c}(S_{2}^{s}, (E_{2})_{*}Z) \\ &\cong \operatorname{Map}^{c}(S_{2}^{s}, \operatorname{CoInd}_{K}^{S_{2}}\mathbb{F}_{4}[u^{\pm 1}]) \\ &\to \operatorname{Map}^{c}(K^{s}, \operatorname{CoInd}_{K}^{S_{2}}\mathbb{F}_{4}[u^{\pm 1}]) \\ & \xrightarrow{(ev_{1})_{*}} \operatorname{Map}^{c}(K^{s}, \mathbb{F}_{4}[u^{\pm 1}]). \end{split}$$

Here, $(ev_1)_*$ is the map induced by the evaluation at $1 \in S_2$ map:

$$ev_1: \operatorname{CoInd}_K^{S_2} \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}] = \operatorname{Map}_K(S_2, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]) \to \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm}].$$

The map γ is easily seen to be a map of cochain complexes. The discussion prior to the statement of this lemma implies that the composite $\beta \circ \alpha$ is a map of cochain complexes. This implies that (*) is a map of cochain complexes. It follows from the fact that the composite

$$(5.1.6) K \to \mathbb{G}_2 \to \mathbb{G}_2/G_{48}$$

is a homeomorphism that the composite $\gamma \circ \beta$ is an isomorphism. Since α is injective, we deduce that (*) is injective.

5.2. The sub-Hopf algebra $\widetilde{\Sigma}(2) \subset \overline{\Sigma}_2$. We shall now study a sub-Hopf algebra $(K(2)_*, \widetilde{\Sigma}(2))$ of the Hopf algebra $((K_2)_*, \overline{\Sigma}_2)$ of (4.2.9) such that the image of ^{TMF} $E_1(Z)$ in the cobar complex for $\overline{\Sigma}_2$ is the cobar complex for $\widetilde{\Sigma}(2)$.

Define Hopf algebras

$$\widetilde{\Sigma}(2) \subset \overline{\Sigma}(2) \subset \overline{\Sigma}_2$$

by letting $\widetilde{\Sigma}(2)$ be the image of the map

$$\operatorname{Map}_{C_3 \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}}^c(\mathbb{G}_2/G_{48}, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Map}^c(K, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]) = \overline{\Sigma}_2$$

and letting $\overline{\Sigma}(2)$ be the image of the map

$$\operatorname{Map}_{C_3}^c(\mathbb{G}_2/G_{48}, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Map}^c(K, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]) = \overline{\Sigma}_2.$$

Under the isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Map}^{c}(\mathbb{G}_{2}/G_{48},\mathbb{F}_{4}[u^{\pm}]) \cong \operatorname{Map}^{c}(K,\mathbb{F}_{4}[u^{\pm}]) = \overline{\Sigma}_{2}$$

coming from the homeomorphism (5.1.6), the conjugation action of $C_3 \rtimes \text{Gal}$ on $\text{Map}^c(\mathbb{G}_2/G_{48}, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm}])$ induces an action of $C_3 \rtimes \text{Gal}$ on $\overline{\Sigma}_2$ such that

$$\overline{\Sigma}(2) = \overline{\Sigma}_2^{C_3},$$

$$\widetilde{\Sigma}(2) = \overline{\Sigma}(2)^{\text{Gal}} = \overline{\Sigma}_2^{C_3 \rtimes \text{Gal}}$$

We now compute this action of $C_3 \rtimes \text{Gal}$ on

(5.2.1)
$$\overline{\Sigma}_2 = \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}][\bar{t}_2, \bar{t}_3, \cdots]/(\bar{t}_2^2 + \omega v_2 \bar{t}_2, \bar{t}_k^4 + v_2^{2^k - 1} \bar{t}_k).$$

Here we use \overline{t}_k to denote the image of $t_k \in \Sigma_2$ (see 4.1.3) in $\overline{\Sigma}_2$. Let σ be the generator of Gal, and we will denote the generator of $C_3 \subset \mathbb{G}_2$ by ω , our fixed choice of 3rd root of unity.

Recall [Bea15] that elements $x \in K$ can be written as

$$x = 1 + a_2 S^2 + a_3 S^3 + \cdots$$

with $a_2 \in \{0, \omega\}$ and $a_i \in \{0, 1, \omega, \omega^2\}$ for i > 2. The function

$$\bar{t}_i \in \overline{\Sigma}_2 = \operatorname{Map}^c(K, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}])$$

is given on elements x as above by the formula

$$\bar{t}_i(x) = a_i u^{1-2^i}$$

Under the isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Iap}^{c}(K, \mathbb{F}_{4}[u^{\pm 1}]) \cong \operatorname{Map}^{c}(\mathbb{G}_{2}/G_{48}, \mathbb{F}_{4}[u^{\pm 1}])$$

 $\operatorname{Map}^{c}(K, \mathbb{F}_{4}[u^{\pm 1}]) \cong \operatorname{Map}^{c}(K, \mathbb{F}_{4}[u^{\pm 1}])$ the function \overline{t}_{i} is given on a coset gG_{48} by

(5.2.2)
$$\bar{t}_i(gG_{48}) = t_i(x)$$

where x is the unique element of K so that $xG_{48} = gG_{48}$.

Note that C_3 acts on $\mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]$ through \mathbb{F}_4 -algebra maps by the formula

$$\omega \cdot u = \omega u$$

and Gal acts through the Galois action on \mathbb{F}_4 , so

$$\mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]^{C_3 \rtimes \text{Gal}} = \mathbb{F}_2[v_2^{\pm 1}].$$

Lemma 5.2.3. The functions $\overline{t}_k \in \overline{\Sigma}_2$ are C_3 equivariant, so the conjugation action of C_3 on \overline{t}_k is trivial.

Proof. We have (for $a_2 \in \{0, \omega\}$):

$$\begin{split} \bar{t}_k(\omega(1+a_2S^2+a_3S^3+\cdots)G_{48}) &= \bar{t}_k((\omega+\omega a_2S^2+\omega a_3S^3+\cdots)G_{48}) \\ &= \bar{t}_k((\omega+\omega a_2S^2+\omega a_3S^3+\cdots)\omega^2G_{48}) \\ &= \bar{t}_k((1+a_2S^2+\omega^2 a_3S^3+\cdots)G_{48}) \\ &= \begin{cases} a_ku^{1-2^k}, & k \text{ even}, \\ \omega^2 a_ku^{1-2^k}, & k \text{ odd} \end{cases} \\ &= \omega \cdot a_ku^{1-2^k} \\ &= \omega \cdot \bar{t}_k((1+a_2S^2+a_3S^3+\cdots)G_{48}). \quad \Box \end{split}$$

Corollary 5.2.4. The sub-Hopf algebra $\overline{\Sigma}(2) \subset \overline{\Sigma}_2$ is given by

$$\overline{\Sigma}(2) = \mathbb{F}_4[v_2^{\pm 1}][\bar{t}_2, \bar{t}_3, \cdots]/(\bar{t}_2^2 + \omega v_2 \bar{t}_2, \bar{t}_k^4 + v_2^{2^k - 1} \bar{t}_k).$$

Lemma 5.2.5. We have

$$\sigma \cdot \bar{t}_2 = \omega \bar{t}_2$$

and the element $\tilde{t}_2 := \omega^2 \bar{t}_2 \in \overline{\Sigma}(2)$ is Galois invariant.

Proof. For $a_2 \in \{0, \omega\}$, we compute the conjugation action on \bar{t}_2 (5.2.2) using the fact that $\sigma^{-1} = \sigma$, Lemma 4.2.7, and the fact that $\alpha \equiv 1 \pmod{2}$:

$$\begin{aligned} (\sigma \cdot \bar{t}_2)((1+a_2S^2+\cdots)G_{48}) &= \sigma[\bar{t}_2(\sigma(1+a_2S^2+\cdots)G_{48})] \\ &= \sigma[\bar{t}_2(-\alpha(1+a_2^{\sigma}S^2+\cdots)\alpha^{\sigma}G_{48})] \\ &= \sigma[\bar{t}_2((1+a_2^{\sigma}S^2+\cdots)G_{48})] \\ &= \begin{cases} \sigma[\bar{t}_2((1+0S^2+\cdots)G_{48})], & a_2 = 0, \\ \sigma[\bar{t}_2((1+\omega^2S^2+\cdots)G_{48})], & a_2 = \omega. \end{cases} \end{aligned}$$

Now if $a_2 = 0$, it follows we have

$$\sigma[\bar{t}_2(\sigma(1+0S^2+\cdots)G_{48})] = 0$$

= $\omega \bar{t}_2((1+0S^2+\cdots)G_{48}).$

However, if $a_2 = \omega$, the element

$$(1+\omega^2 S^2 + \cdots)$$

is not in K, and we have to rectify this by adjusting it by right multiplication with

$$-1 = 1 + S^2 + S^4 + \dots \in \mathbb{G}_2$$

to get it into K. We have

$$\sigma[\bar{t}_2((1+\omega^2 S^2+\cdots)G_{48})] = \sigma[\bar{t}_2((1+\omega^2 S^2+\cdots)(-1)G_{48})]$$

= $\sigma[t_2((1+\omega^2 S^2+\cdots)(-1))]$
= $\sigma[\omega u^{-3}]$
= $\omega^2 u^{-3}$
= $\omega \bar{t}_2((1+\omega S^2+\cdots)G_{48}).$

Definition 5.2.6. Define $\tilde{\sigma}(2)$ to be the image of the composite

$$\pi_* \operatorname{tmf} \wedge \operatorname{tmf} \wedge Z \to \pi_* \operatorname{TMF} \wedge \operatorname{TMF} \wedge Z \hookrightarrow \overline{\Sigma}(2).$$

Lemma 5.2.7. The Hopf algebra structure on $(\mathbb{F}_4[v_2^{\pm 1}], \overline{\Sigma}(2))$ restricts to a Hopf algebra structure on $(k(2)_*, \tilde{\sigma}(2))$.

Proof. The only thing which is not obvious is that the coproduct of $\overline{\Sigma}(2)$ restricts to a coproduct on $\tilde{\sigma}(2)$. Using the fact that $\operatorname{tmf} \wedge Z \simeq k(2)$, it suffices to consider the diagram, where ℓ is the unit:

$$\begin{array}{c|c} k(2)_{*}(S \wedge \operatorname{tmf}) & \longrightarrow K(2)_{*}(S \wedge \operatorname{TMF}) & \longrightarrow \overline{\Sigma}(2) \\ & & & & & \\ (\ell \wedge 1)_{*} \\ & & & & \\ k(2)_{*}(\operatorname{tmf} \wedge \operatorname{tmf}) & \xrightarrow{(1)} & K(2)_{*}(\operatorname{TMF} \wedge \operatorname{TMF}) \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ k(2)_{*}(\operatorname{tmf}) \otimes_{k(2)_{*}} k(2)_{*} \operatorname{tmf} \xrightarrow{\longrightarrow} K(2)_{*}(\operatorname{TMF}) \otimes_{K(2)_{*}} K(2)_{*} \operatorname{TMF} \longrightarrow \overline{\Sigma}(2) \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_{4}[v_{2}^{\pm 1}]} \overline{\Sigma}(2) \end{array}$$

Since (*) is an isomorphism after inverting v_2 , it follows that maps (1) and (2) have isomorphic images. The result follows.

We will now explain how $\widetilde{\sigma}(2)$ has a decreasing "Adams filtration". Recall that we have

$$a^{ass} E_2^{s,t}(\operatorname{tmf} \wedge \operatorname{tmf} \wedge Z) \cong a^{ass} E_2^{s,t}(k(2) \wedge \operatorname{tmf})$$
$$\cong \mathbb{F}_2[v_2][\zeta_2^4, \zeta_3^2, \zeta_4^2, \ldots]/(\zeta_i^8)$$
$$\oplus \text{ simple } v_2 \text{-torsion in the } s = 0 \text{ line}$$

Here the generators lie in (t - s, s) bidegrees:

$$\begin{split} |\zeta_2^4| &= (12,0), \\ |\zeta_i^2| &= (2(2^i-1),0), \\ |v_2| &= (6,1). \end{split}$$

The Adams spectral sequence collapses, and endows $k(2)_*$ tmf with its Adams filtration.

The v_2 -Bockstein filtration on $k(2)_*$ tmf is the decreasing filtration given by

 $\{(v_2^i)k(2)_* \text{tmf}\}.$

The Adams filtrations and v_2 -Bockstein filtrations on $k(2)_*$ tmf agree. This implies that if we endow $\overline{\Sigma}(2)$ with a decreasing multiplicative Adams filtration where we declare that v_2 has Adams filtration 1 and that \overline{t}_i has Adams filtration 0, then the map

$$k(2)_* \operatorname{tmf} \to \Sigma(2)$$

preserves Adams filtration, and therefore the image of this map $\tilde{\sigma}(2)$ inherits an Adams filtration which is compatible with that of $k(2)_*$ tmf and $\overline{\Sigma}(2)$.

Theorem 5.2.8. The Hopf algebra $\tilde{\sigma}(2) \subset \overline{\Sigma}(2)$ has the form

$$\widetilde{\sigma}(2) = \mathbb{F}_2[v_2^{\pm 1}][\widetilde{t_2}^2, \widetilde{t_3}, \ldots]/((\widetilde{t_2}^2)^2 = v_2^2 \widetilde{t_2}^2, \ \widetilde{t_k}^4 = terms \ with \ Adams \ filtration > 0)$$

where $\widetilde{t_2}^2 = (\omega^2 \overline{t_2})^2$ and for $k \ge 3$

 $\tilde{t}_k = \bar{t}_k + terms \ of \ higher \ Adams \ filtration.$

There is an isomorphism of cochain complexes

$$\mathcal{C}^{*,*}(Z) \cong C^*_{\widetilde{\sigma}(2)}(k(2)_*).$$

Proof. By Lemma 5.1.5, it suffices to establish that the image of the map

$$\pi_* \operatorname{tmf}^{\wedge n+1} \wedge Z \to {}^{\operatorname{TMF}} E_1(Z) \hookrightarrow C^*_{\overline{\Sigma}(2)}(K(2)_*)$$

is what we claim it is. We focus on the case of n = 2; it will be apparent that the general case is essentially the same. By Lemma 3.1.6 and Proposition 3.1.7, the ASS

$$^{ass}E_2^{s,t}(k(2) \wedge BP\langle 2 \rangle) \Rightarrow k(2)_{t-s}BP\langle 2 \rangle$$

has E_2 term

The images of the elements $t_i \in BP_*BP$ under the map

$$(5.2.9) BP_*BP \to k(2)_*BP\langle 2 \rangle$$

(where $BP\langle 2 \rangle$ is the Wilson spectrum of (2.2.4)) are detected by ζ_i^2 in the ASS for $k(2)_*BP\langle 2 \rangle$. In particular, the elements $t_i \in k(2)_*BP\langle 2 \rangle$ have Adams filtration 0.

Since the Adams filtration and v_2 -Bockstein filtration on $k(2)_*$ tmf agree, an element in $K(2)_*$ tmf $\cong K(2)_*$ TMF is in the image of the map

$${}^{\mathrm{tmf}}E_1^{1,*}(Z) \cong k(2)_* \mathrm{tmf} \to v_2^{-1}k(2)_* \mathrm{tmf} \cong K(2)_* \mathrm{TMF} \cong {}^{\mathrm{TMF}}E_1^{1,*}(Z)$$

if and only if it is detected (in the localized Adams spectral sequence) by an element in the image of the map

$$^{ass}E_2(k(2)_* \text{tmf}) \to v_2^{-1} \,^{ass}E_2(k(2)_* \text{tmf}).$$

Consider the commutative diagram coming from the map (2.2.5)

$$(5.2.10) k(2)_* \operatorname{tmf} \longrightarrow K(2)_* \operatorname{TMF} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Map}^c(\mathbb{G}_2/G_{48}, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]) \\ (1) \\ \downarrow \\ k(2)_* BP\langle 2 \rangle \xrightarrow{(2)} K(2)_* E_2 \xrightarrow{(3)} \operatorname{Map}^c(\mathbb{G}_2, \mathbb{F}_4[u^{\pm 1}]) \end{cases}$$
We wish to determine which v_2 multiple of \tilde{t}_2 is in positive Adams filtration. To that end, we must compute the image of \tilde{t}_2 under map (3) in (5.2.10). This is tantamount to computing, for $g \in \mathbb{G}_2$, the value $\tilde{t}_2(gG_{48})$. Since we have already established \tilde{t}_2 is $C_3 \rtimes \text{Gal-equivariant}$, we may assume

$$g = 1 + a_1 S + a_2 S^2 + \cdots$$

Write $a_1 = \alpha \omega + \beta \omega^2$ with $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{F}_2$. Using the fact that the elements j and k in G_{48} are given by

$$j = 1 + \omega^2 S + \omega S^2 + \cdots$$
$$k = 1 + \omega S + \omega S^2 + \cdots$$

(see [Bea15]) we compute:

$$\widetilde{t}_{2}(gG_{48}) = \widetilde{t}_{2}((1 + (\alpha\omega + \beta\omega^{2})S + a_{2}S^{2} + \cdots)G_{48}))$$

= $\widetilde{t}_{2}((1 + (\alpha\omega + \beta\omega^{2})S + a_{2}S^{2} + \cdots)k^{\alpha}j^{\beta}G_{48})$
= $\widetilde{t}_{2}((1 + (a_{2} + (\alpha + \beta) + \alpha\beta\omega^{2})S^{2} + \cdots)G_{48}).$

Let

$$\operatorname{Tr}, N : \mathbb{F}_4 \to \mathbb{F}_2$$

be the trace and norm, respectively, so that $Tr(a) = a + a^{\sigma}$ and $N(a) = aa^{\sigma}$. From the definition of \tilde{t}_2 we find

$$\widetilde{t}_2((1+a_2S^2+\cdots)G_{48}) = \operatorname{Tr}(a_2)u^{-3}$$

It follows from the above calculation that

$$\widetilde{t}_2((1+a_1S+a_2S^2+\cdots)G_{48}) = (\operatorname{Tr}(a_2)+\operatorname{N}(a_1))u^{-3}$$

Thus the image of \tilde{t}_2 under map (3) in (5.2.10) is the image of

$$t_2 + t_2^2 v_2^{-1} + t_1^3$$

under map (2). Since the elements $t_i \in k(2)_* BP\langle 2 \rangle$ all have Adams filtration 0, it follows that $v_2 \tilde{t}_2 = \tilde{t}_2^2 \in K(2)_* \text{TMF}$ lifts to an element

(5.2.11)
$$\tilde{t}_2^2 = v_2 t_2 + t_2^2 + v_2 t_1^3$$

of $k(2)_*$ tmf.

For $k \geq 3$, we define $\tilde{t}_k \in \tilde{\sigma}(2)$ to be the image of an element of $k(2)_*$ tmf detected by ζ_k^2 . Since in the Adams spectral sequence for $k(2)_*BP\langle 2 \rangle$ the element ζ_k^2 detects t_k , we deduce that the image of \tilde{t}_k under (1) satisfies

 $\tilde{t}_k = t_k + \text{terms of positive Adams filtration.}$

The result for n = 2 follows.

Similar reasoning shows that the image of

$${}^{\operatorname{tmf}}E_1^{n,*}(Z) \cong k(2)_* \operatorname{tmf}^{\wedge n} \to K(2)_* \operatorname{TMF}^{\wedge n} = \widetilde{\Sigma}(2)^{\otimes_{K(2)_*} n} \cong {}^{\operatorname{TMF}}E_1^{n,*}(Z)$$

is $\widetilde{\sigma}(2)^{\otimes_{k(2)_*} n}$.

Name	Location
$\Sigma(2)$	(4.1.1)
Σ_2	(4.1.2)
$\overline{\Sigma}_2$	(4.2.9) & (5.2.1)
$\overline{\Sigma}(2)$	Cor. 5.2.4
$\widetilde{\Sigma}(2)$	Sec. 5.2
$\sigma(2)$	(6.2.1)
$\overline{\sigma}(2)$	(5.2.13)
$\widetilde{\sigma}(2)$	Def. 5.2.6 & Th. 5.2.8

TABLE 1. List of Hopf algebras and where to find them. Our convention is to use the bar to remind the reader that we have taken a quotient. A symbol with a tilde denotes a sub-algebra of the same symbol with a bar. The lowercase denotes the respective connective versions.

Remark 5.2.12. Note that while we do not know the full structure of $\tilde{\sigma}(2)$ because of the complicated action of Gal on $\overline{\Sigma}(2)$, we do completely know the structure of $\overline{\sigma}(2) := \tilde{\sigma}(2) \otimes \mathbb{F}_4 \subset \overline{\Sigma}(2)$:

(5.2.13)
$$\overline{\sigma}(2) = \mathbb{F}_4[v_2][\tilde{t}_2^2, \bar{t}_3, \cdots]/((\tilde{t}_2^2)^2 + v_2^2 \tilde{t}_2^2, \bar{t}_k^4 + v_2^{2^k - 1} \bar{t}_k).$$

6. The cohomology of the good complex

In the previous section we established that

$$\mathcal{C}^{*,*}(Z) \cong C^*_{\widetilde{\sigma}(2)}(k(2)_*).$$

In this section we will compute the E_1 -term of a spectral sequence which computes the cohomology

$$H^*(\widetilde{\sigma}(2)) := H^*(C^*_{\widetilde{\sigma}(2)}(k(2)_*)) \cong H(\mathcal{C}^{*,*}(Z)) =: H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C}).$$

In our low dimensional range, it will turn out that there are no possible differentials in this spectral sequence.

6.1. **Overview of the strategy.** Recall from the previous section that we really only have a complete understanding of the base change

(6.1.1)
$$\overline{\sigma}(2) := \widetilde{\sigma}(2) \otimes \mathbb{F}_4$$

and we only know the generators of $\tilde{\sigma}(2)$ in $\overline{\sigma}(2)$ modulo terms of higher Adams filtration. Our approach to understanding $H^*(\tilde{\sigma}(2))$ will be to understand aspects of the cohomology of $\overline{\sigma}(2)$, and then to infer results about the cohomology of $\tilde{\sigma}(2)$.

Our method of computing the cohomology of $\overline{\sigma}(2)$, and comparing it with the cohomology of $\tilde{\sigma}(2)$, will be to adapt a filtration employed by Ravenel to compute the cohomology of the Morava stabilizer algebras. This filtration will result in a

pair of May-type spectral sequences, which we refer to as *May-Ravenel spectral* sequences:

The E_1 -terms ${}^{MR}E_1$ will be computed by endowing $E_0^{MR}\tilde{\sigma}(2)$ and $E_0^{MR}\bar{\sigma}(2)$ with Adams filtrations, resulting in a pair of Adams filtration spectral sequences (AFSS)

The May-Ravenel E_1 -term ${}^{MR}E_1(\overline{\sigma}(2))$ is the cohomology of a certain restricted Lie algebra $\overline{l}(2)$. This cohomology may be computed by a Chevallay-Eilenberg complex, whose differentials were explicitly computed by Ravenel. The key observations which we employ are:

- (1) The Chevallay-Eilenberg complex for $\bar{l}(2)$ is isomorphic to ${}^{AF}E_1(\bar{\sigma}(2))$.
- (2) The differentials in the Adams filtration spectral sequence $\{{}^{AF}E_r(\overline{\sigma}(2))\}\$ are determined by the differentials in the Chevallay-Eilenberg complex.
- (3) The image of ${}^{AF}E_1(\tilde{\sigma}(2))$ in ${}^{AF}E_1(\bar{\sigma}(2))$ can be computed precisely, since we know the generators of $\tilde{\sigma}(2)$ modulo terms of higher Adams filtration. This allows us to completely compute the differentials in the Adams filtration spectral sequence $\{{}^{AF}E_r(\tilde{\sigma}(2))\}$.

Even with knowing the differentials, the combinatorics for computing the spectral sequence ${}^{AF}E_r(\overline{\sigma}(2))$ is complicated. The computation of the spectral sequence ${}^{AF}E_r(\overline{\sigma}(2))$ will be facilitated by refining the Adams filtration with a lexicographical filtration. This results in a *lexicographical filtration spectral sequence* (LFSS)

$${}^{AF}E_1(\overline{\sigma}(2)) = {}^{LF}E_0(\overline{\sigma}(2)) \Rightarrow {}^{MR}E_1(\overline{\sigma}(2))$$

We will completely compute the LFSS spectral sequence, deduce from this the AFSS for $\overline{\sigma}(2)$, deduce from that the AFSS for $\widetilde{\sigma}(2)$, and thus completely compute ${}^{MR}E_1(\widetilde{\sigma}(2))$. In the low dimensional range we consider for our application, there will be no possible differentials in the May-Ravenel spectral sequence

$${}^{MR}E_1(\widetilde{\sigma}(2)) \Rightarrow H^*(\widetilde{\sigma}(2)).$$

6.2. The May-Ravenel spectral sequence. Let $(\mathbb{F}_2, S(2))$ be the Hopf algebra obtained from $(K(2)_*, \Sigma(2))$ by setting $v_2 = 1$. In [Rav86, Chapter 3], Ravenel computed

$$H^*(S(2)) = \operatorname{Ext}_{S(2)}^*(\mathbb{F}_2, \mathbb{F}_2).$$

The computation for $(K(2)_*, \Sigma(2))$ and $((K_2)_*, \Sigma_2)$ can be done using similar methods and all differentials follow from Ravenel's work by reintroducing the grading. We begin by summarizing Ravenel's method, which we then apply to our cases. In [Rav86, Section 4.3], Ravenel defines a filtration of Hopf algebroids on BP_*BP/I_N . Specializing to the case of N = p = 2, this induces a filtration on $(k(2)_*, \sigma(2))$, where

(6.2.1)
$$\sigma(2) = \mathbb{F}_2[v_2][t_1, t_2, \ldots]/(t_k^4 - v_2^{2^k - 1}t_k).$$

There is a unique increasing multiplicative filtration (which we call the *May-Ravenel filtration*) on $\sigma(2)$ such that

$$deg_{MR}(v_2) = 0,$$

$$deg_{MR}(t_1^{2^j}) = 1,$$

$$deg_{MR}(t_{2k+1}^{2^j}) = 3 \cdot 2^{k-1}, \quad k > 0,$$

$$deg_{MR}(t_{2k}^{2^j}) = 2^k.$$

Further, Ravenel [Rav86, 4.3.24] proves that this is a filtration of Hopf algebroids, so that the associated graded $E_0(\sigma(2))$ is a Hopf algebra. It is given by the exterior algebra

$$E_0(\sigma(2)) \cong \mathbb{F}_2[v_2] \otimes E[t_{i,j} : 0 < i, j \in \{0, 1\}]$$

where $t_{i,j}$ is the image of $t_i^{2^j}$.

7

From this filtration, we get a May type spectral sequence, which we call the *May-Ravenel spectral sequence*:

$${}^{MR}E_1^{s,t,f}(\sigma(2)) \Longrightarrow H^s(\sigma(2))_t.$$

Here s is the cohomological degree, t is the internal degree, and f is the May-Ravenel filtration. The first step is to compute ${}^{MR}E_1(\sigma(2))$.

Let $E^0(\sigma(2))$ be the \mathbb{F}_2 -linear dual of $E_0(\sigma(2))$ and $x_{i,j}$ be the dual of $t_{i,j}$. Since the $t_{i,j}$'s form a basis of the indecomposables of $E_0(\sigma(2))$, it follows that $x_{i,j}$ forms a basis for the restricted Lie algebra of primitives

$$l(2) := PE^0(\sigma(2))$$

and ${}^{MR}E_1 = H^*(l(2))$. Applying the methods of [May66, Remark 10], we obtain a Chevallay-Eilenberg cochain complex

$$C_{CE}^{*,*,*}(l(2)) := \mathbb{F}_2[v_2] \otimes \mathbb{F}_2[h_{i,j} : 0 < i, 0 \le j \le 1]$$

for elements $h_{i,j}$ of cohomological degree s = 1, internal degree $t = 2^{j+1}(2^i - 1)$ and with May-Ravenel filtration given by that of $t_i^{2^j}$. Here, $h_{i,j}$ represents the dual of the element May calls $\gamma_1(x_{i,j})$. The E_1 -term of the May-Ravenel spectral sequence is the cohomology of the Chevallay-Eilenberg complex:

$$H^{s,t,f}(C_{CE}^{*,*,*}(l(2))) = {}^{MR}E_1^{s,t,f}(\sigma(2)).$$

The differentials are determined by the Lie bracket and restriction of $PE^0(\sigma(2))$. For $\sigma(2)$, these are obtained by "remembering the grading" in [Rav86, 6.3.3]. We obtain the following differentials. **Theorem 6.2.2.** Let $\chi_2 = v_2 h_{2,0} + h_{2,1}$. The differentials in $C_{CE}^{*,*,*}(l(2))$ are determined by $d(h_{1,0}) = d(h_{1,1}) = 0$ and

$$\begin{split} d(h_{2,0}) &= h_{1,0}h_{1,1} & d(h_{2,1}) = v_2h_{1,0}h_{1,1} \\ d(h_{3,0}) &= h_{1,0}\chi_2 & d(h_{3,1}) = v_2^2h_{1,1}\chi_2 \\ d(h_{4,0}) &= h_{1,0}h_{3,1} + v_2^2h_{1,1}h_{3,0} + v_2\chi_2^2 & d(h_{4,1}) = v_2^5h_{1,0}h_{3,1} + v_2^7h_{1,1}h_{3,0} + v_2^6\chi_2^2 \\ d(h_{i,0}) &= v_2h_{i-2,1}^2 & d(h_{i,1}) = v_2^{2^{i-1}}h_{i-2,0}^2 \end{split}$$

where the last two identities hold for $i \geq 5$.

Now, we can put the same filtration on Σ_2 , and this induces a filtration on $\overline{\Sigma}_2$ which restricts to a filtration on $\overline{\sigma}(2)$ (6.1.1) and $\tilde{\sigma}(2)$. The corresponding associated graded Hopf algebra in the case of $\overline{\sigma}(2)$ is given by

$$E_0^{MR}(\overline{\sigma}(2)) \cong \mathbb{F}_4[v_2] \otimes E[\tilde{t}_{2,1}, \bar{t}_{3,0}, \bar{t}_{3,1}, \bar{t}_{4,0}, \bar{t}_{4,1}, \cdots].$$

As before, we have a May-Ravenel spectral sequence

$${}^{MR}E_1^{s,t,f}(\overline{\sigma}(2)) \Longrightarrow H^{s,t}(\overline{\sigma}(2)),$$

and ${}^{MR}E_1^{s,t,f}(\overline{\sigma}(2))=H^{s,t,f}(\bar{l}(2))$ is the cohomology of the Chevallay-Eilenberg complex

$$C_{CE}^{*,*,*}(\bar{l}(2)) \cong \mathbb{F}_4[v_2, h_{2,1}, h_{3,0}, h_{3,1}, h_{4,0}, h_{4,1}, \ldots].$$

Theorem 6.2.3. The differentials in the Chevallay-Eilenberg complex $C_{CE}^{*,*,*}(\bar{l}(2))$ are determined by

$$d(h_{2,1}) = d(h_{3,0}) = d(h_{3,1}) = 0$$

and

$$d(h_{4,0}) = v_2 h_{2,1}^2 \qquad \qquad d(h_{4,1}) = v_2^6 h_{2,1}^2 d(h_{i,0}) = v_2 h_{i-2,1}^2 \qquad \qquad d(h_{i,1}) = v_2^{2^{i-1}} h_{i-2,0}^2$$

where the last two identities hold for $i \geq 5$.

Proof. The element \tilde{t}_2^2 of (5.2.11) is given by

$$t_2^2 = v_2 t_2 + t_2^2 + v_2 t_1^3.$$

Therefore, since we have $t_1 \equiv 0$ in $\overline{\sigma}(2) \subset \overline{\Sigma}_2$ (4.2.9), we deduce that under the map

$$\sigma(2) \to \overline{\sigma}(2)$$

we have

$$v_2 t_2 + t_2^2 \mapsto t_2^2$$

It follows that under the map of Chevallay-Eilenberg complexes

$$C_{CE}^{*,*,*}(l(2)) \to C_{CE}^{*,*,*}(\bar{l}(2))$$

we have

$$\chi_2 \mapsto h_{2,1}$$

The result therefore follows from Theorem 6.2.2 (and the fact that $t_1 \equiv 0$ in $\overline{\sigma}(2)$).

6.3. The lexicographical filtration spectral sequence. In order to compute the cohomology of the Chevallay-Eilenberg complex $C_{CE}^{*,*,*}(\bar{l}(2))$, we place an increasing filtration on the Chevallay-Eilenberg complex by declaring that a monomial

$$v_2^m h_{3,0}^{k_3} h_{4,0}^{k_4} \cdots \widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{l_2} h_{3,1}^{l_3} \widetilde{h}_{4,1}^{l_4} \cdots$$

has lexicographical filtration tridegree

$$\deg_{LF} = (-m, l, k)$$

where

$$l = \bar{l}_5 + 2\bar{l}_6 + 2^2\bar{l}_7 + 2^3\bar{l}_8 + \cdots,$$

$$k = \bar{k}_4 + 2\bar{k}_5 + 2^2\bar{k}_6 + 2^3\bar{k}_7 + \cdots$$

 $\bar{n} \in \{0, 1\}$ is $n \mod 2$, and

$$h_{4,1} := h_{4,1} + v_2^5 h_{4,0}$$

We order these tridegrees via left lexicographical order. That is to say,

(m,l,k) < (m',l',k') if m < m', or m = m' and l < l', or m = m' and l = l' and k < k'.

Note that the value m above is the negative of the Adams filtration (defined by declaring the Adams filtration of v_2 is 1, and all other generators have Adams filtration 0), so lexicographical filtration is a refinement of Adams filtration. The differentials of Theorem 6.2.3 decrease lexicographical ordering, resulting in an increasing filtration on $C_{CE}^{*,*,*}(\bar{l}(2))$ and a transfinite lexicographical filtration spectral sequence (LFSS)

$$C_{CE}^{s,t,f}(\bar{l}(2))_{m,k,l} = {}^{LF}E_{1,0,0}^{s,t,f,(m,l,k)} \Rightarrow {}^{MR}E_{1}^{s,t,f}(\overline{\sigma}(2)).$$

Transfinite spectral sequences were introduced by Hu in [Hu99]. Hu's indexing uses ordinals, but to simplify matters we are repackaging the relevant ordinals as lexicographical tridegrees. In this way, we can explain the transfinite nature of the spectral sequence in our particular case.

Namely, the lexicographical filtration spectral sequence has terms

$${}^{LF}E^{s,t,f,(m,l,k)}_{r,r^{\prime\prime},r^{\prime\prime}}$$

with differentials

$$d_{r,r',r''}: {}^{LF}E^{s,t,f,(m,l,k)}_{r,r',r''} \to {}^{LF}E^{s+1,t,f,(m-r,l-r',k-r'')}_{r,r',r''}$$

and

$${}^{LF}E^{s,t,f,(m,l,k)}_{r,r',r''+1} \cong H^{s,t,f,(m,l,k)}({}^{LF}E_{r,r',r''}, d_{r,r',r''})$$

Because this spectral sequence is finitely generated in each multi-degree, convergence can be explained as follows. For $r'' \gg 0$, we have

$${}^{LF}E_{r,r',r''}^{s,t,f,(m,l,k)} = {}^{LF}E_{r,r'+1,0}^{s,t,f,(m,l,k)}.$$

and for $r' \gg 0$ we have

$${}^{LF}E^{s,t,f,(m,l,k)}_{r,r',0} = {}^{LF}E^{s,t,f,(m,l,k)}_{r+1,0,0}$$

There is a lexicographically indexed increasing filtration $\{F_{m,l,k}^{s,t,f}\}$ on ${}^{MR}E_1^{s,t,f}$ such that for $r \gg 0$,

$$E^{F}E^{s,t,f,(m,l,k)}_{r,0,0} \cong F^{s,t,f}_{m,l,k}/F^{s,t,f}_{m,l,k-1}$$

Because the lexicographical filtration is a multiplicative filtration on a differential graded algebra, the lexicographical filtration spectral sequence is a spectral sequence of algebras. By Theorem 6.2.3, the elements

$$\tilde{h}_{2,1}, h_{3,0}, h_{3,1}, \text{ and } \tilde{h}_{4,1}$$

are permanent cycles in the lexicographical filtration spectral sequence, and we have

(6.3.1)
$$\begin{aligned} d_{1,0,1}(h_{4,0}) &= v_2 h_{2,1}^2, \\ d_{1,0,2^{i-4}}(h_{i,0}) &= v_2 h_{i-2,1}^2, \\ d_{2^{i-1},2^{i-5},0}(h_{i,1}) &= v_2^{2^{i-1}} h_{i-2,0}^2 \end{aligned}$$

1

We note that the elements $h_{i,0}^2$ and $h_{i,1}^2$ are permanent cycles, because they correspond to cocyles in the Chevallay-Eilenberg complex.

We now run the lexicographical filtration spectral sequence. We will run the differentials in two rounds. The first round (Lemma 6.3.2)) will consist of those differentials of the form $d_{1,r',r''}$ which change Adams filtration by 1. The second round (Theorem 6.3.6) will consist of those differentials of the form $d_{r,r',r''}$ with r > 1 which change Adams filtration by a quantity greater than 1.

Lemma 6.3.2. The $E_{2,0,0}$ page of the lexicographical filtration spectral sequence obtained by running all differentials of the form $d_{1,r',r''}$ has a basis given by:

$$\begin{aligned} \text{(I)} \quad v_{2}^{m}h_{3,0}^{k_{3}}h_{4,0}^{2k_{4}}h_{5,0}^{2k_{5}}\cdots\widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}}h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_{3}}\cdots, \qquad m,k_{j}\geq 0; \ \epsilon_{j}\in\{0,1\}, \\ \text{(II)} \quad h_{3,0}^{k_{3}}h_{4,0}^{2k_{4}}\cdots h_{i+2,0}^{2k_{i+2}}h_{i+3,0}^{k_{i+3}}\cdots\widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}}\cdots h_{i-1,1}^{\epsilon_{i-1}}h_{i,1}^{l_{i}+2}h_{i+1,1}^{l_{i+1}}\cdots, \\ i\geq 2; \ k_{j},l_{j}\geq 0; \ \epsilon_{j}\in\{0,1\}. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. The strategy will be to first observe that the monomials of type (I) and (II) are $d_{1,r',r''}$ cycles for all r' and r''. We will then show that all of the other monomials are either the source or target of a non-trivial differential in the lexicographical filtration spectral sequence.

To show that a monomial x of the form (I) or (II) of Adams filtration m is a $d_{1,r',r''}$ -cycles, it suffices to show that the element

$$x \in C_{CE}^{*,*,*}(\bar{l}(2))$$

in the Chevallay-Eilenberg complex can be completed to an element

$$x + y \in C_{CE}^{*,*,*}(\bar{l}(2))$$

where

- (1) y has lower lexicographical filtration than x, and
- (2) the Chevallay-Eilenberg differential

 $d^{CE}(x+y)$

has Adams filtration greater than m + 1.

In the case of the monomials of type (I), this is trivially true - the elements x of Adams filtration m already satisfy the property that $d^{CE}(x)$ has Adams filtration greater than m + 1. In the case of terms of type (II), one can check that the sum (with $\bar{\epsilon}_i \in \{0, 1\}$)

$$\begin{aligned} x(k_{3}, 2k_{4}, \dots 2k_{i+2}, 2k_{i+3} + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}, \dots; \epsilon_{2}, \dots \epsilon_{i-1}, l_{i} + 2, l_{i+1}, \dots) &:= \\ h_{3,0}^{k_{3}} h_{4,0}^{2k_{4}} \cdots h_{i+2,0}^{2k_{i+2}} h_{i+3,0}^{2k_{i+3} + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}} h_{i+4,0}^{2k_{i+4} + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+4}} h_{i+5,0}^{2k_{i+5} + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+5}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}} \cdots h_{i-1,1}^{\epsilon_{i-1}} h_{i,1}^{l_{i}} h_{i+1,1}^{l_{i+1}} \cdots \\ + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+3} h_{3,0}^{k_{3}} h_{4,0}^{2k_{4}} \cdots h_{i+2,0}^{2k_{i+2} + 1} h_{i+3,0}^{2k_{i+3}} h_{i+4,0}^{2k_{i+4} + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+4}} h_{i+5,0}^{2k_{i+5} + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+5}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}} \cdots h_{i-1,1}^{\epsilon_{i-1}} h_{i,1}^{l_{i}} h_{i+1,1}^{l_{i+1}} h_{i+2,1}^{l_{i+2}} \cdots \\ + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+4} h_{3,0}^{k_{3}} h_{4,0}^{2k_{4}} \cdots h_{i+2,0}^{2k_{i+2} + 1} h_{i+3,0}^{2k_{i+3} + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}} h_{i+4,0}^{2k_{i+5} + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+5}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}} \cdots h_{i-1,1}^{\epsilon_{i-1}} h_{i,1}^{l_{i}} h_{i+1,1}^{l_{i+1}} h_{i+2,1}^{l_{i+2} + 2} \cdots \\ + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+5} h_{3,0}^{k_{3}} h_{4,0}^{2k_{4}} \cdots h_{i+2,0}^{2k_{i+2} + 1} h_{i+3,0}^{2k_{i+3} + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}} h_{i+4,0}^{2k_{i+4} + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+4}} h_{i+5,0}^{2k_{i+5}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}} \cdots h_{i-1,1}^{\epsilon_{i-1}} h_{i,1}^{l_{i}} \cdots h_{i+2,1}^{l_{i+2}} h_{i+3,1}^{l_{i+3} + 2} \cdots \\ + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+5} h_{3,0}^{k_{3}} h_{4,0}^{2k_{4}} \cdots h_{i+2,0}^{2k_{i+2} + 1} h_{i+3,0}^{2k_{i+3} + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+4}} h_{i+5,0}^{2k_{i+4} + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+4}} h_{i+5,0}^{2k_{i+5}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}} \cdots h_{i-1,1}^{\epsilon_{i-1}} h_{i,1}^{l_{i}} \cdots h_{i+2,1}^{l_{i+2}} h_{i+3,1}^{l_{i+3} + 2} \cdots \\ + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+5} h_{3,0}^{k_{3}} h_{4,0}^{2k_{4}} \cdots h_{i+2,0}^{2k_{i+2} + 1} h_{i+3,0}^{2k_{i+3} + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+4}} h_{i+5,0}^{2k_{i+5}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}} \cdots h_{i-1,1}^{\epsilon_{i-1}} h_{i,1}^{l_{i}} \cdots h_{i+2,1}^{l_{i+2}} h_{i+3,1}^{l_{i+3} + 2} \cdots \\ + \cdots$$

satisfies (1) and (2) above.

We now compute the differentials of the form $d_{1,r',r''}$ in the lexicographical filtration spectral sequence, using (6.3.1). The $d_{1,0,1}$ differentials are

 $d_{1,0,1}(v_2^m h_{3,0}^{k_3} h_{4,0}^{2k_4+1} h_{5,0}^{k_5} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{l_2} h_{3,1}^{l_3} \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{l_4} \cdots) = v_2^{m+1} h_{3,0}^{k_3} h_{4,0}^{2k_4} h_{5,0}^{k_5} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{l_2+2} h_{3,1}^{l_3} \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{l_4} \cdots.$ The remaining monomials

$$\begin{split} & h_{3,0}^{k_3} h_{4,0}^{2k_4} h_{5,0}^{k_5} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{l_2+2} h_{3,1}^{l_3} \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{l_4} \cdots , \\ & v_2^m h_{3,0}^{k_3} h_{4,0}^{2k_4} h_{5,0}^{k_5} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\ell_2} h_{3,1}^{l_3} \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{l_4} \cdots , \end{split}$$

where $\epsilon_2 \in \{0, 1\}$, are $d_{1,0,1}$ -cycles, and therefore constitute a basis for the $E_{1,0,2}$ page.

The $d_{1,0,2}$ differentials are of the form

$$d_{1,0,2}(v_2^m h_{3,0}^{k_3} h_{4,0}^{2k_4} h_{5,0}^{2k_5+1} h_{6,0}^{k_6} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{l_3} \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{l_4} \cdots) = v_2^{m+1} h_{3,0}^{k_3} h_{4,0}^{2k_4} h_{5,0}^{2k_5} h_{6,0}^{k_6} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{l_3+2} \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{l_4} \cdots$$

The remaining monomials

$$(6.3.3) h_{3,0}^{k_3} h_{4,0}^{2k_4} h_{5,0}^{k_5} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{l_2+2} h_{3,1}^{l_3} \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{l_4} \cdots$$

$$(6.3.4) h_{3,0}^{k_3} h_{4,0}^{2k_4} h_{5,0}^{2k_5} h_{6,0}^{k_6} \cdots \widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{l_3+2} \widetilde{h}_{4,1}^{l_4} \cdots,$$

$$(6.3.5) v_2^m h_{3,0}^{k_3} h_{4,0}^{2k_4} h_{5,0}^{2k_5} h_{6,0}^{k_6} \cdots \widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3} \widetilde{h}_{4,1}^{l_4} \cdots$$

with $\epsilon_3 \in \{0, 1\}$, are $d_{1,0,2}$ and $d_{1,0,3}$ cycles (in the case of (6.3.3), this is because it is a cocycle of type (II), and in the cases of (6.3.4) and (6.3.5), this follows from (6.3.1)). Thus these form a basis of the $E_{1,0,4}$ -page.

Repeating this process, the result follows.

We now run the differentials which change Adams filtration by more than 1. The idea is that these differentials are non-trivial only on terms of type (I), and these

44

45

differentials hit terms of type (I). Terms of type (II) are going to be permanent cycles in the lexicographical filtration spectral sequence.

Theorem 6.3.6. The May-Ravenel E_1 -term ${}^{MR}E_1(\overline{\sigma}(2))$ has a basis over \mathbb{F}_4 whose representatives in the lexicographical filtration spectral sequence are given by:

$$\begin{split} (\mathbf{I}') \quad v_{2}^{m} h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_{3}} \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_{3}} \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_{4}}, \\ m \geq 0; \ \epsilon_{j}, \bar{\epsilon}_{j} \in \{0,1\}, \\ (\mathbf{I}'') \quad v_{2}^{\leq 2^{i+1}} h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_{3}} h_{i,0}^{2(k_{i}+1)} h_{i+1,0}^{2k_{i+2}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_{3}} \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_{4}} h_{i+3,1}^{\epsilon_{i+3}} \cdots . \\ i \geq 3; \ k_{j} \geq 0; \ \epsilon_{j}, \bar{\epsilon}_{j} \in \{0,1\}, \\ (\mathbf{II}) \quad h_{3,0}^{k_{3}} h_{4,0}^{2k_{4}} \cdots h_{i+2,0}^{2k_{i+2}} h_{i+3,0}^{k_{i+3}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}} \cdots h_{i-1,1}^{\epsilon_{i-1}} h_{i,1}^{l_{i}+2} h_{i+1,1}^{l_{i+1}} \cdots . \\ i \geq 2; \ k_{j}, l_{j} \geq 0; \ \epsilon_{j} \in \{0,1\}. \end{split}$$

For the monomials of type (I"), the notation $v_2^{\leq n}x$ means monomials of the form $v_2^i x$ for i < n.

Proof. We proceed using the strategy of the proof of Lemma 6.3.2. We start by showing that the monomials of types (I'), (I"), and (II) are permanent cycles by showing they complete to cocycles in the Chevallay-Eilenberg complex.

The terms (I') are simply cocycles. The terms (I'') complete to cocycles given by

$$\begin{split} h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_{3}}h_{i,0}^{2(k_{i}+1)}h_{i+1,0}^{2k_{i+1}}\cdots \widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}}h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_{3}}\widetilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_{4}}h_{i+3,1}^{\epsilon_{i+3}}\cdots \\ &+ \epsilon_{i+3}v_{2}^{2^{i+2}-2^{i+1}}h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_{3}}h_{i,0}^{2k_{i}}h_{i+1,0}^{2(k_{i+1}+1)}h_{i+2,0}^{2k_{i+2}}\cdots \widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}}h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_{3}}\widetilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_{4}}h_{i+2,1}h_{i+4,1}^{\epsilon_{i+4}}\cdots \\ &+ \epsilon_{i+4}v_{2}^{2^{i+3}-2^{i+1}}h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_{3}}h_{i,0}^{2k_{i}}h_{i+1,0}^{2k_{i+1}}h_{i+2,0}^{2(k_{i+2}+1)}\cdots \widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}}h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_{3}}\widetilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_{4}}h_{i+2,1}h_{i+3,1}^{\epsilon_{i+3}}h_{i+5,1}^{\epsilon_{i+5}}\cdots \\ &+ \cdots \end{split}$$

For the terms of type (II), we observe that the Cartan-Eilenberg differential d^{CE} is given on the terms x(-) appearing in the proof of Lemma 6.3.2 by

$$\begin{aligned} d^{CE}x(k_{3}, 2k_{4}, \dots 2k_{i+2}, 2k_{i+3} + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}, \dots; \epsilon_{2}, \dots, \epsilon_{i-1}, l_{i} + 2, l_{i+1}, \dots) &= \\ \epsilon_{5}v_{2}^{2^{4}}x(k_{3} + 2, 2k_{4}, \dots 2k_{i+2}, 2k_{i+3} + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}, \dots; \epsilon_{2}, \dots, \epsilon_{4}, 0, \epsilon_{6}, \dots, \epsilon_{i-1}, l_{i} + 2, l_{i+1}, \dots) \\ &+ \epsilon_{6}v_{2}^{2^{5}}x(k_{3}, 2(k_{4} + 1), \dots 2k_{i+2}, 2k_{i+3} + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}, \dots; \epsilon_{2}, \dots, \epsilon_{4}, \epsilon_{5}, 0, \epsilon_{7}, \dots, \epsilon_{i-1}, l_{i} + 2, l_{i+1}, \dots) \\ &+ \dots \\ &+ \bar{l}_{i}v_{2}^{2^{i-1}}x(k_{3}, 2k_{4}, \dots, 2(k_{i-2} + 1), \dots, 2k_{i+2}, 2k_{i+3} + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}, \dots; \epsilon_{2}, \dots, \epsilon_{i-1}, l_{i} - 1 + 2, l_{i+1}, \dots) \\ &+ \bar{l}_{i+1}v_{2}^{2^{i}}x(k_{3}, 2k_{4}, \dots, 2(k_{i-1} + 1), \dots, 2k_{i+2}, 2k_{i+3} + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}, \dots; \epsilon_{2}, \dots, \epsilon_{i-1}, l_{i} + 2, l_{i+1} - 1, \dots) \\ &+ \dots \end{aligned}$$

However, also note that

46

$$d^{CE}(h_{3,0}^{k_3}h_{4,0}^{2k_4}\cdots h_{i+2,0}^{2k_{i+2}+1}h_{i+3,0}^{2k_{i+3}+\bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}}h_{i+4,0}^{2k_{i+4}+\bar{\epsilon}_{i+4}}\cdots \widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_2}\cdots h_{i-1,1}^{\epsilon_{i-1}}h_{i,1}^{l_i}h_{i+1,1}^{l_{i+1}}\cdots = v_2x(k_3,2k_4,\ldots,2k_{i+2},2k_{i+3}+\bar{\epsilon}_{i+3},\ldots;\epsilon_2,\ldots\epsilon_{i-1},l_i+2,l_{i+1},\ldots)$$

We therefore find that the terms of type (II) complete to the following cocycles:

$$\begin{split} x(k_{3}, 2k_{4}, \dots 2k_{i+2}, 2k_{i+3} + \bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}, \dots; \epsilon_{2}, \dots \epsilon_{i-1}, l_{i} + 2, l_{i+1}, \dots) \\ &+ \epsilon_{5}v_{2}^{2^{4}-1}h_{3,0}^{k_{3}+2}h_{4,0}^{2k_{i}} \cdots h_{i+2,0}^{2k_{i+2}+1}h_{i+3,0}^{2k_{i+3}+\bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_{4}}h_{6,1}^{\epsilon_{6}} \cdots h_{i-1,1}^{\epsilon_{i-1}}h_{i,1}^{l_{i}} \cdots \\ &+ \epsilon_{6}v_{2}^{2^{5}-1}h_{3,0}^{k_{3}}h_{4,0}^{2(k_{4}+1)} \cdots h_{i+2,0}^{2k_{i+2}+1}h_{i+3,0}^{2k_{i+3}+\bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_{4}}h_{5,1}^{\epsilon_{5}}h_{7,1}^{\epsilon_{7}} \cdots h_{i-1,1}^{\epsilon_{i-1}}h_{i,1}^{l_{i}} \cdots \\ &+ \cdots \\ &+ \bar{l}_{i}v_{2}^{2^{i-1}-1}h_{3,0}^{k_{3}}h_{4,0}^{2k_{4}} \cdots h_{i-2,0}^{2(k_{i-2}+1)} \cdots h_{i+2,0}^{2k_{i+2}+1}h_{i+3,0}^{2k_{i+3}+\bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_{4}}h_{5,1}^{\epsilon_{5}} \cdots h_{i-1,1}^{\epsilon_{i-1}}h_{i,1}^{l_{i}} \cdots \\ &+ \bar{l}_{i+1}v_{2}^{2^{i-1}-1}h_{3,0}^{k_{3}}h_{4,0}^{2k_{4}} \cdots h_{i-2,0}^{2(k_{i-1}+1)} \cdots h_{i+2,0}^{2k_{i+2}+1}h_{i+3,0}^{2k_{i+3}+\bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_{4}}h_{5,1}^{\epsilon_{5}} \cdots h_{i-1,1}^{\epsilon_{i-1}}h_{i,1}^{l_{i}}h_{i+1,1}^{l_{i+1}-1} \cdots \\ &+ \cdots \\ &+ \bar{l}_{i+4}v_{2}^{2^{i+3}-1}h_{3,0}^{k_{3}}h_{4,0}^{2k_{4}} \cdots h_{i+2,0}^{2(k_{i+2}+1)+1}h_{i+3,0}^{2k_{i+3}+\bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_{4}}h_{5,1}^{\epsilon_{5}} \cdots h_{i-1,1}^{\epsilon_{i-1}}h_{i,1}^{l_{i}} \cdots h_{i+4,1}^{l_{i+4}-1} \cdots \\ &+ \bar{\ell}_{i+5}v_{2}^{2^{i+4}-1}h_{3,0}^{k_{3}}h_{4,0}^{2k_{4}} \cdots h_{i+2,0}^{2(k_{i+2}+1)+1}h_{i+3,0}^{2k_{i+3}+\bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_{4}}h_{5,1}^{\epsilon_{6}} \cdots h_{i-1,1}^{\epsilon_{i-1}}h_{i,1}^{l_{i}} \cdots h_{i+4,1}^{l_{i+5,1}} \cdots \\ &+ \bar{\ell}_{i+5}v_{2}^{2^{i+4}-1}h_{3,0}^{k_{3}}h_{4,0}^{2k_{4}} \cdots h_{i+2,0}^{2k_{i+2}+1}h_{i+3,0}^{2(k_{i+3}+1)+\bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_{6}}h_{6,1}^{\epsilon_{6}} \cdots h_{i-1,1}^{\epsilon_{1}}h_{i,1}^{l_{i}} \cdots h_{i+5,1}^{l_{i+5,1}} \cdots \\ &+ \cdots \end{split}$$

We now will proceed by showing that the rest of the monomials of type (I) are either sources or targets of non-trivial $d_{r,r',r''}$ differentials with $r \ge 2$.

The first round of differentials in the LFSS will be of the form

$$\begin{aligned} d_{16,1,0}(v_2^m h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_3} h_{3,0}^{2k_3} h_{4,0}^{2k_4} h_{5,0}^{2k_5} \cdots \widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3} \widetilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_4} h_{5,1} h_{6,1}^{\epsilon_6} \cdots) \\ &= v_2^{m+16} h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_3} h_{3,0}^{2(k_3+1)} h_{4,0}^{2k_4} h_{5,0}^{2k_5} \cdots \widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3} \widetilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_4} h_{6,1}^{\epsilon_6} \cdots \end{aligned}$$

with $m, k_j \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\epsilon_j, \bar{\epsilon}_j \in \{0, 1\}$. Of the terms of type (I), what remains are terms of the forms

$$v_{2}^{m}h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_{3}}h_{4,0}^{2k_{4}}h_{5,0}^{2k_{5}}\cdots\widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}}h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_{3}}\widetilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_{4}}h_{6,1}^{\epsilon_{6}}\cdots,$$

$$v_{2}^{<16}h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_{3}}h_{3,0}^{2(k_{3}+1)}h_{4,0}^{2k_{4}}\cdots\widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}}h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_{3}}\widetilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_{4}}h_{6,1}^{\epsilon_{6}}\cdots.$$

These are seen to persist to the $E_{32,2,0}$ -page by (6.3.1). The next round of differentials will be of the form

$$\begin{aligned} d_{32,2,0}(v_2^m h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_3} h_{4,0}^{2k_4} h_{5,0}^{2k_5} \cdots \widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3} \widetilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_4} h_{6,1} h_{7,1}^{\epsilon_7} \cdots) \\ &= v_2^{m+32} h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_3} h_{4,0}^{2(k_4+1)} h_{5,0}^{2k_5} \cdots \widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3} \widetilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_4} h_{7,1}^{\epsilon_7} \cdots . \end{aligned}$$

Of the terms of type (I), what remain are terms of the forms

(6.3.7)
$$v_{2}^{m}h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_{3}}h_{5,0}^{2k_{5}}\cdots\widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}}h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_{3}}\widetilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_{4}}h_{7,1}^{\epsilon_{7}}\cdots,$$

$$(6.3.8) v_2^{<16} h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_3} h_{3,0}^{2(k_3+1)} h_{4,0}^{2k_4} \cdots \widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3} \widetilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_4} h_{6,1}^{\epsilon_6} \cdots,$$

(6.3.9)
$$v_2^{<32}h_{3,0}^{\overline{\epsilon}_3}h_{4,0}^{2(k_4+1)}h_{5,0}^{2k_5}\cdots\widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_2}h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3}\widetilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_4}h_{7,1}^{\epsilon_7}\cdots$$

The terms (6.3.8) are cocycles of type (I"), and the terms (6.3.7), (6.3.9) persist to $E_{64,4,0}$ by (6.3.1).

Continuing in this manner, we get all of the differentials in the LFSS.

6.4. The Adams filtration spectral sequence. Ideally we would like to reproduce the analysis of the previous section by replacing the Hopf algebra $\overline{\sigma}(2)$ with $\widetilde{\sigma}(2)$. However, we do not have an analog of Theorem 6.2.3 for $\widetilde{\sigma}(2)$. This would be a prerequisite to forming a LFSS, as we need to know the May-Ravenel d_0 -differentials decrease lexicographical filtration. We instead will work with the coarser filtration given by Adams filtration. The advantage of Adams filtration is that we know differentials preserve Adams filtration for topological reasons.

Endow $\overline{\sigma}(2)$ and its subalgebra $\widetilde{\sigma}(2)$ with an increasing "Adams filtration," by declaring $AF(v_2) = 1$, and giving all other generators "Adams filtration" 0. Note that in the case of $\widetilde{\sigma}(2) = k(2)_* \text{tmf}/(v_2\text{-torsion})$, this agrees with the filtration coming from the ASS for $k(2) \wedge \text{tmf}$. Therefore, the differentials in the cobar complex for $\widetilde{\sigma}(2)$ respect Adams filtration because, by Theorem 5.2.8, they come from maps of spectra (the connecting maps in the tmf-Adams resolution for Z). Since $\overline{\sigma}(2) \cong \widetilde{\sigma}(2) \otimes \mathbb{F}_4$, the same is true for the cobar complex of $\overline{\sigma}(2)$.

The algebra generators of

$$E_0^{AF}\overline{\sigma}(2) = \mathbb{F}_4[v_2, \tilde{t}_2^2, \bar{t}_3, \bar{t}_4, \ldots] / (\tilde{t}_2^2 = 0, \bar{t}_k^4 = 0)$$

are seen to be primitive (see, for example, [Rav92a, Prop. B.5.15]). Furthermore, Theorem 5.2.8 implies that $E_0^{AF} \tilde{\sigma}(2)$ is the primitively generated $k(2)_*$ -subalgebra

$$\mathbb{F}_2[v_2, \bar{t}_2^2, \bar{t}_3, \bar{t}_4, \ldots]/(\bar{t}_2^2 = 0, \bar{t}_k^4 = 0) \subset E_0^{AF}\overline{\sigma}(2).$$

Since there is an isomorphism of cochain complexes

$$\mathcal{C}_{alg}^{*,*,*}(Z) \cong C^*_{E_0^{AF}\widetilde{\sigma}(2)}(k(2)_*),$$

we immediately deduce the following important algebraic consequence.

Theorem 6.4.1. The cohomology of the algebraic good complex for Z is given by

$$H^{*,*,*}(\mathcal{C}_{alg}) \cong \mathbb{F}_2[v_2, h_{2,1}, h_{i,j}]_{\substack{i \ge 3\\ j=0,1}}.$$

We may likewise endow $E_0^{MR}\overline{\sigma}(2)$ and $E_0^{MR}\widetilde{\sigma}(2)$ with Adams filtration. Then $E_0^{AF}E_0^{MR}\overline{\sigma}(2)$ is given by

$$\mathbb{F}_4[v_2] \otimes E[\tilde{t}_{2,1}, \bar{t}_{i,j}]_{\substack{i \ge 3\\ i=0}}$$

with $\tilde{t}_{2,1}, \bar{t}_{i,j}$ primitive, and $E_0^{AF} E_0^{MR} \tilde{\sigma}(2)$ is given by the subalgebra

$$\mathbb{F}_2[v_2] \otimes E[\widetilde{t}_{2,1}, \overline{t}_{i,j}]_{\substack{i \ge 3\\ j=0,1}}$$

This results in a pair of Adams filtration spectral sequences

with

$${}^{AF}E_1(\widetilde{\sigma}(2)) \cong \mathbb{F}_2[v_2, \widetilde{h}_{2,1}, h_{i,j}]_{\substack{i \ge 3\\ j=0,1}},$$
$${}^{AF}E_1(\overline{\sigma}(2)) \cong \mathbb{F}_4[v_2, \widetilde{h}_{2,1}, h_{i,j}]_{\substack{i \ge 3\\ i=0}}.$$

We will now compute the Adams filtration spectral sequence ${}^{AF}E_r(\overline{\sigma}(2))$ by relating it to the LFSS.

The Chevallay-Eilenberg complex $C^*_{CE}(\bar{l}(2))$ is a quotient of the cobar complex for $E_0^{MR}\overline{\sigma}(2)$

$$C^*_{E^{MR}_{o}\overline{\sigma}(2)} \twoheadrightarrow C^*_{CE}(\overline{l}(2))$$

By endowing $C^*_{CE}(\bar{l}(2))$ with an Adams filtration, we get an associated spectral sequence ${}^{AF}E_r(\bar{l}(2))$ and a map of spectral sequences

$$\begin{array}{c} {}^{AF}E_1(\overline{\sigma}(2)) \Longrightarrow H^*(E_0^{MR}\overline{\sigma}(2)) \\ \downarrow \\ {}^{AF}E_1(\overline{l}(2)) \Longrightarrow H^*(E_0^{MR}\overline{\sigma}(2)) \end{array}$$

From Theorem 6.2.3 we see that all differentials in $C^*_{CE}(\bar{l}(2))$ increase Adams filtration, and thus

$$\begin{aligned} {}^{AF}E_1(\bar{l}(2)) &= H^*(E_0^{AF}C_{CE}^*(\bar{l}(2))) \\ &= E_0^{AF}C_{CE}^*(\bar{l}(2)) \\ &= \mathbb{F}_4[v_2, \tilde{h}_{2,1}, h_{i,j}]_{i \ge 3 \atop i = 0}. \end{aligned}$$

We deduce the following.

Proposition 6.4.2. The map

$${}^{AF}E_1(\overline{\sigma}(2)) \to {}^{AF}E_1(\overline{l}(2))$$

 $is \ an \ isomorphism, \ and \ thus \ there \ is \ an \ isomorphism \ of \ spectral \ sequences$

$$\{{}^{AF}E_r(\overline{\sigma}(2))\} \cong \{{}^{AF}E_r(l(2))\}.$$

Since lexicographic filtration is a refinement of Adams filtration, the differentials in the AFSS ${}^{AF}E_r(\bar{l}(2))$ are those differentials in the LFSS which change Adams filtration by r. We therefore have

$${}^{AF}E_r(\overline{\sigma}(2)) = {}^{LF}E_{r,0,0},$$

and for every differential

$$d_{r,r',r''}^{LF}(x) = y$$

in the LFSS we have a corresponding differential

$$d_r^{AF}(x) = y$$

in the AFSS. Therefore, as we have determined the LFSS, we have implicitly determined the AFSS for $\bar{l}(2)$, and therefore the AFSS for $\bar{\sigma}(2)$. We deduce that the AFSS for $\tilde{\sigma}(2)$ is obtained by restricting the differentials from the AFSS for $\bar{\sigma}(2)$. Therefore, from Theorem 6.3.6 we deduce: **Theorem 6.4.3.** The May-Ravenel E_1 -term ${}^{MR}E_1(\widetilde{\sigma}(2))$ has a basis over \mathbb{F}_2 whose representatives in the Adams filtration spectral sequence have leading terms (with respect to lexicographical filtration) given by:

(I')
$$v_2^m h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_3} \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3} \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_4},$$

- - -

$$\begin{split} m \geq 0; \ \epsilon_{j}, \bar{\epsilon}_{j} \in \{0, 1\}, \\ (\mathbf{I}'') \quad v_{2}^{\leq 2^{i+1}} h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_{3}} h_{i,0}^{2(k_{i}+1)} h_{i+1,0}^{2k_{i+2}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_{3}} \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_{4}} h_{i+3,1}^{\epsilon_{i+3}} \cdots . \\ i \geq 3; \ k_{j} \geq 0; \ \epsilon_{j}, \bar{\epsilon}_{j} \in \{0, 1\}, \\ (\mathbf{II}) \quad h_{3,0}^{k_{3}} h_{4,0}^{2k_{4}} \cdots h_{i+2,0}^{2k_{i+2}} h_{i+3,0}^{k_{i+3}} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_{2}} \cdots h_{i-1,1}^{\epsilon_{i-1}} h_{i,1}^{l_{i}+2} h_{i+1,1}^{l_{i+1}} \cdots . \\ i \geq 2; \ k_{j}, l_{j} \geq 0; \ \epsilon_{j} \in \{0, 1\}. \end{split}$$

For the monomials of type (I"), the notation $v_2^{\leq n}x$ means monomials of the form $v_2^i x$ for i < n.

Remark 6.4.4. We do not know if there are differentials in the May-Ravenel spectral sequence

$${}^{MR}E_1(\widetilde{\sigma}(2)) \Rightarrow H^*(\widetilde{\sigma}(2)) \cong H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C}).$$

Even in relatively low degrees, possibilities are plentiful. For example, there could be a differential

$$d_4^{MR}(h_{5,0}^2) \stackrel{?}{=} v_2^{14} \widetilde{h}_{2,1} h_{3,0}^2.$$

We also do not know if there are possible hidden v_2 -extensions in the May-Ravenel spectral sequence. Again, there are endless possibilities - as an example, there could be a hidden extension

$$v_2^{16}h_{3,0}^4 \stackrel{?}{=} v_2^{14}h_{2,1}h_{3,0}^2h_{3,1}.$$

However, in the very low degrees which are relevant to the computations later in this paper, there are no possibilities of differentials or hidden v_2 -extensions.

7. The agathokakological method

In this section we will adapt the agathokakological method introduced in [BBB+20] to our present setting, to compute the E_2 -term of the tmf-ASS for Z.

7.1. Overview of the method. The goal is to compute ${}^{tmf}E_2^{*,*}(Z)$. The short exact sequences

$$0 \to V^{*,*}(Z) \to {}^{\mathrm{tmf}}E_1^{*,*}(Z) \to \mathcal{C}^{*,*}(Z) \to 0, \\ 0 \to V^{*,*,*}_{alg}(Z) \to {}^{\mathrm{tmf}}E_1^{*,*,*}(Z) \to \mathcal{C}^{*,*,*}_{alg}(Z) \to 0$$

give rise to long exact sequences

$$(7.1.1) \qquad \cdots \to H^{*,*}(V) \to {}^{\operatorname{tmf}} E_2^{*,*}(Z) \to H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C}) \xrightarrow{\partial} H^{*+1,*}(V) \to \cdots,$$

$$(7.1.2) \qquad \cdots \to H^{*,*,*}(V_{alg}) \to {}^{\operatorname{tmf}}_{alg} E_2^{*,*,*}(Z) \to H^{*,*,*}(\mathcal{C}_{alg}) \xrightarrow{\partial_{alg}} H^{*+1,*,*}(V_{alg}) \to \cdot$$

In particular, (7.1.1) reduces the computation of $^{\text{tmf}}E_2(Z)$ to the computation of $H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C})$ and $H^{*,*}(V)$. We have established a means to understand $H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C})$ (Theorem 6.4.3). We are therefore left to compute $H^{*,*}(V)$.

By using Bruner's Ext program to compute

 $\operatorname{Ext}_{A_*}^{*,*}(\mathbb{F}_2, H_*Z)$

through a range, we can then use the Mahowald spectral sequence

$${}^{\operatorname{tmf}}_{alg} E_2^{*,*,*}(Z) \Rightarrow \operatorname{Ext}_{A_*}^{*,*}(\mathbb{F}_2, H_*Z)$$

to deduce $\underset{alg}{^{tmf}E_2^{*,*,*}(Z)}{^{tmf}E_2^{*,*,*}(Z)}$ by reverse engineering (note that this is backwards from the usual direction of deduction with a spectral sequence). We have computed $H^{*,*,*}(\mathcal{C}_{alg})$ (Theorem 6.4.1). We can then use (7.1.2) to deduce $H^{*,*}(V) =$ $H^{*,0,*}(V_{alg})$.

Remark 7.1.3. Note that our only interest in $\operatorname{Ext}_{A_*}^{*,*}(\mathbb{F}_2, H_*Z)$ is to determine $H^{*,*}(V)$. We are not investigating the classical Adams spectral sequence of Z.

7.2. The agathokakological spectral sequences. The strategy outlined in the previous subsection will be aided by the construction of a pair of spectral sequences: the *topological agathokakological spectral sequence* (topological AKSS), and the *algebraic agathokakological spectral sequence* (algebraic AKSS).

We begin with the topological AKSS. Consider the short exact sequence

(7.2.1)
$$0 \to V^{n,*}(Z) \to {}^{\operatorname{tmf}}E_1^{n,*}(Z) \xrightarrow{g} \mathcal{C}^{n,*}(Z) \to 0.$$

We will now introduce a refinement of the tmf-ASS which separates the good and evil complexes into different degrees. The good complex $\mathcal{C}^{n,*}(Z)$ will be regarded as being in filtration n, and the evil complex $V^{n,*}(Z)$ will be regarded as in filtration $n + \epsilon$, where ϵ is regarded as a fixed quantity with

$$n < n + \epsilon < n + 1 - \epsilon < n + 1.$$

Let $\overline{\mathrm{tmf}}$ denote the fiber of the unit

$$\overline{\mathrm{tmf}} \to S \to \mathrm{tmf}.$$

The tmf-ASS for Z arises from the decreasing filtration of Z given by



with

$$F_s := \overline{\mathrm{tmf}}^s \wedge Z.$$

By Proposition 3.1.7, there are fiber sequences

$$H_s \to k(2) \wedge \overline{\mathrm{tmf}}^s \to K_s$$

where H_s is a wedge of mod 2 Eilenberg-MacLane spectra and K_s is a wedge of k(2)'s. By Verdier's axiom we get a braid of fiber sequences



where $F_{s+\epsilon}$ is defined to be the fiber of the map $F_s \to K_s$. This results in a refinement of the tmf-Adams filtration of Z

The spectral sequence associated to this filtration is the *topological agathokakological* spectral sequence (AKSS):

$$\begin{split} \{^{akss} E^{n+\alpha\epsilon,t}_{r+\beta\epsilon}\} &\Rightarrow \pi_{t-n}(Z) \\ n,t \in \mathbb{N}, \\ \alpha \in \{0,1\}, \\ \beta \in \{-1,0,1\} \end{split}$$

The pages of this spectral sequence are ordered by

$$n - \epsilon < n < n + \epsilon < n + 1$$

with differentials

$$\begin{split} & d_{r-\epsilon}^{akss}: {}^{akss}E_{r-\epsilon}^{n+\epsilon,t} \to {}^{akss}E_{r-\epsilon}^{n+r,t}, \\ & d_{r}^{akss}: {}^{akss}E_{r}^{n+\alpha\epsilon,t} \to {}^{akss}E_{r}^{n+r+\alpha\epsilon,t}, \\ & d_{r+\epsilon}^{akss}: {}^{akss}E_{r+\epsilon}^{n,t} \to {}^{akss}E_{r+\epsilon}^{n+r+\epsilon,t}. \end{split}$$

Remark 7.2.3. The reader will notice that the AKSS could be reindexed to a more standard format by reindexing the filtration by:

$$n \mapsto 2n,$$

$$n + \epsilon \mapsto 2n + 1.$$

Our reason for choosing this non-standard indexing is that it displays the AKSS as a refinement of the tmf-ASS, so that there are short exact sequences

$$0 \to {}^{akss} E_{r-\epsilon}^{n+\epsilon,t} \to {}^{\operatorname{tmf}} E_r^{n,t} \to {}^{akss} E_{r-\epsilon}^{n,t} \to 0.$$

The E_1 -term takes the form

$${}^{akss}E_1^{n+\alpha\epsilon,t} = \begin{cases} \mathcal{C}^{n,t}(Z), & \alpha = 0, \\ V^{n,t}(Z), & \alpha = 1. \end{cases}$$

The d_1 -differential

$$d_1^{akss}: {}^{akss}E_1^{n+\alpha\epsilon,t} \rightarrow {}^{akss}E_1^{n+1+\alpha\epsilon,t}$$

is given by the differentials in the good and evil complexes:

$$d_1^{akss} = \begin{cases} d_1^{good}, & \alpha = 0\\ d_1^{evil}, & \alpha = 1 \end{cases}$$

We therefore have

$${}^{akss}E^{n+\alpha\epsilon,t}_{1+\epsilon} = \begin{cases} H^{n,t}(\mathcal{C}), & \alpha = 0, \\ H^{n,t}(V), & \alpha = 1. \end{cases}$$

The only nonzero $d_{1+\epsilon}$ -differentials are of the form

$$H^{n,t}(\mathcal{C}) = {}^{akss}E^{n,t}_{1+\epsilon} \xrightarrow{d_{1+\epsilon}} {}^{akss}E^{n+1+\epsilon,t}_{1+\epsilon} = H^{n+1,t}(V),$$

for which we have

$$d_{1+\epsilon} = \partial$$

where ∂ is the connecting homomorphism of (7.1.1).

The algebraic AKSS is constructed by applying $\operatorname{Ext}_{A_*}^{*,*}(\mathbb{F}_2, H_*(-))$ to the diagram (7.2.2) (compare with [BBB⁺20, Sec. 7]). The resulting spectral sequence takes the form

$$\{^{akss}_{alg} E^{n+\alpha\epsilon,s,t}_{r+\beta\epsilon}(Z)\} \Rightarrow {}^{ass} E^{n+s,t}_2(Z)$$

with differentials

$$\begin{split} & d_{r-\epsilon}^{akss} : {}^{akss}_{alg} E_{r-\epsilon}^{n+\epsilon,s,t} \to {}^{akss}_{alg} E_{r-\epsilon}^{n+r,s-r+1,t}, \\ & d_{r}^{akss} : {}^{akss}_{alg} E_{r}^{n+\alpha\epsilon,s,t} \to {}^{akss}_{alg} E_{r}^{n+r+\alpha\epsilon,s-r+1,t}, \\ & d_{r+\epsilon}^{akss} : {}^{akss}_{alg} E_{r+\epsilon}^{n,s,t} \to {}^{akss}_{alg} E_{r+\epsilon}^{n+r+\epsilon,s-r+1,t}. \end{split}$$

We have

$${}^{akss}_{alg}E^{n+\alpha\epsilon,s,t}_{1+\epsilon}(Z) = \begin{cases} H^{n,s,t}(\mathcal{C}_{alg}), & \alpha = 0, \\ H^{n,t}(V), & \alpha = 1, s = 0, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

and

$$d_{1+\epsilon}^{akss} = \partial_{al_2}$$

where ∂ is the connecting homomorphism of (7.1.2).

Because for s > 0 we have

$${}^{akss}_{alg} E_1^{n+\epsilon,s,t} = 0,$$

there are no non-trivial differentials

$$d_{r+\beta\epsilon}(x) = y$$

with x in filtration $n + \epsilon$ and r > 1.

The following very useful lemma shows that the $d_{1+\epsilon}$ differentials in the topological AKSS can be deduced from the $d_{1+\epsilon}^{alg}$ differentials in the algebraic AKSS.

Lemma 7.2.4. For n = 0, the differentials

$$d_{1+\epsilon} : \stackrel{akss}{\longrightarrow} E_{1+\epsilon}^{n,t} \xrightarrow{d_{1+\epsilon}} \stackrel{akss}{\longrightarrow} E_{1+\epsilon}^{n+1+\epsilon,t}$$

are trivial. For $n \ge 1$, they are determined by the following commutative diagram:

Proof. Topologically, $d_{1+\epsilon}$ derives from applying π_* to the composite

(7.2.5)
$$K_n \to \operatorname{tmf}^{\wedge n+1} \wedge Z \to \operatorname{tmf}^{\wedge n+2} \wedge Z \to H_{n+1}.$$

The first statement follows from the fact that the only elements in $H^{n,*}(\mathcal{C})$ for n = 0 are powers of v_2 . The second statement follows from the fact that $d_{1+\epsilon}^{alg}$ is the induced map of Adams $E_2^{0,*}$ -terms coming from the composite (7.2.5):

$$\mathcal{C}_{alg}^{n,0,*} = {}^{ass} E^{0,*} \left(K_n \right) \to {}^{ass} E^{0,*} \left(H_{n+1} \right) = V^{n+1,*}.$$

The E_2 -term of the tmf-ASS is deduced from the short exact sequence

$$0 \to {}^{akss}E_2^{n+\epsilon,t} \to {}^{\mathrm{tmf}}E_2^{n,t} \to {}^{akss}E_2^{n,t} \to 0.$$

7.3. The dichotomy principle. Elements in ${}^{akss}_{alg} E^{n,s,t}_{r+\beta\epsilon}(Z)$ are called *good*, and elements in ${}^{akss}_{alg} E^{n+\epsilon,s,t}_{r+\beta\epsilon}(Z)$ are called *evil*. Non-trivial elements of ${}^{ass}E_2(Z)$ are called *good* (respectively *evil*) if they are detected in the AKSS by good (respectively evil) classes.

The key to computing the algebraic AKSS is to determine which elements of ${}^{ass}E_2(Z)$ are good and which are evil. This is done by linking v_2 -periodicity with goodness. An element of ${}^{ass}E_2(Z)$ is v_2 -periodic if its image under the homomorphism

$${}^{ss}E_2(Z) \to v_2^{-1 \ ass}E_2(Z)$$

is non-trivial. Otherwise it is said to be v_2 -torsion.

The following two propositions give a practical means of determining whether an element of $^{ass}E_2(Z)$ is v_2 -periodic.

Proposition 7.3.1. We have

$$v_2^{-1 ass} E_2(Z) \cong \mathbb{F}_2[v_2^{\pm}, \tilde{h}_{2,1}, h_{3,0}, h_{3,1}, h_{4,0}, h_{4,1}, \cdots].$$

Proof. The computation is almost identical to that of [MRS01, (2.20)].

Corollary 7.3.2. For r > 1, there are no d_r differentials between good classes in the algebraic AKSS.

Proof. Proposition 7.3.1 implies that the v_2 -localized algebraic AKSS collapses at $E_{1+\epsilon}$. The result follows from the fact that the map

$${}^{akss}_{alg} E^{n+\alpha\epsilon,s,t}_{1+\epsilon}(Z) \hookrightarrow v_2^{-1} {}^{akss}_{alg} E^{n+\alpha\epsilon,s,t}_{1+\epsilon}(Z)$$

is an injection for $\alpha = 0$ (the good part).

In order to state and prove the dichotomy principle, we will need to establish bounds on v_2 -periodicity in Ext, and on the evil complex. Let A_2 denote the cofiber of the v_2 -self map $\Sigma^6 Z \to Z$.

We have

$$H^*(A_2) \cong A(2)$$

as an A(2)-module (see [BE20a, Sec. 2]).

Lemma 7.3.3. We have

$$^{ass}E_2^{s,t}(A_2) = 0$$

for

$$s > \frac{(t-s) + 12}{11}$$

Proof. The May spectral sequence for ${}^{ass}E_2(A_2 \wedge C\sigma)$ has E_1 -term of the form (7.3.4)

$$^{ass}E_2^{s,t}(A_2 \wedge C\sigma) = 0$$

for

$$s > \frac{t-s}{11}.$$

It follows from the fact that $h_{1,3}^4 = 0$ in ${}^{ass}E_2^{*,*}(S)$ that the $h_{1,3}$ -Bockstein spectral sequence

$$^{ass}E_2^{*,*}(A_2 \wedge C\sigma)[h_{1,3}] \Rightarrow ^{ass}E_2^{*,*}(A_2)$$

has a horizontal vanishing line at E_{∞} , and one deduces that the translation of this $\frac{1}{11}$ -vanishing line passing through (t-s,s) = (21,3) (the bidegree of $h_{1,3}^3$) serves as a vanishing line for ${}^{ass}E_2^{*,*}(A_2)$.

Remark 7.3.5. The reader will notice that the notation $h_{i,j}$ is used both for the May spectral sequence generators of (7.3.4) and for the May-Ravenel spectral sequence generators in $H^{*,*,*}(\mathcal{C}_{alg}(Z))$. We warn the reader that these naming conventions are not consistent. The May spectral sequence generator $h_{i,j}$ corresponds to the element $\zeta_i^{2^j} \in A_*$, whereas the May-Ravenel generator $h_{i,j}$ corresponds to the element $t_i^{2^j} \in BP_*BP$. Since under the map

$$BP_*BP \to A_*$$

we have

$$t_i^{2^j} \mapsto \zeta_i^{2^{j+1}}$$

and the May-Ravenel generator $h_{i,j}$ actually corresponds to the May generator $h_{i,j+1}$.

Proposition 7.3.6. The evil complex $V^{n,t}(Z)$ satisfies

$$H^{n,t}(V^{*,*}) = 0$$

for

$$n > \frac{(t-n)+12}{11}.$$

Proof. We explain the relationship between $H^{*,*}(V)$ and ${}^{ass}E_2^{*,*}(A_2)$ by constructing a spectral sequence which relates them. We first note that because $H^*(A_2) \cong A(2)$, we have

$$_{alg}^{\operatorname{tmf}} E_1^{n,s,t}(A_2) = 0$$

for s > 0. Therefore, the only possible non-trivial differentials in the tmf-MSS are d_1 differentials, and

$${}^{\mathrm{tmf}}_{alg} E_2^{n,0,t}(A_2) \cong {}^{ass} E_2^{n,t}(A_2).$$

The short exact sequence of A_* -comodules

$$0 \to H_*Z \to H_*A_2 \to H_*\Sigma^7Z \to 0$$

induces a long exact sequence

$$0 \to \underset{alg}{^{\operatorname{tmf}}} E_1^{n,0,t}(Z) \to \underset{alg}{^{\operatorname{tmf}}} E_1^{n,0,t}(A_2) \to \underset{alg}{^{\operatorname{tmf}}} E_1^{n,0,t-7}(Z) \xrightarrow{v_2} \underset{alg}{^{\operatorname{tmf}}} E_1^{n,1,t}(Z) \to \cdots$$

We therefore deduce that there is a short exact sequence

$$0 \to {}^{\mathrm{tmf}}_{alg} E_1^{n,0,t}(Z) \to {}^{\mathrm{tmf}} E_1^{n,0,t}(A_2) \to V^{n,t-7}(Z) \to 0.$$

This allows us to consider the decreasing filtration of cochain complexes, with associated filtration quotients:

Taking cohomology, we get a strange little spectral sequence which we will dub the *algebraic AKSS for* A_2 as it more or less arises as a kind of mod v_2 version of the algebraic AKSS for Z. If we index it as follows:⁵

$$a^{ksss}_{alg} E^{n-\epsilon,t}_{1+\epsilon}(A_2) = H^{n,t-7}(V),$$

$$a^{kss}_{alg} E^{n,t}_{1+\epsilon}(A_2) = H^{n,0,t}(\mathcal{C}_{alg}),$$

$$a^{kss}_{alg} E^{n+\epsilon,t}_{1+\epsilon}(A_2) = H^{n,t}(V),$$

then the resulting spectral sequence takes the form

$${}^{akss}_{alg} E^{n+\alpha\epsilon,t}_{1+\epsilon}(A_2) \Rightarrow {}^{ass} E^{n,t}_2(A_2)$$

⁵With this indexing convention the map $Z \to A_2$ results in a map of spectral sequences $a_{alg}^{akss} E_*^{n+\alpha\epsilon,s,t}(Z) \to a_{alg}^{akss} E_*^{n+\alpha\epsilon,t}(A_2)$ (which one takes to be the zero map on terms with s > 0).

with differentials

$$d_{1+\epsilon} : {}^{akss}_{alg} E_{1+\epsilon}^{n-\epsilon,t}(A_2) \to {}^{akss}_{alg} E_{1+\epsilon}^{n+1,t}(A_2)$$

$$d_{1+\epsilon} : {}^{akss}_{alg} E_{1+\epsilon}^{n,t}(A_2) \to {}^{akss}_{alg} E_{1+\epsilon}^{n+1+\epsilon,t}(A_2)$$

$$d_{1+2\epsilon} : {}^{akss}_{alg} E_{1+2\epsilon}^{n-\epsilon,t}(A_2) \to {}^{akss}_{alg} E_{1+2\epsilon}^{n+1+\epsilon,t}(A_2)$$

and

56

$${}^{akss}_{alg}E_2^{n+\alpha\epsilon,t}(A_2) = {}^{akss}_{alg}E_{\infty}^{n+\alpha\epsilon,t}(A_2).$$

The result follows for dimensional reasons (by induction on t-n) using Lemma 7.3.3 and the fact that $H^{n,0,t}(\mathcal{C}_{alg}) = 0$

$$n > \frac{t-n}{11}$$

(since the generator of $H^{*,*,*}(\mathcal{C}_{alg})$ with lowest slope is $\tilde{h}_{2,1}$, with slope $\frac{n}{t-n} = \frac{1}{11}$).

Proposition 7.3.7. The map

$$^{ss}E_2^{s,t}(Z) \to v_2^{-1 \ ass}E_2^{s,t}(Z)$$

is an isomorphism for

$$s > \frac{(t-s) + 12}{11}.$$

Proof. The result follows from considering the map of algebraic AKSS's

$${}^{akss}_{alg}E^{*,*,*}_{*}(Z) \to v_2^{-1} {}^{akss}_{alg}E^{*,*,*}_{*}(Z)$$

and using Proposition 7.3.1, Corollary 7.3.2, Proposition 7.3.6, and the observation that the map

$$H^{n,s,t}(\mathcal{C}_{alg}) \to v_2^{-1} H^{n,s,t}(\mathcal{C}_{alg})$$

is an isomorphism for

$$n+s > \frac{t-n-s}{11}.$$

Given a class $x \in {}^{ass}E_2(Z)$, Proposition 7.3.7 gives a straightforward technique to determine from low dimensional computations if x is v_2 -periodic. Let k be chosen such that $v_2^k x$ lies in the range of Proposition 7.3.7. Then x is v_2 -periodic if an only if $v_2^k x \neq 0$.

The following theorem, analogous to the dichotomy principle in $[BBB^+20]$, completely determines whether classes in $^{ass}E_2$ are good or evil. Note that because of Corollary 7.3.2 (which does not have an analog in the context studied in $[BBB^+20]$), the proof of the dichotomy principle for the algebraic AKSS is much more straightforward in the present context.

Theorem 7.3.8 (Dichotomy Principle). Suppose that x is a non-trivial class in ${}^{ass}E_2^{s,t}(Z)$.

(1) If x is v_2 -torsion, it is evil.

(2) Every class in the range

(7.3.9)
$$s > \frac{(t-s)+12}{11}$$

is good.

(3) Suppose x is v₂-periodic, and suppose that k is taken large enough so that v₂^kx lies in the range (7.3.9). Suppose that v₂^kx is detected in the algebraic AKSS by a class in ^{akss}_{alg}E^{n,*,*}_{1+ϵ}. Then x is good if and only if

$$s \ge n$$
.

Proof. We deduce (1) from Corollary 7.3.2. We deduce (2) from Proposition 7.3.6. For (3) suppose that x is v_2 -periodic with $v_2^k x$ detected in $\frac{akss}{alg} E_{1+\epsilon}^{n,*,*}$. We will first consider the case where x is evil, and then we will consider the case where x is good. For the first case, suppose that x is detected by an evil class

$$\widetilde{x} \in {}^{akss}_{alg} E^{n'+\epsilon,s-n',t}_{1+\epsilon}$$

in the algebraic AKSS. Then we must have

$$s=n'.$$

Since \tilde{x} is v_2 -torsion, we deduce that the v_2^k -multiplication must arise from a hidden extension in the AKSS, and therefore

$$s = n' < n.$$

For the second case, suppose that x is detected by a good class

$$\widetilde{x} \in {}^{akss}_{alg} E^{n',s-n',t}_{1+\epsilon}.$$

Then we must have

$$s - n' \ge 0.$$

We deduce from the proof of Corollary 7.3.2 that n' = n, and therefore $s - n \ge 0$ and

$$s \ge n$$

Warning 7.3.10. There is no dichotomy principle in the topological AKSS.

8. Stem by stem computations

In this section, we apply the agathokakological techniques of the previous section to do low dimensional computations of π_*Z . Furthermore, we settle the ambiguity left in [BE20b] regarding the differentials in the Adams Novikov spectral sequence for $Z_{E(2)}$ (Theorem 8.5.1).

8.1. The algebraic AKSS. In this section, we use the algebraic AKSS

$$\{^{akss}_{alg} E^{n+\alpha\epsilon,s,t}_{r+\beta\epsilon}(Z)\} \Rightarrow ^{ass} E^{n+s,t}_2(Z)$$

to identify $H^*(V(Z))$ in the range relevant for computing π_*Z in degrees $* \leq 39$.

More specifically, we do these computations for a specific choice of Z and v_2 -self map. It is shown in [BE20a, §2] that for any $Z \in \widetilde{Z}$ and v_2^1 -self map $f: \Sigma^6 Z \to Z$, there is a cofiber sequence

(8.1.1)
$$\Sigma^6 Z \xrightarrow{f} Z \longrightarrow C(f) \longrightarrow \Sigma^7 Z$$

where C(f) is a spectrum with the property that $H^*C(f)$ is isomorphic to A(2) as an A(2)-module. Different choices of $Z \in \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}$ and v_2^1 -self maps give rise to different *A*-module structures on A(2).

We will be working with a specific choice of Z. To this end, endow the subalgebra $A(2) \subset A$ with the A-module structure given by Roth in [Rot77, p.30]. Appendix A gives the Bruner module definition data that encodes this A-module structure. Following [BE20a],⁶ define B(2) as

$$B(2) := A(2) \otimes_{E(Q_2)} \mathbb{F}_2.$$

The Bruner module definition data for this A-module is given in [BE20a, Appendix 1].

For the rest of this section we restrict our attention to those $Z \in \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}$ with

$$H^*Z \cong B(2)$$

as A-modules. By [BE20a, Remark 5.4], there are four different homotopy types of finite spectra realizing B(2). As explained in [BE20a, Sec. 2], the cofiber of any v_2^1 -self map of our chosen Z is a realization of the module A(2).

Since $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{s,s+1}(A(2), A(2)) = 0$ for $s \geq 2$, it follows from [BE20a, Prop. 5.1] that there is a unique homotopy type of spectra realizing our chosen A-module structure on A(2). Therefore, different choices of a v_{2}^{1} -self map on our chosen Z will not affect the calculations that follow. For this choice, we let

$$A_2 := C(f).$$

In this section, we also define

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{s,t}(Z) := \operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{s,t}(H^{*}(Z), \mathbb{F}_{2}), \qquad \operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{s,t}(A_{2}) := \operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{s,t}(H^{*}(A_{2}), \mathbb{F}_{2}).$$

Both $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{*,*}(Z)$ and $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{*,*}(A_{2})$ can be computed using Bruner's program [Bru93]. The results are depicted in Figure 8.1 and Figure 8.2 in Adams grading (x, y) = (t - s, s).

⁶In [BE20a], A(2) is denoted by A_2 and B(2) by B_2 .

59

8.2. v_2 -multiplication in $\operatorname{Ext}_A(Z)$. To proceed with our computations, we will need to determine which classes in $\operatorname{Ext}_A^{*,*}(Z)$ are detected by evil classes, and which are detected by good classes. This will be done using the dichotomy principle (Theorem 7.3.8), and so we need to identify the v_2 -periodic classes in $\operatorname{Ext}_A^{*,*}(Z)$. To do this, we proceed as follows.

Note that there is a long exact sequence (8.2.1)

$$\dots \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{s,t}(Z) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{s,t}(A_{2}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{s,t}(\Sigma^{7}Z) \xrightarrow{\delta} \operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{s+1,t}(Z) \longrightarrow \dots$$

where the connecting homomorphism δ corresponds to multiplication by v_2 ,

$$\delta = v_2 \colon \operatorname{Ext}_A^{s,t}(\Sigma^7 Z) \cong \operatorname{Ext}_A^{s,t-7}(Z) \to \operatorname{Ext}_A^{s+1,t}(Z).$$

The v_2 -multiplications in $\operatorname{Ext}_A^{*,*}(Z)$ are indicated by dotted lines of slope (6, 1) in Figures 8.1 and 8.2. The indicated multiplications are completely determined by the long exact sequence (8.2.1). In Example 8.2.2, we give a sample proof deducing the existence of a v_2 -multiplication from the long exact sequence. The proofs for the other v_2 -multiplications indicated in Figures 8.1 and 8.2 are also straightforward, though the arguments involving classes in stems $* \geq 40$ become more tedious due to the growing dimensions of $\operatorname{Ext}_A^{*,*}(A_2)$ and of $\operatorname{Ext}_A^{*,*}(Z)$. The v_2 -multiplication data in Figures 8.1 and 8.2 is complete in stems $x \leq 39$. In stems $40 \leq x \leq 60$, we only draw those multiplications which are necessary to apply part (3) of Theorem 7.3.8 to do computations up to * = 39.

Example 8.2.2. If x is the non-zero class in (t - s, s) = (15, 1) of $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{*,*}(Z)$, then $v_2x \neq 0$. Indeed, in degree (t - s, s) = (21, 2) (the target of v_2 -multiplication on x), $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{*,*}(A_2)$ is one dimensional over \mathbb{F}_2 . However, there are two possible contributions to $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{*,*}(A_2)$ in this degree from the long exact sequence (8.2.1). (See Figure 8.3 and its caption.) There is a class $\Sigma^7 y$ of $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{*,*}(\Sigma^7 Z)$, labeled $\bullet 1$ of Figure 8.3, where y is the class labeled $1 \bullet$ in degree (14, 2) of Figure 8.3. There is also a class z of $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{*,*}(Z)$, labeled $\bullet 6$ in Figure 8.3. Since $v_2y = 0$ for degree reasons, $\Sigma^7 y$ is in the kernel of the connecting homomorphism δ . Therefore, the non-zero element of $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{*,*}(A_2)$ corresponds to the class $\Sigma^7 y$. For degree reasons, $\delta(z) = 0$, and so there must be a class w of degree (22, 1) in $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{*,*}(\Sigma^7 Z)$ such that $\delta(w) = z$. The only possibility is the class labeled by $\bullet 4$ of Figure 8.3. The class x corresponds to 4• in Figure 8.3, and so $w = \Sigma^7 x$. It follows that $v_2x = z$.

8.3. The differentials in the algebraic AKSS. We turn to the computation of the algebraic AKSS. From Theorem 6.4.1, we have that

$$(8.3.1) H^{*,*,*}(\mathcal{C}_{alg}) \cong \mathbb{F}_2[v_2, h_{2,1}, h_{3,0}, h_{3,1}, h_{4,0}, h_{4,1}, \ldots].$$

We use the dichotomy principle to determine which classes of $\text{Ext}_A(Z)$ are good and which are evil. With (8.3.1) and the results of the previous section on v_2 multiplications, this is straightforward and result of this analysis is depicted in Figure 8.4.

Having determined which classes in $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{*,*}(Z)$ are detected by good and evil, we can now deduce $H^{*,*}(V)$ from the algebraic AKSS. We name the evil classes in the



FIGURE 8.1. $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{s,t}(Z)$ (left) and $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{s,t}(A_2)$ (right) drawn in Adams coordinates (x, y) = (t - s, s) in degrees $x \leq 32$. The dotted lines of slope (6, 1) denote v_2 -multiplication. The solid lines of slope (1, 1) denote h_1 (i.e. η) multiplications and those of slope (3, 1) denote h_2 (i.e. ν) multiplications. The gray line of slope 1/11 is the line of Proposition 7.3.7.



61

FIGURE 8.2. $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{s,t}(Z)$ (left) and $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{s,t}(A_{2})$ (right) drawn in Adams coordinates (x, y) = (t - s, s) in degrees $28 \leq x \leq 60$. In $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{s,t}(Z)$, not all v_{2} -multiplications are drawn in the shaded area, but we have included those needed for our computation. The gray line of slope 1/11 is the line of Proposition 7.3.7.



FIGURE 8.3. The connecting homomorphism $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{s,t}(\Sigma^{7}Z) \to \operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{s+1,t}(Z)$. The gray classes are elements of $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{s,t}(\Sigma^{7}Z)$, the black classes are elements of $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{s+1,t}(Z)$. The gray lines of slope (-1,1) give the connecting homomorphism, which in turn corresponds to v_{2} -multiplication. The gray line of slope 1/11 is the line of Proposition 7.3.7.



FIGURE 8.4. The left chart is the E_2 -term of the ASS for Z in stems $0 \le t - s \le 21$. Classes detected by good are denoted by \bullet and classes detected by evil by \circ . The right chart is the algebraic AKSS for Z, starting at the $E_{1+\epsilon}$ -page.

	1 : :	1 : :	1.1.1.1	k :	N li		1	<u> </u>				<u> </u>			-
		•			` •		40		and the second secon	•	6		$h_{30}h$		40
				•					a a caracteria		•		h_{31}		
					o						0	h_{20}^2	2-2		
		•		•	o			_		•		24	0		
	•		•		0		36	-	•		•	230	0		 36
				•				-				$\widetilde{h_{2}^{2}}$			 -
			•		0			_				0	0		-
				•				_				ne ne			 -
							22	_				<hr/>			5
								_							
_						-	-	_				0			
					0		-	_		•			0	740 240	-
														<u> </u>	 -
				•			28					•	o		28
				Q								0		<u> </u>	
													•10 •12		
				•								ø	h_{30}		
			•		•		24				•		er.		24
				•								•			
													202	ä	 -
					o			_				0	0		-
					0		20	-					0		20
					•		-	-							
							-	_							 -

FIGURE 8.5. The left chart is the E_2 -term of the ASS for Z in stems $19 \leq t - s \leq 40$. Classes detected by good are denoted by \bullet and classes detected by evil by \circ . The right chart is the algebraic AKSS for Z, starting at the $E_{1+\epsilon}$ -page.

n	color	
0	black	
1	blue	
2	red	
3	orange	
4	green	

TABLE 2. The tmf-filtration.

algebraic AKSS (Figure 8.4) by

 $(x, y: n)^{ev},$

where (x, y) = (t - (s + n), s + n) is the Adams coordinate and n is the tmffiltration. These classes are denoted by open circles in Figure 8.4. The good classes are denoted by solid circles. For example, the class in degree (x, y) = (7, 1) in $\operatorname{Ext}_A(Z)$ is detected by evil and denoted by $(7, 1: 1)^{ev}$ in the algebraic AKSS.

In stems $0 \le x \le 39$, the following evil classes exist for degree reasons. More precisely, these evil classes detect a class in $\operatorname{Ext}_A(Z)$ in a degree which contains no non-zero element of $H^*(\mathcal{C}_{alg})$:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} (7,1:1)^{ev} & (14,2:2)^{ev} & (27,3:3)^{ev} \\ (15,1:1)^{ev} & (18,2:2)^{ev} & (31,3:3)^{ev} \\ (31,1:1)^{ev} & (20,2:2)^{ev} \\ & (21,2:2)^{ev} \\ & (30,2:2)^{ev} \\ & (34,2:2)^{ev} \\ & (36,2:2)^{ev} \\ & (37,2:2)^{ev} \\ & (38,2:2)^{ev} \end{array}$$

The following evil classes exist because of the following differentials

$$\begin{aligned} d_{1+\epsilon}(\tilde{h}_{2,1}^2) &= (21,3:3)^{ev} \\ d_{1+\epsilon}(h_{3,0}^2) &= (25,3:3)^{ev} \\ d_{1+\epsilon}(h_{3,1}) &= (26,2:2)^{ev} \\ d_{1+\epsilon}(h_{4,0}) &= (28,2:2)^{ev} \\ d_{2+\epsilon}(v_2h_{3,1}) &= (32,3:3)^{ev} \\ d_{2+\epsilon}(v_2h_{4,0}) &= (34,3:3)^{ev} \\ d_{1+\epsilon}(\tilde{h}_{2,1}h_{3,1}) &= (37,3:3)^{ev} \\ d_{3+\epsilon}(v_2^2h_{4,0}) &= (40,4:4)^{ev}. \end{aligned}$$

Examples of how we deduce these differentials is given in Example 8.3.2.

Example 8.3.2. In degree (t - s, s) = (26, 2), $\text{Ext}_A(Z)$ is trivial. Therefore, $h_{3,0}^2$ cannot survive the spectral sequence so must support a differential. Since the class

in (25,3) of $\operatorname{Ext}_A(Z)$ is detected by a good class, the only good class in that bidegree $(v_2^2 h_{3,0})$ cannot be hit by a differential. So the target of the differential on $h_{3,0}^2$ must be evil, and we obtain the differential

$$d_{1+\epsilon}(h_{3,0}^2) = (25,3:3)^{ev}$$

The only non-trivial class in degree (38, 2) of $\operatorname{Ext}_A(Z)$ is detected by evil. Therefore $\tilde{h}_{2,1}h_{3,1}$ must support a non-trivial differential. A similar analysis as before gives the differential

$$d_{1+\epsilon}(h_{2,1}h_{3,1}) = (37,3:3)^{ev}.$$

Furthermore,

$$(8.3.3) \quad d_{1+\epsilon}(h_{3,0}h_{3,1}) = \alpha_1(39,3:3)^{ev} \quad \text{and} \quad d_{1+\epsilon}(h_{2,1}h_{4,0}) = \alpha_2(39,3:3)^{ev}$$

where at least one of the coefficients α_i is non-zero. Similarly, at least one of the following $d_{2+\epsilon}$ -differentials must occur

$$d_{3+\epsilon}(v_2^2 h_{3,1}) = (38, 4:4)^{ev}$$
 or $d_{1+\epsilon}(h_{3,0}^3) = (38, 4:4)^{ev}$

These ambiguities will be mostly settled in the next section.

8.4. The topological AKSS and the computation of the tmf-based ASS for Z. Now, we turn to our analysis of the spectral sequence

$$^{\mathrm{tmf}}E_1^{n,t} = \pi_t(\mathrm{tmf}^{\wedge n+1} \wedge Z) \Longrightarrow \pi_{t-n}(Z)$$

and low-dimensional computations of $\pi_* Z$. Our analysis of the algebraic AKSS has allowed us to identify $H^{*,*}(V)$, together with the boundary homomorphism

$$H^{*,*,*}(\mathcal{C}_{alg}) \xrightarrow{\partial_{alg}} H^{*,*}(V)$$

in the form of $d_{1+\epsilon}$ differentials in the algebraic AKSS. Theorem 6.4.3 gives the E_1 -term of the May-Ravenel SS

(8.4.1)
$${}^{MR}E_1(\widetilde{\sigma}(2)) \Rightarrow H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C})$$

It does not exclude the possibility of differentials, but there are no possibilities of differentials in the range of interest.

We record the following fundamental observations regarding the d_1 -differential in the tmf-ASS.

- An evil class cannot kill a good class via a d_1 -differential since $V^{*,*}(Z)$ is a subcomplex of ${}^{\text{tmf}}E_1^{*,*}(Z)$.
- The d_1 -differentials between evil classes are completely determined by those in the algebraic AKSS since $V^{*,*}(Z) \cong V^{*,0,*}_{alg}(Z)$.
- The d_1 -differentials from good classes to evil classes are determined by the differentials in the algebraic AKSS. This is Lemma 7.2.4.

In Figure 8.6, we draw ${}^{MR}E_1(\tilde{\sigma}(2))$ in the range $0 \le t - n \le 40$, together with the information about $H^{*,*}(V)$ and differentials obtained from the algebraic AKSS.

We use the map of spectral sequences from tmf-based ASS to the classical ASS to ascertain that, in the range $t - s \leq 39$, there are no additional differentials.

Proposition 8.4.2. There are no non-trivial differentials in the classical ASS for Z with source in stem $t - s \leq 39$.

Proof. In the computations of $\pi_* Z$ for $0 \le * \le 39$, the possible differentials have source in stems

$$t - s = 30, 31, 36, 37, 38, 40.$$

In stems t - s < 40, the potential sources for differentials are the image of evil classes which are permanent cycles in the tmf-based ASS. Indeed, for degree reasons, these classes are permanent cycles provided that they are d_1 -cycles. Since all d_1 -differentials on evil classes have been recorded in Figure 8.6 and all of the potential sources are d_1 -cycles, the claim follows.

Remark 8.4.3. There is a potential d_2 -differential in stem t-s = 40 in the classical ASS for Z. In fact, this problem is tied to the ambiguity in (8.3.3), as we will see in the proof of the next proposition, where we will establish that such a non-trivial d_2 differential must occur in the ASS for Z.

Proposition 8.4.4. The only non-trivial differential d_r for r > 1 in the tmf-based ASS with source in the range $t - n \le 40$ is

$$d_2(v_2h_{3,1}) = (32, 3:3)^{ev}.$$

Proof. Combining degree arguments with v_2 -linearity, the only two possibilities are

$$d_2(v_2h_{3,1}) = (32,3:3)^{ev},$$

$$d_3(v_2^2h_{3,1}) = (38,4:4)^{ev}.$$

By Proposition 8.4.2, the classical ASS for Z collapses in this range. Therefore, $\pi_{32}Z$ and $\pi_{33}Z$ have order 2. For this to be the case, we must have $d_2(v_2h_{3,1}) = (32,3:3)^{ev}$ in the tmf-based ASS. This settles the first possibility.

We turn now to the second possible differential $d_3(v_2^2h_{3,1})$. Recall from (8.3.3) that we were unable to determine the coefficient α_1 in

$$d_{1+\epsilon}(h_{3,0}h_{3,1}) = \alpha_1(39,3:3)^{ev}$$

It will turn out that these two ambiguities are interrelated, and through analyzing this relationship we will settle both.

Since $\tilde{h}_{2,1}h_{4,0}$ is not an element in $H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C})$, if $\alpha_1 = 0$ and

$$d_{1+\epsilon}(h_{3,0}h_{3,1}) = 0,$$

then it follows from the tmf-based ASS that we must have

$$d_3(v_2^2h_{3,1}) = (39,3:3)^{ev}$$

and $\pi_{39}Z$ has order 4. If, however, $\alpha_1 = 0$ and

$$d_{1+\epsilon}(h_{3,0}h_{3,1}) = (39, 3:3)^{ev}$$

then it follows from the tmf-based ASS that $\pi_{39}Z$ has order 2.

From the structure of the tmf-ASS we deduce that the map

$$v_2: \pi_{33}(Z) \xrightarrow{v_2} \pi_{39}(Z)$$

is zero. It is immediate from Figure 8.2 that the ASS for A_2 collapses in degree 39 to give

$$\pi_{39}(A_2) = \mathbb{Z}/2$$

It follows from the long exact sequence associated to the cofiber sequence

 $\Sigma^6 Z \xrightarrow{v_2} Z \to A_2$

that we must have

$$\pi_{39}(Z) = \mathbb{Z}/2.$$

We therefore conclude that $\alpha_1 = 1$, so

$$d_{1+\epsilon}(h_{3,0}h_{3,1}) = (39,3:3)^{e_1}$$

and

$$d_3(v_2^2 h_{3,1}) = 0.$$

It follows from Proposition 8.4.2 and Proposition 8.4.4 that Figure 8.6 is complete.

8.5. The E(2)-localization of Z. We end this section with one of the main goals of this paper, which is to determine the homotopy groups of $\pi_* Z_{E(2)}$.

Theorem 8.5.1. The Adams Novikov spectral sequence for $Z_{E(2)}$ collapses at the E_2 -term.

Proof. This spectral sequence is isomorphic $(E_2 \text{ onwards})$ to the v_2 -localized tmf-ASS

$$v_2^{-1 \operatorname{tmf}} E_1^{n,t}(Z) \Longrightarrow \pi_{t-n} Z_{E(2)}$$

Inverting v_2 in the short exact sequence

$$0 \to V^{*,*}(Z) \to {}^{\operatorname{tmf}}E_1^{*,*}(Z) \to \mathcal{C}^{*,*}(Z) \to 0$$

gives an isomorphism

$$v_2^{-1 \operatorname{tmf}} E_1^{*,*}(Z) \cong v_2^{-1} \mathcal{C}^{*,*}(Z),$$

and hence an isomorphism

(8.5.2)
$$v_2^{-1 \operatorname{tmf}} E_2(Z) \cong v_2^{-1} H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C}(Z)).$$

Consider the v_2 -localized May-Ravenel spectral sequence

$$v_2^{-1 MR} E_1(\widetilde{\sigma}(2)) \Rightarrow v_2^{-1} H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C}(Z)).$$

The E_1 -term is given by inverting v_2 in Theorem 6.4.3, and so is isomorphic to

(8.5.3)
$$\mathbb{F}_2[v_2^{\pm 1}] \otimes E[h_{3,0}, \widetilde{h}_{2,1}, h_{3,1}, \widetilde{h}_{4,1}]$$

Since the E_2 -term of ANSS for $Z_{E(2)}$ was computed in [BE20b] to be isomorphic to (8.5.3), we deduce from (8.5.2) that the v_2 -localized May-Ravenel spectral sequence must collapse at E_1 . The v_2 -localized tmf-ASS for Z is displayed in Figure 8.7. All differentials are v_2 -linear since $Z_{E(2)}$ has a v_2^1 -self map. Furthermore, there is a horizontal vanishing line at E_2 . Indeed, $E_2^{n,t} = 0$ for $n \ge 5$. The class labeled by 1 is the image of $\pi_0 S^0 \to \pi_0 Z_{E(2)}$ so is a permanent cycle. For degree reasons, the only possible non-trivial differentials are d_3 's with sources $v_2^k h_{31}$. However, since $d_3(v_2^2 h_{3,1})$ in the tmf-based ASS is zero, $v_2^2 h_{3,1}$ maps to a d_3 -cycle in $v_2^{-1} \operatorname{tmf} E_1^{n,t}$.



FIGURE 8.6. The topological AKSS computing $\pi_{t-n}(Z)$ drawn in grading (x, y) = (t - n, n), starting at the $E_{1+\epsilon}$ -page. Gray lines are differentials. They are dashed, if our method is inconclusive. Dotted lines are known v_2 -multiplications. Dashed line are known ν -multiplications. The gray line of slope 1/11 is the line of Proposition 7.3.7.

4					0						0						o		
		o		0		• •		0		o		• $v_2^{-6}\tilde{h}_2$ •	$h_{30}h_{31}$	o		o		• •	
2	•		•		•	and the second second	•	$v_2^{-4}\tilde{h}_{21}h$	30 [•] o	$v_2^{-4}\tilde{h}_{21}h$	31 • 0	and the second second	•v ₂ ⁻⁴ h ₃	₀ h ₃₁	•		•	and a second second	•
		•		•		·	$v_2^{-2}\tilde{h}$	21• OU	$^{10}\tilde{h}_{41}$	$\bullet v_2^{-2}$	h ₃₀	$\bullet v_2^{-2}$	h ₃₁	•		•		•	
0			•						•1						•				
	0		<i>c</i>				0		0		0		4		C		0		10

FIGURE 8.7. The E_{∞} -page of the Adams Novikov spectral sequence for $Z_{E(2)} = Z_{K(2)}$. The only possible non-trivial multiplication by 2 extensions are dotted. Classes denoted by \circ are multiples of $\zeta_2 \in \pi_{-1}S^0_{K(2)}$.

Next, we solve all but one exotic extension:

Theorem 8.5.4. For $k \not\equiv 3 \mod 6$, the groups $\pi_k Z_{E(2)}$ are annihilated by multiplication by 2.

Proof. The class detected by $\tilde{h}_{2,1}$ in $\pi_{11}Z$ and $h_{3,0}$ in $\pi_{13}Z$ have order 2 since there is no room in the tmf-based ASS for exotic extensions in these degrees. Therefore, their images in $\pi_*Z_{E(2)} = \pi_*Z_{K(2)}$ have order 2, and so do all their multiples. The class detected by $v_2^{-10}\tilde{h}_{4,1}$ is in the image of the bottom cell, $S_{K(2)}^0 \to Z_{K(2)}$. Indeed, it is the image of the element $\zeta_2 \in \pi_{-1}S_{K(2)}^0$ discussed in [DH04, Proposition 2.2.1].⁷ So, any multiple of $v_2^{-10}\tilde{h}_{4,1}$ has order 2.

Remark 8.5.5. In [BE20b], the authors study the Adams Novikov spectral sequence for $Z_{K(2)}$, where K(2) is the Morava K-theory whose formal group law is the Honda formal group law. Since the homotopy type of $Z_{K(2)}$ is independent of the choice of K(2), Theorem 8.5.1 and Theorem 8.5.4 settle Conjecture 1 of [BE20b] for our particular choice of $Z \in \tilde{Z}$, except for the group structure of $\pi_{3+6n}Z_{K(2)}$.

9. Discussion of the telescope conjecture for Z.

While the telescope conjecture was initially proposed by Ravenel [Rav84], Ravenel was also the first to propose that it should be false for chromatic levels ≥ 2 [Rav92b]. The method of disproof proposed in [Rav92b] (the *parameterized Adams spectral sequence*) turned out to not be sufficient to provide a counterexample to the telescope conjecture, but it laid out the blueprint for what could go wrong.

A more detailed account of this story is laid out by Mahowald-Ravenel-Shick [MRS01], who studied a family of Thom spectra y(n) (defined for all primes p and all $n \geq 1$) and some conjectures about their localized Adams spectral sequences, which, if true, would provide counterexamples to the telescope conjecture

⁷Our notation differs from [Rav77, (3.4) Theorem]. In this reference, our class $v_2^{-10}\tilde{h}_{4,1}$ is closely related to ρ_2 and Ravenel's ζ_2 is closely related to $v_2^{-2}\tilde{h}_{2,1}$.

71

for all primes p and all $n \ge 2$. These conjectures lay the groundwork for a concrete counter-conjecture for the homotopy of the telescopes proposed by Ravenel in [Rav95], which we shall call the *parabola conjecture*.

In this section we outline the analog of this conjectural story for Z, and explain how the structure of the tmf-ASS for Z described in this paper is consistent with the parabola conjecture. Specifically, let \hat{Z} denote the telescope of the v_2 -self map on Z. The telescope conjecture predicts that the map

is an equivalence. In Theorem 8.5.1, we have already verified (up to a potential additive extension) that

$$\pi_* Z_{E(2)} \cong \mathbb{F}_2[v_2^{\pm 1}] \otimes E[\widetilde{h}_{2,1}, h_{3,0}, h_{3,1}, \widetilde{h}_{4,1}].$$

The parabola conjecture predicts the structure of $\pi_* \hat{Z}$, and in particular predicts that the map (9.0.1) is neither injective nor surjective in homotopy.

9.1. The localized Adams spectral sequence for Z. Consider the localized Adams spectral sequence

(9.1.1)
$$v_2^{-1 \operatorname{ass}} E_2^{*,*}(Z) \Rightarrow \pi_* \widehat{Z}.$$

The E_2 -term of this spectral sequence was computed in Proposition 7.3.1:

$$v_2^{-1 ass} E_2^{*,*}(Z) \cong \mathbb{F}_2[v_2^{\pm}, \tilde{h}_{2,1}, h_{3,0}, h_{3,1}, h_{4,0}, h_{4,1}, \ldots].$$

The analog of Mahowald-Ravenel-Shick's *differentials conjecture* [MRS01, Conj. 3.16] is the following.

Conjecture 9.1.2. (Differentials Conjecture) In the localized Adams spectral sequence (9.1.1) we have

$$\begin{split} &d_2(h_{4,0}) = v_2 h_{2,1}^2, \\ &d_2(h_{i,0}) = v_2 h_{i-2,1}^2, \\ &d_4(h_{i,1}) = v_2 h_{i-1,0}^4. \end{split}$$

The idea is that the d_2 differentials in the above conjecture are lifted from the analogous differentials in the May-Ravenel spectral sequence (Theorem 6.2.3), and that the d_4 differentials arise from these through an extended power argument [Rav92b].

Note that Z is not a ring spectrum, as we have already seen in the topological AKSS, where $\tilde{h}_{2,1}$ is a permanent cycle but $\tilde{h}_{2,1}^2$ supports a non-trivial differential. However, assuming these are the only d_r differentials for $r \leq 4$, and that they satisfy the Leibniz rule, we would have

$$v_2^{-1 ass} E_5^{*,*}(Z) \cong \mathbb{F}_2[v_2^{\pm}] \otimes E[\widetilde{h}_{2,1}, h_{3,0}, h_{3,1}, x_3, x_4, x_5, \cdots]$$

where

$$x_i := h_{i,0}^2$$

In particular, we have $h_{3,0}^2 = x_3$ rather than $h_{3,0}^2 = 0$, but this is somewhat irrelevant given that Z is not a ring spectrum. Our choice to present $v_2^{-1} E_5$ in this manner leads to a more uniform discussion.

In the discussion after Conjecture 5.12 of [MRS01] (see also [Rav92b]), Mahowald-Ravenel-Shick predict the collapse of the localized ASS for y(n) at a finite stage. The analog of their conjecture in our context is the following.

Conjecture 9.1.3 (Parabola Conjecture). The localized ASS for Z collapses at E_5 , and therefore

$$\pi_*\widehat{Z} \cong \mathbb{F}_2[v_2^{\pm}] \otimes E[\widetilde{h}_{2,1}, h_{3,0}, h_{3,1}, x_3, x_4, x_5, \cdots].$$

Moreover, the telescope conjecture is false, and the kernel of (9.0.1) is the ideal

 $(x_3, x_4, \cdots) \subset \pi_* \widehat{Z}$

and the ideal

$$(\tilde{h}_{4,1}) \subset \pi_* Z_{E(2)}$$

maps isomorphically onto the cokernel of (9.0.1).

Remark 9.1.4. Note that the element $v_2^{-10}\tilde{h}_{4,1}$ is the image of the element $\zeta_2 \in \pi_{-1}S_{K(2)}$ (see the proof of Theorem 8.5.1), so the second part of the parabola conjecture predicts that ζ_2 is not in the image of the telescopic homotopy. Note that this was the basis of Ravenel's initial attempt to disprove the telescope conjecture [Rav92b].

We will now explain why we call Conjecture 9.1.3 the "parabola conjecture."

9.2. Unbounded v_2 -torsion in the tmf-ASS for Z. The key to Mahowald's proof of the telescope conjecture at chromatic level 1 was his *bounded torsion the*orem [Mah81], which states that the E_2 -page of the bo-ASS for the sphere decomposes into a direct sum of v_1 -periodic classes, and v_1^2 -torsion classes. We will explain how the analogous phenomenon likely fails in the context of the tmf-ASS for Z.

We have already seen (Theorem 6.4.3) that the May-Ravenel E_1 -page has unbounded v_2 -torsion. But we must run some more differentials in the tmf-ASS to relate this unbounded v_2 -torsion to the kernel of the map (9.0.1).

We will assume the following optimistic conjecture in order to simplify our discussion.

Conjecture 9.2.1 (Torsion Conjecture). The May-Ravenel spectral sequence collapses at E_1 with no hidden v_2 -extensions.

Then $H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C})$ has basis:

$$(\mathbf{I}') \quad v_2^m h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_3} \widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3} \widetilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_4},$$

$$m \ge 0; \ \epsilon_j, \bar{\epsilon}_j \in \{0,1\}$$

$$(\mathbf{I}'') \quad v_2^{<2^{i+1}} h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_3} x_i^{k_i+1} x_{i+1}^{k_{i+1}} x_{i+2}^{k_{i+2}} \cdots \widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3} \widetilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_4} h_{i+3,1}^{\epsilon_{i+3}} \cdots,$$
$$i \ge 3; \ k_j \ge 0; \ \epsilon_j, \bar{\epsilon}_j \in \{0, 1\},$$
(II) $h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}} h_{i+4,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_{i+4}} \cdots x_3^{k_3} x_4^{k_4} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_2} \cdots h_{i-1,1}^{\epsilon_{i-1}} h_{i,1}^{l_i+2} h_{i+1,1}^{l_{i+1}} \cdots,$
 $i \ge 2; \ k_j, l_j \ge 0; \ \epsilon_j, \bar{\epsilon}_j \in \{0, 1\}.$

The long exact sequence (3.3.2) implies that the unbounded v_2 -torsion in ${}^{\text{tmf}}E_2^{*,*}(Z)$ arises from the terms (I') and (I'') above. Since the terms (II) above, as well as $H^{*,*}(V)$ are v_2^1 -torsion, the elements of ${}^{\text{tmf}}E_2^{*,*}(Z)$ not mapping to terms of the form (I') or (I'') are at most v_2^2 -torsion.

The d_4 -differentials of the Differentials Conjecture 9.1.2 suggest the following analogous conjecture for the tmf-ASS.

Conjecture 9.2.2 (Differentials Conjecture, v2, part 1). In the tmf-ASS for Z there are differentials

$$\begin{aligned} &d_3(v_2^m h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_3} x_i^{k_i+1} x_{i+1}^{k_{i+1}} x_{i+2}^{\bar{\epsilon}_{i+2}} x_{i+3}^{\bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}} \cdots x_{l-1}^{k_{l-1}} x_l^{k_l} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3} \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_4} h_{l,1} h_{l+1,1}^{\epsilon_{l+1}} h_{l+2,1}^{\epsilon_{l+2}} \cdots) \\ &= v_2^{m+1} h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_3} x_i^{k_i+1} x_{i+1}^{k_{i+1}} x_{i+2}^{\bar{\epsilon}_{i+2}} x_{i+3}^{\bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}} \cdots x_{l-1}^{k_{l-1}+2} x_l^{k_l} \cdots \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3} \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_4} h_{l+1,1}^{\epsilon_{l+1}} h_{l+2,1}^{\epsilon_{l+2}} \cdots \\ &+ \cdots \end{aligned}$$

for $i \ge 3, l \ge i+3, m < 2^{i+1}-1, k_j \ge 0$, and $\epsilon_j, \bar{\epsilon}_j \in \{0, 1\}$.

After running these d_3 -differentials the only remaining classes in the tmf-ASS for Z are either v_2^2 -torsion, or of the form

(I')
$$v_2^m h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_3} h_{2,1}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3} h_{4,1}^{\epsilon_4}$$
,

$$m \ge 0; \ \epsilon_j, \bar{\epsilon}_j \in \{0, 1\},$$

$$(\mathbf{I}''') \quad v_2^{<2^{i+1}} \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_1} h_{3,0}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3} \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_4} x_i^{k_i+1} x_{i+1}^{k_{i+1}} x_{i+2}^{\bar{\epsilon}_{i+2}} x_{i+3}^{\bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}} \cdots,$$

$$i \ge 3; \ k_j \ge 0; \ \epsilon_j, \bar{\epsilon}_j \in \{0, 1\}.$$

9.3. **Parabolas.** In the tmf-ASS for Z, we have differentials (Theorem 6.2.3)

$$d_1(h_{i+2,1}) = v_2^{2^{i+1}} x_i$$

whereas in the Adams spectral sequence there are conjecturally differentials (Conjecture 9.1.2)

$$d_4(h_{i+2,1}) = v_2 x_{i+1}^2.$$

This suggests the following.

Conjecture 9.3.1 (Extension Conjecture). In the tmf-ASS there are hidden extensions

$$v_2^{2^{i+1}}x_i = v_2 x_{i+1}^2.$$



FIGURE 9.1. The v_2 -periodic family supported by x_3

This conjecture predicts that the v_2 -torsion families of type (I''') of Conjecture 9.2.2 in the tmf-ASS for Z actually assemble via an infinite sequence of hidden extensions to form v_2 -periodic families in $\pi_*(Z)$. Figure 9.1 shows one such v_2 -periodic family.

If we assign a mass to x_i via

$$M(x_i) := \frac{1}{2^{i-2}}$$

and, more generally for monomials

$$M(v_2^m x_3^{k_3} x_4^{k_4} \cdots) := k_3 M(x_3) + k_4 M(x_4) + \cdots$$

then one finds that all of the terms of the form

$$v_2^m x_i^{k_i+1} x_{i+1}^{k_{i+1}} x_{i+2}^{\bar{\epsilon}_{i+2}} x_{i+3}^{\bar{\epsilon}_{i+3}} \cdots$$

(for $i \ge 3$, $0 < m < 2^{i+1}$, $k_j \ge 0$, and $\bar{\epsilon}_j \in \{0, 1\}$) lie in the same v_2 -periodic family if and only if they have the same mass.

Each of these v_2 -periodic families begins with a term of the form

$$x_3^{k_3}x_4^{\bar{\epsilon}_4}x_5^{\bar{\epsilon}_5}\cdots$$

(with $k_3 \ge 0$ and $\bar{\epsilon}_j \in \{0, 1\}$) with corresponding mass

$$M = \frac{k_3}{2} + \frac{\bar{\epsilon}_4}{4} + \frac{\bar{\epsilon}_5}{8} + \cdots$$

Thus for each monomial

$$\tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_1} h_{3,0}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3} \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_4} \in E[\tilde{h}_{2,1}, h_{3,0}, h_{3,1}, \tilde{h}_{4,1}]$$

and each mass $M \in \mathbb{Z}[1/2]^{>0}$ there is a corresponding non-trivial monomial

$$x_3^{k_3} x_4^{\overline{\epsilon}_4} x_5^{\overline{\epsilon}_5} \cdots \in \mathbb{F}_2[x_3] \otimes E[x_4, x_5, x_6, \cdots]$$

such that

$$\tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_1} h_{3,0}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3} \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_4} x_3^{k_3} x_4^{\bar{\epsilon}_4} x_5^{\bar{\epsilon}_5} \cdots$$

supports a v_2 -family with mass M. For each of these v_2 -families, the elements

$$\tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_1} h_{3,0}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3} \tilde{h}_{4,1}^{\epsilon_4} v_2 x_i^{2^{i-2}M}$$

represent a cofinal collection of elements which lie in the family. The elements $v_2 x_i^{2^{i-2}M}$ lie on the (sideways) parabola

(9.3.2)
$$t - n = \frac{4}{M}n^2 - 3n + 6$$

in the (t - n, n)-plane. As such, we will refer to these v_2 -families as v_2 -parabolas.

74

9.4. The vanishing line. Theorem 6.4.3 and Proposition 7.3.6 imply the following.

Theorem 9.4.1. In the tmf-ASS for Z, we have ${}^{tmf}E_2^{n,t}(Z) = 0$ for

$$n > \frac{t-n+12}{11}.$$

Unfortunately, Conjecture 9.2.1 only predicts the bounded v_2 -torsion in this E_2 term is v_2^2 -torsion. This means that the v_2^2 -torsion could in principle assemble (via infinite sequences of hidden extensions) to detect non-trivial v_2 -periodic families in π_*Z which lie along curves with derivatives $\geq 1/12$ in the (t - n, n)-plane. Thus Theorem 9.4.1 is not strong enough to preclude the bounded v_2^2 -torsion contributing to the homotopy of \hat{Z} .

This 1/11 vanishing line essentially arises from the element $\tilde{h}_{2,1} \in H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C})$.⁸ However, the results of [AD73] imply that ${}^{ass}E_2^{*,*}(A_2)$ has a vanishing line of slope 1/13. Moreover, the element $h_{2,2}^4$ in the May spectral sequence (corresponding to $\tilde{h}_{2,1}^4 \in H^{*,*}(\mathcal{C}(Z))$) detects the element $g_2 \in {}^{ass}E_2(S)$. The element g_2 is not nilpotent [Isa14], but it detects the element $\bar{\kappa}_2 \in \pi_{44}(S)$ which necessarily is nilpotent by the Nishida nilpotence theorem. It seems likely this can be used to prove the following, which would imply that the bounded v_2^2 -torsion cannot contribute to the homotopy of \hat{Z} .

Conjecture 9.4.2 (Vanishing Line Conjecture). There is an r so that ${}^{\operatorname{tmf}}E_r^{n,t}(Z)$ has a 1/13 vanishing line.

9.5. The parabola conjecture. Assuming all of the conjectures so far are true, the homotopy of \hat{Z} can only be detected by the v_2 -periodic elements or the v_2 -parabolas in ${}^{\text{tmf}}E_4(Z)$. We therefore are left to consider the possibility of differentials between these families. The only possibilities are:

- (1) differentials between v_2 -periodic elements,
- (2) differentials from v_2 -periodic elements to v_2 -parabolas,
- (3) differentials from a v_2 -parabola of mass M to a v_2 -parabola of mass M' with M' > M.

Differentials of type (1) are ruled out by Theorem 8.5.1. Proposition 8.4.4 establishes that $\tilde{h}_{2,1}$, $h_{3,0}$, and $v_2^2 h_{3,1}$ are permanent cycles in the tmf-ASS. While Z is not a ring spectrum, one might nevertheless suspect that the v_2 -families

$$v_2^m h_{2,1}^{\epsilon_1} h_{3,0}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3}$$

cannot support differentials of type (2), and presumably this could be easily established be extending our low dimensional calculations a little further.

We therefore turn to considering differentials of type (2) involving the element $\tilde{h}_{4,1}$. Note that since $v_2^{-10}\tilde{h}_{4,1}$ detects $\zeta_2 \in \pi_{-1}Z_{E(2)}$, this is equivalent to the question of whether the element $\zeta_2 \in \pi_{-1}Z_{E(2)}$ lifts to $\pi_{-1}\hat{Z}$ (compare with Remark 9.1.4).

⁸If one replaces Z with the Thom spectrum y(2) of [MRS01], a similar analysis to Theorem 9.4.1 easily yields a vanishing line of slope 1/13.



FIGURE 9.2. The conjectural differentials on $v_2^m \tilde{h}_{4,1}$.

We first note that Conjecture 9.2.2 does not include the differential

$$d_4(h_{4,1}) = v_2 x_3^2$$

of Conjecture 9.1.2. We therefore offer this second installment to Conjecture 9.1.2 which does include this differential, and its consequences.

Conjecture 9.5.1 (Differentials conjecture, v2, part 2). In the tmf-ASS, for $m \gg 0$, the v_2 -families

$$v_2^m \tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_1} h_{3,0}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3} \tilde{h}_{4,1}$$

support differentials which hit the v_2 -parabolas supported by

$$\tilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_1} h_{3,0}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3} x_3^2$$

and the v_2 -parabolas supported by

$$\widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_1} h_{3,0}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3} \widetilde{h}_{4,1} x_3^{k_3} x_4^{\overline{\epsilon}_4} x_5^{\overline{\epsilon}_5} \cdots$$

support differentials which hit the v_2 -parabolas

 $\widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_1} h_{3,0}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3} x_3^{k_3+2} x_4^{\bar{\epsilon}_4} x_5^{\bar{\epsilon}_5} \cdots .$

Figure 9.2 shows an example of such a family of differentials. Note that the lengths of each of the families of differentials predicted by Conjecture 9.5.1 are unbounded. However, it could be that far enough out in the family, the differentials are all zero. This could occur, for instance, if another parabola supporting shorter differentials kills the v_2 -family which is the putative target. Such a phenomenon would be a means for ζ_2 to exist in $\pi_* \hat{Z}$ without violating Conjecture 9.5.1.

The following version of the parabola conjecture offers a maximally anti-telescope point of view, and is consistent with Conjecture 9.1.3.

Conjecture 9.5.2 (Parabola Conjecture, v2). The differentials of Conjecture 9.5.1 are non-trivial, and all of the remaining v_2 -parabolas have elements which are permanent cycles. Thus the v_2 -periodic homotopy of Z is generated by the v_2 -families

 $v_2^m h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_3} \widetilde{h}_{2,1}^{\epsilon_2} h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3}, \quad m \ge 0, \ \epsilon_j \in \{0,1\},$

and the v_2 -parabolas are supported by

$$h_{3,0}^{\bar{\epsilon}_3}h_{2,1}^{\epsilon_2}h_{3,1}^{\epsilon_3}x_3^{\bar{\epsilon}_3}x_4^{\bar{\epsilon}_4}\cdots, \quad \epsilon_j, \bar{\epsilon}_j \in \{0,1\}.$$

Remark 9.5.3. Recent work of Carmeli-Schlank-Yanovski [CSY21] gives some circumstantial evidence that it could be the case that $\zeta_2 \in \pi_* Z_{E(2)}$ lifts to an element of $\pi_* \widehat{Z}$. If this turns out to be true, then it flies in the face of the conventional

76

77

wisdom on the subject, but it does not seem to necessarily force the telescope conjecture to be true. Rather, it is totally possible that a weak form of the parabola conjecture is true, where the map

$$\pi_*\widehat{Z} \to \pi_*Z_{E(2)}$$

is surjective with non-trivial kernel generated by a portion of the v_2 -parabolas.

Appendix A. A(2) as a module over the Steenrod algebra

Here, we describe the A-module structure on A(2) resulting from [Rot77, p. 30, Chapter III] and present it as a definition file for Bruner's program [Bru93]. The definition file is a text file, where the first line is an integer n which records the dimension of the A-module as an \mathbb{F}_2 -vector space. We should then interpret that we are given an ordered basis g_0, \ldots, g_{n-1} . The second line of the text file is an ordered list of integers d_0, \ldots, d_{n-1} , where d_i is the internal degree of g_i . For A(2), the first two lines of Bruner's definition file reads as:

```
64
```

0 1 2 3 3 4 4 5 5 6 6 6 7 7 7 7 8 8 8 9 9 9 9 10 10 10 10 10 11 11 11 11 12 12 12 12 13 13 13 13 13 14 14 14 14 15 15 15 16 16 16 16 17 17 17 18 18 19 19 20 20 21 22 23

Every subsequent line in the text file describes a nontrivial action of some Sq^k on some generator g_i . For example, if

$$Sq^k(g_i) = g_{j_1} + \ldots + g_{j_l}$$

we would encode this fact by writing the line

$$i \ k \ l \ j_1 \ \dots \ j_l$$

followed by a line break. Actions which are not indicated by such data are assumed to be trivial.

$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

2 7 1 20

2 8 1 24

2 9 1 28 2 10 1 32 2 11 1 36 2 12 2 41 42 2 14 1 49	5 13 1 52 5 16 1 59 5 18 1 62 5 19 1 63
2 15 1 52 2 16 1 55 2 18 2 59 60 2 19 1 61	6 2 1 10 6 4 2 16 18 6 6 3 23 26 27 6 7 1 31
3 2 1 8 3 3 1 10 3 4 2 12 14	6 8 2 34 35 6 9 1 39 6 10 2 42 43 6 11 1 46
3 6 3 19 20 21 3 7 2 23 25 3 8 2 28 29 3 9 1 33 3 10 2 36 37	6 12 2 48 49 6 13 1 52 6 16 1 59 6 18 1 62 6 19 1 63
3 11 1 41 3 12 1 45 3 13 1 48 3 20 1 63	7 2 2 12 13 7 3 1 16 7 4 2 19 20
4 1 1 6 4 2 1 8 4 3 1 10	7 5 1 23 7 6 1 29 7 7 1 33 7 8 1 39
4 4 2 13 15 4 5 2 16 18 4 6 2 19 22 4 7 2 23 26	8 1 1 10 8 4 3 19 21 22 8 5 3 23 25 26
4 8 1 30 4 9 1 34 4 10 1 38 4 11 1 42 4 12 1 45	8 6 2 29 31 8 7 1 33 8 8 4 37 38 39 40 8 9 3 41 42 44 8 10 2 45 46 47
4 12 1 45 4 13 1 48 4 14 1 52 4 16 1 57 4 17 1 50	8 10 3 45 46 47 8 11 2 48 50 8 12 2 52 53 8 13 1 55 8 14 1 57
4 17 1 59 4 18 1 61 4 20 1 63	8 14 1 57 8 15 1 59 8 18 1 63
5 1 1 7 $5 2 2 9 10$ $5 3 1 12$ $5 4 1 17$ $5 5 1 20$ $5 6 2 23 25$ $5 8 2 34 35$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
5 9 1 39 5 10 2 42 43 5 11 1 46 5 12 2 48 49	9 9 1 46 10 4 3 23 25 26 10 6 2 33 35

	14 7 1 41	19 5 2 41 42
10 7 1 39	14 8 2 45 46	19 6 2 45 46
10 8 3 41 42 44	14 9 1 48	19 7 1 48
10 10 4 48 49 50 51	14 10 1 52	10 8 1 53
10 11 2 52 54	14 10 1 52	10 0 1 55
10 12 2 55 56	15 1 1 10	10 10 2 57 59
10 12 2 00 00		19 10 2 57 50
	15 2 1 22	19 11 1 59
10 14 2 35 00	15 3 1 26	19 12 1 61
	15 4 1 30	
10 16 1 62	15 5 1 34	20 2 1 29
10 17 1 63	15 6 1 38	20 3 1 33
	15 7 1 42	20 4 2 36 39
11 1 1 14	15 10 1 52	20 6 1 45
11 2 1 17	15 12 1 57	20 7 1 48
11 3 1 20	15 13 1 59	20 8 1 54
11 4 2 24 27	15 14 1 61	20 10 1 58
11 5 2 28 31		
11 6 2 32 35	16 2 1 23	21 1 1 25
11 7 2 36 39	16 4 2 33 34	21 2 1 29
11 8 2 42 43	16 6 2 42 43	21 3 1 33
11 9 1 46	16 7 1 46	21 4 2 37 40
11 10 1 48	16 8 2 49 50	21 5 2 41 44
11 12 1 55	16 9 1 52	21 6 2 45 47
11 14 2 59 60	16 10 1 56	21 7 2 48 50
11 15 1 61	16 11 1 58	21 8 2 52 53
11 16 1 62	10 11 1 00	21 0 2 02 00
11 17 1 63	17 1 1 20	$21 \ 9 \ 1 \ 05$
11 11 1 00	17 1 1 20	21 10 1 57
10 0 1 10		21 11 1 59
12 2 1 19	17 4 3 32 33 35	21 12 1 01
12 3 1 23	17 5 2 36 39	~ ~ ~ ~ ~
12 4 1 28	17 6 1 41	22 1 1 26
12 6 2 36 37	17 8 1 51	22 2 1 31
12 7 1 41	17 9 1 54	22 4 3 38 39 40
12 8 2 45 46	17 10 1 56	22 5 2 42 44
12 9 1 48	17 11 1 58	22 6 2 46 47
12 10 1 52	17 12 1 59	22 7 1 50
	17 14 1 62	22 8 1 53
13 1 1 16	17 15 1 63	22 9 1 55
13 2 1 19		22 10 1 57
13 3 1 23	18 2 2 26 27	22 11 1 59
13 4 2 29 30	18 3 1 31	22 12 1 61
13 5 2 33 34	18 4 2 34 35	
13 6 2 38 39	18 5 1 39	23 4 2 41 42
13 7 1 42	18 6 2 42 43	23 6 2 48 49
13 8 2 46 47	18 7 1 46	23 7 1 52
13 9 1 50	18 8 1 49	23 8 1 55
13 10 1 54	18 9 1 52	23 10 2 59 60
	18 12 1 59	23 11 1 61
14 2 2 20 21	18 14 1 62	23 12 1 62
14 3 1 25	18 15 1 63	23 13 1 63
14 4 3 28 29 31	10 10 1 00	20 10 1 00
14 5 1 33	10 1 1 22	0/ 1 1 00
1/ 6 3 36 27 20	10 4 0 27 20	24 I I 20
14 0 3 30 31 39	19 4 2 37 38	24 2 2 32 33

29 1 1 33

29 4 2 45 47 29 5 2 48 50 29 6 1 54 29 8 2 57 58 29 9 1 59 29 10 1 61 29 12 1 63	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
30 1 1 34 30 2 2 38 39 30 3 1 42 30 4 1 47 30 5 1 50 30 6 2 52 54 30 12 1 63	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
31 2 1 39 31 4 1 46 31 6 1 52 31 12 1 63	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
32 1 1 36 32 2 1 41 32 4 2 48 49 32 5 1 52 32 8 1 60 32 9 1 61 32 10 1 62	38 7 1 59 38 8 1 61 39 4 2 52 54 39 6 1 58 39 8 1 61 39 1 61 39 1 1 63
32 10 1 62 32 11 1 63 33 4 2 48 50 33 6 1 56 33 7 1 58 33 8 1 59 33 10 1 62 33 11 1 63	40 1 1 44 40 2 1 47 40 3 1 50 40 3 1 50 40 4 1 53 40 5 1 55 40 6 1 57 40 7 1 59
34 2 2 42 43 34 3 1 46 34 4 2 49 50 34 5 1 52 34 6 1 56 34 7 1 58	40 10 1 63 41 2 1 48 41 4 1 55 41 6 2 59 60 41 7 1 61 41 8 1 62 41 9 1 63
35 4 2 49 51 35 5 2 52 54 35 6 1 56 35 7 1 58 35 8 1 60 35 9 1 61 35 10 1 62 35 11 1 63	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

80

					48	4	1	59						
43	1	1	46		48	6	1	62		54	2	1	58	
43	2	1	49		48	7	1	63		54	4	1	61	
43	3	1	52							54	6	1	63	
43	4	1	56		49	1	1	52						
43	5	1	58		49	4	1	60		55	2	2	59	60
					49	5	1	61		55	3	1	61	
44	2	2	50	51	49	6	1	62		55	4	1	62	
44	3	1	54		49	7	1	63		55	5	1	63	
44	4	2	55	56										
44	5	1	58		50	2	1	56		56	1	1	58	
44	6	2	59	60	50	3	1	58		56	4	1	62	
44	7	1	61		50	4	1	59		56	5	1	63	
44	8	1	62		50	6	1	62						
44	9	1	63		50	7	1	63		57	1	1	59	
										57	2	1	61	
45	1	1	48		51	1	1	54		57	4	1	63	
45	4	1	57		51	2	1	56						
45	5	1	59		51	3	1	58		58	4	1	63	
45	6	1	61		51	4	1	60						
45	8	1	63		51	5	1	61		59	2	1	62	
					51	6	1	62		59	3	1	63	
46	2	1	52		51	7	1	63						
46	4	1	58							60	1	1	61	
					52	4	1	61		60	2	1	62	
47	1	1	50		52	6	1	63		60	3	1	63	
47	2	1	54											
47	4	2	57	58	53	1	1	55		61	2	1	63	
47	5	1	59		53	2	2	57	58		_			
47	6	1	61		53	3	1	59		62	1	1	63	
					53	6	1	63		52	-	-		

References

- [AD73] Donald W. Anderson and Donald M. Davis, A vanishing theorem in homological algebra, Comment. Math. Helv. 48 (1973), 318–327. MR 334207
- [Ada95] J. F. Adams, Stable homotopy and generalised homology, Chicago Lectures in Mathematics, University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL, 1995, Reprint of the 1974 original. MR 1324104
- [BB20] Tobias Barthel and Agnès Beaudry, Chromatic strutures in stable homotopy theory, CRC Press/Chapman and Hall Handbooks in Mathematics Series, ch. 5, pp. 163–220, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 2020.
- [BBB⁺20] A. Beaudry, M. Behrens, P. Bhattacharya, D. Culver, and Z. Xu, On the E₂-term of the bo-Adams spectral sequence, J. Topol. 13 (2020), no. 1, 356–415. MR 4138742
- [BBGS18] Tobias Barthel, Agnès Beaudry, Paul G. Goerss, and Vesna Stojanoska, Constructing the determinant sphere using a Tate twist, arXiv e-prints (2018), arXiv:1810.06651.
- [BE20b] _____, Towards the K(2)-local homotopy groups of Z, Algebr. Geom. Topol. 20 (2020), no. 3, 1235–1277. MR 4105552
- [Bea15] Agnès Beaudry, The algebraic duality resolution at p = 2, Algebr. Geom. Topol. 15 (2015), no. 6, 3653–3705. MR 3450774
- [Bea17] _____, Towards the homotopy of the K(2)-local Moore spectrum at p = 2, Adv. Math. **306** (2017), 722–788. MR 3581316

- [Beh07] Mark Behrens, Buildings, elliptic curves, and the K(2)-local sphere, Amer. J. Math. 129 (2007), no. 6, 1513–1563. MR 2369888
- [Beh12] _____, The homotopy groups of $S_{E(2)}$ at $p \ge 5$ revisited, Adv. Math. **230** (2012), no. 2, 458–492. MR 2914955
- [Beh20] _____, Topological modular and automorphic forms, CRC Press/Chapman and Hall Handbooks in Mathematics Series, ch. 6, pp. 221–262, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 2020.
- [BG18] Irina Bobkova and Paul G. Goerss, Topological resolutions in K(2)-local homotopy theory at the prime 2, J. Topol. 11 (2018), no. 4, 918–957. MR 3989433
- [Bru93] Robert R. Bruner, Ext in the nineties, Algebraic topology (Oaxtepec, 1991), Contemp. Math., vol. 146, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1993, pp. 71–90. MR 1224908 (94a:55011)
- [CSY21] Shachar Carmeli, Tomer M. Schlank, and Lior Yanovski, Chromatic cyclotomic extensions, arXiv:2103.02471, 2021.
- [Deu41] Max Deuring, Die Typen der Multiplikatorenringe elliptischer Funktionenkörper, Abh. Math. Sem. Hansischen Univ. 14 (1941), 197–272. MR 0005125
- [DFHH14] Christopher L. Douglas, John Francis, André G. Henriques, and Michael A. Hill (eds.), Topological modular forms, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 201, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2014. MR 3223024
- [DH04] Ethan S. Devinatz and Michael J. Hopkins, Homotopy fixed point spectra for closed subgroups of the Morava stabilizer groups, Topology 43 (2004), no. 1, 1–47. MR 2030586 (2004i:55012)
- [GHMR05] P. Goerss, H.-W. Henn, M. Mahowald, and C. Rezk, A resolution of the K(2)-local sphere at the prime 3, Ann. of Math. (2) 162 (2005), no. 2, 777–822. MR 2183282
- [Hen18] Hans-Werner Henn, The centralizer resolution of the K(2)-local sphere at the prime 2, working paper or preprint, January 2018.
- [HHR16] M. A. Hill, M. J. Hopkins, and D. C. Ravenel, On the nonexistence of elements of Kervaire invariant one, Ann. of Math. (2) 184 (2016), no. 1, 1–262. MR 3505179
- [HL16] Michael Hill and Tyler Lawson, Topological modular forms with level structure, Invent. Math. 203 (2016), no. 2, 359–416. MR 3455154
- [HR92] Michael J. Hopkins and Douglas C. Ravenel, Suspension spectra are harmonic, vol. 37, 1992, Papers in honor of José Adem (Spanish), pp. 271–279. MR 1317578
- [HS98] Michael J. Hopkins and Jeffrey H. Smith, Nilpotence and stable homotopy theory. II, Ann. of Math. (2) 148 (1998), no. 1, 1–49. MR 1652975
- [HS99] Mark Hovey and Neil P. Strickland, Morava K-theories and localisation, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 139 (1999), no. 666, viii+100. MR 1601906
- [Hu99] Po Hu, Transfinite spectral sequences, Homotopy invariant algebraic structures (Baltimore, MD, 1998), Contemp. Math., vol. 239, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1999, pp. 197–216. MR 1718081
- [Isa14] D. C. Isaksen, *Stable stems*, ArXiv e-prints (2014).
- [IWX20] Daniel C. Isaksen, Guozhen Wang, and Zhouli Xu, Stable homotopy groups of spheres, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 117 (2020), no. 40, 24757–24763.
- [Kuh04] Nicholas J. Kuhn, Tate cohomology and periodic localization of polynomial functors, Invent. Math. 157 (2004), no. 2, 345–370. MR 2076926
- [Lel82] Wolfgang Lellmann, Connected Morava K-theories, Math. Z. 179 (1982), no. 3, 387– 399. MR 649042
- [LN12] Tyler Lawson and Niko Naumann, Commutativity conditions for truncated Brown-Peterson spectra of height 2, J. Topol. 5 (2012), no. 1, 137–168. MR 2897051
- [Mah81] Mark Mahowald, bo-resolutions, Pacific J. Math. 92 (1981), no. 2, 365–383. MR 618072 (82m:55017)
- [Mah82] _____, The image of J in the EHP sequence, Ann. of Math. (2) **116** (1982), no. 1, 65–112. MR 662118
- [Mar83] Harvey R. Margolis, Spectra and the Steenrod algebra, North-Holland Mathematical Library, North-Holland, 1983.
- [Mat16] Akhil Mathew, *The homology of tmf*, Homology Homotopy Appl. **18** (2016), no. 2, 1–29. MR 3515195
- [May66] J. P. May, The cohomology of restricted Lie algebras and of Hopf algebras, J. Algebra 3 (1966), 123–146. MR 0193126 (33 #1347)

82

- [Mil81] Haynes R. Miller, On relations between Adams spectral sequences, with an application to the stable homotopy of a Moore space, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 20 (1981), no. 3, 287– 312.
- [Mor85] Jack Morava, Noetherian localisations of categories of cobordism comodules, Ann. of Math. (2) 121 (1985), no. 1, 1–39. MR 782555
- [MRS01] Mark Mahowald, Douglas Ravenel, and Paul Shick, The triple loop space approach to the telescope conjecture, Homotopy methods in algebraic topology (Boulder, CO, 1999), Contemp. Math., vol. 271, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2001, pp. 217– 284. MR 1831355
- [Rav77] Douglas C. Ravenel, The cohomology of the Morava stabilizer algebras, Math. Z. 152 (1977), no. 3, 287–297. MR 0431168
- [Rav84] _____, Localization with respect to certain periodic homology theories, Amer. J. Math. 106 (1984), no. 2, 351–414. MR 737778
- [Rav86] _____, Complex cobordism and stable homotopy groups of spheres, Pure and Applied Mathematics, vol. 121, Academic Press, Inc., Orlando, FL, 1986. MR 860042
- [Rav92a] _____, Nilpotence and periodicity in stable homotopy theory, Annals of Mathematics Studies, vol. 128, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1992, Appendix C by Jeff Smith. MR 1192553
- [Rav92b] _____, Progress report on the telescope conjecture, Adams Memorial Symposium on Algebraic Topology, 2 (Manchester, 1990), London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., vol. 176, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1992, pp. 1–21. MR 1232195
- [Rav95] _____, Some variations on the telescope conjecture, The Čech centennial (Boston, MA, 1993), Contemp. Math., vol. 181, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1995, pp. 391–403. MR 1321003
- [Rot77] Marylin J. Roth, The cyclic module structures of the Hopf subalgebra A₂ over the Steenrod algebra and their geometric realizations, 1977, Thesis (Ph.D.)–Johns Hopkins University.
- [Sil09] Joseph H. Silverman, The arithmetic of elliptic curves, second ed., Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 106, Springer, Dordrecht, 2009. MR 2514094
- [Str99] N. P. Strickland, Products on MU-modules, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 351 (1999), no. 7, 2569–2606. MR 1641115

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO AT BOULDER

Email address: agnes.beaudry@colorado.edu

UNIVERSITY OF NOTRE DAME

Email address: mbehren1@nd.edu

UNIVERSITY OF NOTRE DAME

 $Email \ address: \ {\tt pbhattacQnd.edu}$

MAX PLANK INSTITUTE FOR MATHEMATICS

Email address: dculver@mpim-bonn.mpg.de

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, SAN DIEGO

Email address: xuzhouli@ucsd.edu